
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Planning and Transportation Committee 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 17 NOVEMBER 2015 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: LIVERY HALL - GUILDHALL  

  

Members: Michael Welbank (Chairman) 
Marianne Fredericks (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
Alex Bain-Stewart 
David Bradshaw 
Dennis Cotgrove 
Revd Dr Martin Dudley 
Peter Dunphy 
Emma Edhem 
Alderman Peter Estlin 
Sophie Anne Fernandes 
Deputy Bill Fraser 
George Gillon 
Alderman Timothy Hailes 
Graeme Harrower 
Deputy Brian Harris 
Christopher Hayward 
 

Gregory Jones QC 
Deputy Henry Jones 
Oliver Lodge 
Alderman Professor Michael Mainelli 
Paul Martinelli 
Brian Mooney 
Deputy Alastair Moss 
Sylvia Moys 
Graham Packham 
Judith Pleasance 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Alderman William Russell 
James de Sausmarez 
Tom Sleigh 
Graeme Smith 
Angela Starling 
Patrick Streeter 
Deputy James Thomson 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: Katie Odling 

tel. no.: 020 7332 3414 
katie.odling@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Lunch will be served in Guildhall Club at 1pm.  

 
N.B: Part of this meeting could be subject to audio or visual recording. 

 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the meeting held on 27 October 2015. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
4. TOWN PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director relative to 

development and advertisement applications dealt with under delegated authority. 
 

 For Information 
 (Pages 5 - 18) 

 
5. VALID APPLICATIONS LIST FOR COMMITTEE 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 19 - 20) 

 
6. SUGAR QUAY, LOWER THAMES STREET LONDON EC3R 6EA 
 Report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 21 - 30) 

 
7. REPORTS RELATIVE TO PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 
 a) BT Payphones, Outside 4 St Paul's Churchyard London 

EC4M 8AY   
 For Decision 

(Pages 31 - 52) 
 

 b) Pay Phone Boxes 4 St Paul's Churchyard London EC4M 8AY   
 

 For Decision 
(Pages 53 - 58) 

 
 c) 22 Bishopsgate London EC2N   

 

 For Decision 
(Pages 59 - 264) 

 



 

3 
 

8. PATERNOSTER SQUARE:  DECLARATION OF CITY WALKWAY 
 Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 265 - 272) 

 
9. ANNUAL ON-STREET PARKING ACCOUNTS 2014/15 AND UTILISATION OF 

ACCRUED SURPLUS ON HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENTS AND SCHEMES 
 Report of the Chamberlain. 
 For Information 
 (Pages 273 - 276) 

 
10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

  
Part 2 - Non-public Agenda 

 
13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 27 October 2015. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 277 - 278) 

 
14. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 
15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 
Any drawings and details of materials submitted for approval will be available for 

inspection by Members in the Livery Hall from Approximately 9:30 a.m. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 27 October 2015  
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Transportation Committee held at the 
Guildhall EC2 at 10.30 am. 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Michael Welbank (Chairman) 
Marianne Fredericks (Deputy Chairman) 
Randall Anderson 
David Bradshaw 
Revd Dr Martin Dudley 
Peter Dunphy 
Emma Edhem 
Alderman Peter Estlin 
Deputy Bill Fraser 
George Gillon 
Alderman Timothy Hailes 
Graeme Harrower 
 

Deputy Brian Harris 
Christopher Hayward 
Paul Martinelli 
Sylvia Moys 
Graham Packham 
Judith Pleasance 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
Alderman William Russell 
James de Sausmarez 
Angela Starling 
Patrick Streeter 
 

 
Officers: 
Simon Murrells - Assistant Town Clerk 

Katie Odling - Town Clerk's Department 

Deborah Cluett - Comptroller and City Solicitor's Department 

Carolyn Dwyer - Director of Built Environment 

Annie Hampson - Department of the Built Environment 

Paul Beckett - Department of the Built Environment 

Paul Monaghan - Department of the Built Environment 

Iain Simmons - Department of the Built Environment 

Alison Hurley - City Surveyor’s Department 

Steve Blake - Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 

Alan Rickwood - City Police 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies for absence were received from Alex Bain-Stewart, Sophie Anne 
Fernandes, Gregory Jones, Deputy Henry Jones, Alderman Professor Michael 
Mainelli, Brian Mooney, Deputy Alistair Moss, Tom Sleigh, Graeme Smith and Deputy 
James Thomson. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
Paul Martinelli declared a non-pecuniary interest in respect of item 4 (Poultry Market) 
as Managing Director of London Central Markets Smithfield.  
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3. MINUTES  
 
3.1 RESOLVED - That the public minutes and summary of the meeting held 

on 8 September 2015 be approved.  
 
3.2 RESOLVED - that the Minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub 

Committee meeting held on 21 September 2015 be received.  
 

4. TOWN PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director in respect of the development and advertisement applications dealt with under 
delegated authority. 
 

5. VALID APPLICATIONS LIST FOR COMMITTEE  
The Committee received a report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director which provided details of valid planning applications received by the 
department since the last meeting. 
 

6. WHITEFRIARS & CHANCERY LANE CONSERVATION AREA CHARACTER 
SUMMARIES AND MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES - DRAFT SUPPLEMENTARY 
PLANNING DOCUMENTS  
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Planning Officer and Development 
Director which sought approval to publish the Whitefriars and Chancery Lane 
Conservation Area and Character Summaries and Management Strategies for public 
consultation as part of the process of adoption as Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs). 
 
RESOLVED – That the draft texts of the Whitefriars and Chancery Lane Conservation 
Area Character Summaries and Management Strategies SPDs, appended as 
Appendices A and B to the report, be approved for public consultation until January 
2016. 
 

7. CITY OF LONDON LOCAL PLAN REVIEW  
The Committee considered a report of the Director of the Built Environment which 
recommended that a full review of the Local Plan be carried out and sought approval 
for work on the review to commence.   
 
The principle of a review of the Local Plan was supported by Members, however, a two 
stage approach was preferred that would see a further report to the Committee on the 
budget, issues and options. 
 
During the discussion, a number of points were raised around safety and security, Ring 
of Steel, resourcing and budgets, light pollution and the review of strategic policy CS7 
(Eastern Cluster).  
 
RESOLVED – That, 

a) a review of the Local Plan be supported in principle and a further report be 
submitted to the Committee which provided details of the budget, issues and 
clear options; and 

b) a meeting of the Local Plans Sub-Committee be scheduled on an appropriate 
date and the two vacancies on this Sub-Committee be advertised at the 
December Committee meeting. 

 
 

Page 2



8. 20MPH OUTCOME REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Director of the Built Environment which 
summarised the activities and outcome of the 20mph speed limit scheme which 
commenced on 20 July 2014. 
 
The Chairman reported that a high percentage of the pedestrian casualties in the City 
were caused by inattention and it was noted that this issue would be considered in 
future road danger reduction planning.  Although Members considered that more signs 
might be useful, the right balance needed to be struck between the number of signs for 
enforcement and their impact on visual amenity. 
 
Members agreed that the key measure of the success of this scheme was the 
reduction in serious casualties. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

9. AIR QUALITY - RESPONSE FROM THE PORT HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES COMMITTEE  
The Committee received a response from the Port Health and Environmental Services 
Committee regarding the City of London Air Quality Strategy 2015 – 2020. 
 
The Committee were issued with an updated report which provided a more detailed 
response. 
 

 One Member suggested a solution might be to ban through traffic through the 
City during the day; 

 The significance of tackling air quality was acknowledged and a suggestion 
was made to include the matter as a high priority corporate risk for the 
Corporation; it was confirmed at Committee that this is already the case; 

 Technology was fast developing and more and more vehicles were now 
electric; 

 It was suggested to lobby parliament for changes to the enforcement legislation 
around idling engines. Members noted that at present the legislation was such 
that drivers who leave their engines idling must first be asked to turn off their 
engine before enforcement action could be considered.  Therefore, the 
programme to persuade and educate drivers to turn off their engines, if idling, 
was the best use of City resources with the present legal framework. 

 
RESOLVED – that the response from the Port Health and Environmental Services 
Committee be noted. 
 

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE  
A question was raised regarding the telephone masts between Cloth Fair and Long 
Lane and whether they had permission, who was consulted, and if permission had not 
been granted what steps were being taken to deal with them. 
 
The Chief Planning Officer and Development Director informed the Committee that 
Redgrove Consultants Ltd. by letter dated 3rd September 2015 informed the City of an 
intention to commence emergency works to install a Cell Phone Base Station at the 
above location. The equipment was required as an emergency installation for a 
maximum period of 6 months to cover the loss of a nearby site at St. Bartholomew’s 
Hospital. 
 

Page 3



Planning permission was not required in this particular case as the works benefit from 
permitted development rights granted by the Secretary of State under Part 16, Class 
A(b) of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) 
Order 2015.  
The submitted “Emergency Notice” was a notification and not an application. The Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) had no power to make a decision [or take action] in such a 
case. 
 
Officers would be monitoring the site to ensure that the equipment was removed after 
the six month period. 
 

11. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 
 

13. MINUTES  
RESOLVED – That the non-public minutes of the Streets and Walkways Sub 
Committee meeting held on 21 September 2015 be received. 
 

14. TOWER BRIDGE BASCULE RE-DECKING & APPROACH VIADUCT 
WATERPROOFING - ISSUE REPORT  
The Committee considered and approved a report of the Director of the Built 
Environment regarding works on Tower Bridge. 
 

15. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no items of urgent business. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 11.40 am 
 
 
 

 
Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Katie Odling 
tel. no.: 020 7332 3414 
katie.odling@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 4



 

Committee: Date:  

Planning and Transportation 17th November 2015  

Subject: 

Delegated decisions of the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director 

Public 

 
1.  Pursuant to the instructions of your Committee, I attach for your 

information a list detailing development and advertisement applications 
determined by the Chief Planning Officer and Development Director or 
those so authorised under their delegated powers since my report to 
the last meeting. 

2. Any questions of detail arising from these reports can be sent to 
plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

 
DETAILS OF DECISIONS 
 

Registered 
Plan Number & 
Ward 

Address Proposal Decision & 
Date of 
Decision 
 

15/00406/FULL 
 
Aldersgate  

Ferroner's House 
Ironmongers' Hall 
Shaftesbury Place 
London 
EC2Y 8AA 

Two storey extension to the 
existing office building at 
Ferroner's House. 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00867/FULL 
 
Aldgate  

Landmark House 
69 Leadenhall 
Street & 94 - 95 
Fenchurch Street 
London 
EC3A 2DB 
 

Application under S73 of the 
Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended) to 
allow variation of condition 4 
of planning permission Ref. 
14/01189/FULL dated 19th 
February 2015 to enable 
minor amendment to the 
approved scheme for the 
change of use of part of the 
ground floor and lower ground 
floor from offices (Class B1) 
and retail (Class A1) to a 
restaurant (Class A3) 
(426sq.m) (ii) associated 
alterations to Leadenhall 
Street and Fenchurch Street 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

mailto:plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

elevations. 

15/00939/FULL 
 
Aldgate  

30 St Mary Axe 
London 
EC3A 8BF 
 
 

Change of use of part ground 
floor from ancillary offices 
(Class B1) to a flexible use for 
either retail (Class A1) use or 
ancillary office (Class B1) use 
(2.3sq.m GEA) 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00943/MDC 
 
Aldgate  

Mitre Square, 
International 
House, Duke's 
Place, 11 Mitre 
Street & 1 Mitre 
Square London 
EC3 
 
 

Details relating to ventilation 
and air-conditioning for the 
retail uses pursuant to 
condition 8(k) of planning 
permission dated 9th June 
2014 app ref: 
13/01082/FULMAJ 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00829/ADVT 
 
Aldgate  

106 Fenchurch 
Street London 
EC3M 5JE 
 
 

Installation and display of: (i) 1 
no. internally illuminated (logo 
only) projecting sign 
measuring 0.4 metres high by 
0.72 metres wide displayed at 
a height of 3.72 metres and (ii) 
1 no. internally illuminated 
(lettering and logo only) fascia 
sign measuring 0.96 metres 
high by 3.2 metres wide 
displayed at a height of 3.3 
metres. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00891/FULL 
 
Aldgate  

Bankside House 
107 - 112 
Leadenhall Street 
London 
EC3A 4AF 
 

Change of use from office 
(B1) to a restaurant / drinking 
establishment / crazy-golf (sui-
generis) use at part ground 
floor level and part basement 
and installation of a 
mezzanine floor within the 
basement and associated 
external works to ground floor 
and roof plant. Provision of an 
extract flue within the lightwell. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00674/MDC 
 
Billingsgate  

20 St Dunstan's Hill 
London 
EC3R 8HL 
 
 

Submission of details 
(materials) in accordance with 
conditions 2(a) and 2(b) 
pursuant to application 
15/00049/FULL dated 9th 
April 2015. 
 
 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

Page 6



 

15/00723/ADVT 
 
Billingsgate  

Sugar Quay Lower 
Thames Street 
London 
EC3R 6EA 
 

Installation and display of 
externally illuminated hoarding 
advertisements measuring i) 
2.44m high x 8.44m wide, ii) 
2.44m wide x 78.08m wide, iii) 
2.44m high x 78.08m wide, iv) 
2.44m high x 6.0m wide,  v) 
2.44m wide x 14.64m wide, vi) 
2.44m wide x 1.22m wide, vii) 
2.44m wide x 7.32m wide, viii) 
2.44m high x 1.22m wide, ix) 
2.44m wide x 3.66m wide, x) 
2.44m high x 12.2m wide. 
 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00859/MDC 
 
Billingsgate  

Sugar Quay Lower 
Thames Street 
London 
EC3R 6EA 
 

Details of a programme of 
archaeological work: Gantt 
chart pursuant to condition 12 
(in part) of planning 
permission dated 16th 
September 2013 (application 
no. 12/01104/FULMAJ). 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00894/MDC 
 
Billingsgate  

21 Lovat Lane 
London 
EC3R 8EB 
 
 

Submission of an acoustic 
report pursuant to condition 5 
of planning permission 
reference 15/00185/FULL 
dated 1st May 2015. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00918/FULL 
 
Bishopsgate  

Exchange Square 
Broadgate 
London 
EC2A 2BQ 
 

Use of Exchange Square for a 
temporary ice rink with 
ancillary facilities. 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00963/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

7 Bishopsgate 
Churchyard London 
EC2M 3TJ 
 
 

Details of new doors and 
windows pursuant to condition 
2 (a) of planning permission 
dated 25.08.15 
(15/00709/FULL) and listed 
building consent 
15/00710/LBC dated 25th 
August 2015. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00997/LDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

7 Bishopsgate 
Churchyard London 
EC2M 3TJ 
 
 

Details and samples of 
decorative wall tiles pursuant 
to condition 2(B) of Listed 
Building Consent 
15/00710/LBC dated 25th 
August 2015. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00689/FULL 180 Bishopsgate (i) Change of use of first floor Approved 

Page 7



 

 
Bishopsgate  

London 
EC2M 4NQ 
 
 

from Class A1 (shop) use to 
Class A3 use (56 Sq.m) (ii) 
Change of use of second, 
third and fourth floors from 
Class B1 (office) use to Class 
A3 use (168 Sq.m) (iii) 
Installation of a replacement 
shopfront and 1st floor 
window. 
 

 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00955/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

4 & 5 Devonshire 
Square London 
EC2M 4YD 
 
 

Details of fume extract 
arrangements pursuant to 
condition 10 of planning 
permission 14/00849/FULL 
dated 15/12/2014. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00905/MDC 
 
Bishopsgate  

Bunge House 15 
Artillery Lane 
London 
E1 7LP 
 

Details of the fume extract 
arrangements pursuant to 
conditions 5 of planning 
permission (application no. 
14/00292/FULL) dated 19th 
June 2014. 
 

Approved 
 
30.10.2015 
 

15/00604/PODC 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

33 King William 
Street London 
EC4R 9AS 
 
 

Submission of the local 
training skills and job 
brokerage strategy pursuant 
to paragraph 3.2 of schedule 3 
of the section 106 agreement 
dated 17 January 2013 and 
associated planning 
permission 
11/00933/FULMAJ. 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00924/FULL 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

23-29 Eastcheap 
London 
EC3M 1DE 
 
 

Removal of the existing roof 
extensions and additions and 
their replacement with a 
mansard roof extension. 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00925/LBC 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

23-29 Eastcheap 
London 
EC3M 1DE 
 
 

Removal of the existing roof 
extensions and additions and 
their replacement with a 
mansard roof extension 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00926/FULL 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

23-29  Eastcheap 
London 
EC3M 1DE 
 
 

Removal of the secondary 
glazing and refurbishment of 
the existing windows at 
Nos.23 to 25. Removal and 
replacement of the windows at 
Nos.27 to 29. 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00927/LBC 23-29 Eastcheap Removal and replacement of Approved 

Page 8



 

 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

London 
EC3M 1DE 
 
 

the secondary glazing and 
refurbishment of the existing 
windows at Nos.23 to 25. 

 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00949/MDC 
 
Bridge And 
Bridge Without  

9-10 Philpot Lane 
London 
EC3M 8AA 
 
 

Details of upper level plant 
and plant screening and 
kitchen extract arrangements 
to avoid noise penetration to 
the upper floors from the 
Class A use pursuant 
conditions 4 (g) and 6 of 
planning permission 
(application no. 
15/00342/FULL) dated 2nd 
July 2015. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00841/MDC 
 
Broad Street  

Drapers' Hall 
Throgmorton 
Avenue 
London 
EC2N 2DQ 
 

Yorkstone paving and brick 
samples, retaining edge 
details, lightfitting details, 
method statement for the 
removal, storage and 
relocation of the existing 
fountain, details of metalwork 
and light fittings and measures 
for the protection of trees 
pursuant to conditions 3a, 3c, 
3d and 3e of planning 
permission dated 22nd April 
2015 (ref: 15/00012/FULL). 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00737/ADVT 
 
Castle Baynard  

109 Fleet Street 
London 
EC4A 2AB 
 
 

Installation and display of i) 
folding awning with integral 
advertisement measuring 
0.875m high x 1.500m wide 
x1.000m deep located at a 
height of 2.1m above ground 
level. 
 

Withdrawn 
 
14.10.2015 
 

15/00898/FULL 
 
Castle Baynard  

167 Fleet Street 
London 
EC4A 2EA 
 
 

The installation of six new 
antennas on new support 
poles and four new equipment 
cabinets. 

Approved 
 
20.10.2015 
 

14/00933/FULL 
 
Castle Baynard  

5 Pemberton Row 
London 
EC4A 3BA 
 
 

Change of use from office 
(Class B1) use to residential 
(Class C3) use to provide 
seven flats comprising 1x 
studio, 5 x1 bed and 1 x 2 bed 
units. New windows to rear 
lightwell. 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

Page 9



 

14/00934/LBC 
 
Castle Baynard  

5 Pemberton Row 
London 
EC4A 3BA 
 
 

Internal and external 
alterations including the 
removal of an existing roof 
lantern to central lightwell, 
installation of new windows 
within central lightwell in 
connection with a change of 
use of the building to provide 
residential accommodation. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00985/MDC 
 
Castle Baynard  

12 New Fetter Lane 
London 
EC4A 1AG 
 
 

Details of how new plant on 
the building is mounted so as 
to minimise the transmission 
of structure borne sound 
pursuant to condition 11 of 
planning permission 
11/00423/FULL dated 
18/08/2011. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

14/01192/FULL 
 
Castle Baynard  

1 Wardrobe Place 
London 
EC4V 5AG 
 
 

Change of use of ground floor 
and lower floor at 1 Wardrobe 
Place from office (class B1) to 
a single 2 bed duplex dwelling 
unit for either permanent 
residential use (class C3) or 
temporary sleeping 
accommodation for periods of 
less than 90 consecutive 
nights (class C3); associated 
minor external works to the 
lightwell at lower ground level; 
and other associated works. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

14/01193/LBC 
 
Castle Baynard  

1 Wardrobe Place 
London 
EC4V 5AG 
 
 

Internal and external 
alterations associated with 
change of use of the building 
at ground floor and lower 
ground floor to create a single 
2 bed duplex unit and 
associated minor external 
works to the lightwell at lower 
ground level, facade cleaning 
and other associated works 
incidental to the proposals. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00856/FULL 
 
Castle Baynard  

Flat 3 2 Bride Court 
London 
EC4Y 8DU 
 

Refurbishment of the existing 
apartment and terraces at 
third floor level including: (i) 
replacement of existing 
terrace access doors to the 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

Page 10



 

western and northern terraces 
with aluminium framed access 
doors; (ii) installation of 
replacement timber and glass 
balustrades to the western 
terrace; and (iii) installation of 
replacement timber balustrade 
to the northern terrace. 
 

15/00805/ADVT 
 
Cheap  

Unit 1 30 Gresham 
Street 
London 
EC2V 7PG 
 

Installation and display of one 
internally illuminated (letters 
only) fascia sign measuring 
2.138m wide x 0.342m high 
situated at a height above 
ground level of 3.5m. 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00922/FULL 
 
Coleman Street  

Salisbury House 
London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QQ 
 

Installation of two timber 
decks, complete with edge 
guarding, on the existing flat 
roof including modifications to 
existing fence, rooflight and air 
conditioning units. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00923/LBC 
 
Coleman Street  

Salisbury House 
London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QQ 
 

Installation of two timber 
decks, complete with edge 
guarding, on the existing flat 
roof including modifications to 
existing fence, rooflight and air 
conditioning units. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00913/ADVT 
 
Coleman Street  

151 London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QD 
 
 

Installation and display of i) 
one halo illuminated fascia 
sign measuring 0.37m high by 
4.5m wide at a height above 
ground of 4.5m, ii) one halo 
illuminated fascia sign 
measuring 0.37m high by 
4.5m wide at a height above 
ground of 4.1m, ii) two 
externally illuminated 
projecting signs measuring 
0.75m in diameter at a height 
above ground of 2.9m, iii) two 
internally illuminated menu 
boxes measuring 0.45m high 
by 0.32m wide at a height 
above ground of 1.47m iv) two 
internally illuminated take 
away signs measuring 0.36m 
high by 0.36m wide at a height 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

Page 11



 

above ground of 1.95m and v) 
six non illuminated fascia 
signs measuring 0.1m high by 
1.2m wide at a height above 
ground of 1.57m. 
 

15/00914/LBC 
 
Coleman Street  

151 London Wall 
London 
EC2M 5QD 
 
 

Installation of two halo 
illuminated fascia signs, two 
externally illuminated 
projecting signs, two internally 
illuminated menus boxes, two 
internally illuminated take 
away signs and six non 
illuminated signs on the 
existing planters. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00919/FULL 
 
Coleman Street  

155 Moorgate 
London 
EC2M 6XB 
 
 

Alteration to shopfront to 
include new set of double 
doors and louvred door to the 
west elevation and new set of 
double doors to the east 
elevation at ground floor level. 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00422/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 
34-38, 39-41, 45-47 
& 57B Little Britain 
& 20, 25, 47, 48-50, 
51-53, 59, 60, 61, 
61A & 62 
Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

Submission of a construction 
logistics plan for phase 1 of 
the development pursuant to 
the part discharge of condition 
32 of planning permission 
14/00432/FULMAJ dated 13th 
March 2015. 

Approved 
 
19.10.2015 
 

15/00423/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 
34-38, 39-41, 45-47 
& 57B Little Britain 
& 20, 25, 47, 48-50, 
51-53, 59, 60, 61, 
61A & 62 
Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

Details of a construction 
method statement for phase 1 
of the development pursuant 
to the part discharge of 
condition 23 of planning 
permission 14/00432/FULMAJ 
dated 13th March 2015. 

Approved 
 
19.10.2015 
 

15/00453/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 
34-38, 39-41, 45-47 
& 57B Little Britain 
& 20, 25, 47, 48-50, 
51-53, 59, 60, 61, 

Submission of a demolition 
method statement for phase 
2A of the development 
pursuant to the part discharge 
of condition 7 of planning 

Approved 
 
19.10.2015 
 

Page 12



 

61A & 62 
Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

permission reference 
14/00432/FULMAJ dated 13th 
March 2015. 

15/00457/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 
34-38, 39-41, 45-47 
& 57B Little Britain 
& 20, 25, 47, 48-50, 
51-53, 59, 60, 61, 
61A & 62 
Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

Submission of a scheme for 
the protection of nearby 
residents and commercial 
occupiers from noise, dust 
and other environmental 
effects of the phase 2A works 
pursuant to the part discharge 
of condition 12 of planning 
permission 14/00432/FULMAJ 
dated 13th March 2015. 

Approved 
 
19.10.2015 
 

15/00458/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Site Bounded By 
34-38, 39-41, 45-47 
& 57B Little Britain 
& 20, 25, 47, 48-50, 
51-53, 59, 60, 61, 
61A & 62 
Bartholomew 
Close, London EC1 
 
 
 

Submission of traffic 
circulation details for phase 
2A of the development 
pursuant to the part discharge 
of condition 15 of planning 
permission reference 
14/00432/FULMAJ dated 13th 
March 2015. 

Approved 
 
19.10.2015 
 

15/00800/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Central Criminal 
Court Old Bailey 
London 
EC4M 7EH 
 

Details of new pipework to be 
installed in 'Dead Man's Walk' 
pursuant to condition 4(e) of 
planning permission 
14/00876/FULL and listed 
building consent 
14/00877/LBC dated 
20.11.2014. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00950/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Central Criminal 
Court Old Bailey 
London 
EC4M 7EH 
 

Details of proposed boiler 
flues and supporting 
framework, details of wall 
fixings, and means of 
obscuring the adjacent 
window pursuant to condition 
4(d) of planning permission 
14/00876/FULL and listed 
building consent 
14/00877/LBC dated 20th 
November 2014. 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/01002/MDC 20 Old Bailey Details of: (i) a deconstruction Approved 

Page 13



 

 
Farringdon 
Within  

London 
EC4M 7AN 
 
 

logistics plan;  (ii) a 
construction logistics plan;  (iii) 
a scheme for the protection 
nearby residents and 
commercial occupiers from 
noise, dust and other 
environmental effects of 
demolition;  (iv) a scheme for 
the protection of nearby 
residents and commercial 
occupiers from noise, dust 
and other environmental 
effects of construction;  (v) 
measures to improve carbon 
dioxide emissions;  (vi) an air 
quality assessment and (vii) 
particulars and samples of 
materials pursuant to the 
discharge of conditions 2, 4, 5, 
6, 8, 13 and 7 (a, part)  of 
planning permission 
15/00802/FULL dated 24th 
September 2015. 
 

 
29.10.2015 
 

15/01008/MDC 
 
Farringdon 
Within  

Fleet Building, 40 
Shoe Lane, 70 
Farringdon Street, 
Plumtree Court, 42 
Shoe Lane, 12 
Plumtree Court And 
57 Farringdon 
Street London, 
EC4A 
 
 
 

Submission of Method 
Statements and Risk 
Assessments for construction 
of basement raft slab, 2 sided 
walls and construction of 1 
sided perimeter walls pursuant 
to the phased works of 
condition 5 of planning 
permission 12/01225/FULEIA 
dated 28.10.2013. 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00935/ADVT 
 
Farringdon 
Without  

54 Fleet Street 
London 
EC4Y 1JU 
 
 

Installation and display of (i) 
one externally illuminated 
fascia sign measuring 5.8m 
wide x 0.32m high situated at 
a height above ground level of 
2.5m: and (ii) one externally 
illuminated projecting sign 
measuring 0.59m wide x 
0.59m high situated at a 
height above ground level of 
2.95m. 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00283/MDC 
 

35 Chancery Lane 
London 

(i) Details and samples of 
glazing and aluminium framing 

Approved 
 

Page 14



 

Farringdon 
Without  

WC2A 1EL 
 
 

(ii) details of the size and 
position of the proposed 
brown roof (iii) details of Rolls 
Passage fire exit doors; and 
(iv) kitchen extract details 
pursuant to conditions 6a (in 
part), 6b (in part), 8, 11, 17 
and 18 of planning permission 
dated 20th June 2014 
(application ref: 
13/01189/FULL). 
 

29.10.2015 
 

15/00920/FULL 
 
Portsoken  

Beaufort House 15 
St Botolph Street 
London 
EC3A 7DT 
 

Provision of a new pre-
fabricated security hut on 
Beaufort House piazza. 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00697/MDC 
 
Tower  

10 Trinity Square 
London 
EC3N 4AJ 
 
 

Details of alterations to the  
existing facades pursuant to 
condition 10(d) of planning 
permission (application no. 
11/00317/FULMAJ) dated 
29th March 2012 and 
condition 4(k) of listed building 
consent (application no. 
14/00778/LBC) dated 16th 
January 2015. 
 

Withdrawn 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00855/FULL 
 
Tower  

Portsoken House 
155 Minories 
London 
EC3N 1LJ 
 

Alterations to the main 
entrance. 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00901/MDC 
 
Tower  

Bowring House 28 
Great Tower Street 
London 
EC3R 5AT 
 

Submission of Accessibility 
Management Plan pursuant to 
Condition 12 of planning 
permission 13/00360/FULL 
dated 27.02.2014 
 

Approved 
 
20.10.2015 
 

15/00907/MDC 
 
Tower  

15 - 16 Minories 62 
Aldgate High Street 
London 
EC3N 1AL 
 

Details of a programme of 
archaeological work pursuant 
to condition 12 (part) of 
planning permission dated 
30th June 2014 (application 
number 13/01055/FULMAJ). 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00745/MDC 
 
Tower  

Bowring House 28 
Great Tower Street 
London 
EC3R 5AT 

Details of facades, stonework, 
ground floor elevations, 
windows, soffits, handrails, 
external lighting, window 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

Page 15



 

 cleaning equipment and other 
roof level structures, junctions 
with adjoining premises, 
ventilation intake and extract, 
ground level surfaces, 
pedestrian passageway and 
external bicycle stands 
pursuant to Condition 9 b) to 
m) of planning permission 
13/00360/FULL dated 
27.02.14. 
 

15/00931/FULL 
 
Tower  

Part Second Floor 
55 Mark Lane 
London 
EC3R 7NE 
 

Change of use of part second 
floor from office (B1) to a  
flexible use as training centre 
(D1c) and / or office 
(B1)(1,060sq.m). 
 

Approved 
 
29.10.2015 
 

15/00889/FULL 
 
Vintry  

30 Cannon Street 
London 
EC4M 6XH 
 
 

Alterations to the Bread Street 
entrance and elevation 
including: new hard 
landscaping; re-cladding of 
the lift entrance; new glazing, 
lighting and glass panelling; 
and soffit alterations. 
 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00890/LBC 
 
Vintry  

30 Cannon Street 
London 
EC4M 6XH 
 
 

Alterations to the Bread Street 
entrance and elevation 
including: new hard 
landscaping;  re-cladding of 
the lift entrance;  new glazing, 
lighting and glass panelling; 
and new soffit to match 
existing. 
 

Approved 
 
15.10.2015 
 

15/00819/MDC 
 
Vintry  

19 - 20 Garlick Hill 
& 4 Skinners Lane 
London 
 
 
 

Construction method 
statement pursuant to 
condition 6 (in part) of 
planning permission dated 18 
June 2015 (ref: 
14/00973/FULMAJ). 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

15/00885/MDC 
 
Vintry  

19 - 20 Garlick Hill 
& 4 Skinners Lane 
London 
EC4V 2AU 
 
 

Details of finished floor levels 
at basement and ground level 
in relation to the existing 
highway levels pursuant to 
Condition 22 of planning 
permission dated 18 June 
2015 (ref: 14/00973/FULMAJ). 
 

Approved 
 
22.10.2015 
 

Page 16



 

15/00817/LBC 
 
Vintry  

30 Cannon Street 
London 
EC4M 6XH 
 
 

Installation of replacement 
windows from ground to fifth 
floor level (excludes glazing to 
ground floor entrances and 
selected windows in the Bread 
Street elevation). 
 

Approved 
 
27.10.2015 
 

15/00946/ADVT 
 
Vintry  

30 Cannon Street 
London 
EC4M 6XH 
 
 

Installation and display of a 
shroud advertisement 
consisting of an image of the 
existing building and an 
externally illuminated 
advertisement measuring 5.2 
metres wide and 6.6 metres 
high displayed at a height of 
6.6 metres for a temporary 
period of 1st November 2015 
to 1st November 2016. 
 

Refused 
 
30.10.2015 
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



 

Committee: Date:  

Planning and Transportation 17/11/2015  

Subject: 

Valid planning applications received by Department of the Built Environment 

Public 

 

1.  Pursuant to the instructions of your Committee, I attach for your information a list 
detailing development applications received by the Department of the Built 
Environment since my report to the last meeting. 

2. Any questions of detail arising from these reports can be sent to 
plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk. 

 
DETAILS OF VALID APPLICATIONS 

 

Application 
Number & Ward 

Address Proposal Date of 
Validation 

15/01026/FULL 
Aldgate 

Mitre Square, 
International 
House, Duke's 
Place, 11 Mitre 
Street & 1 Mitre 
Square, London, 
EC3 

Application under Section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
for the variation of Condition 30 of 
planning permission 
13/01082/FULMAJ to allow for 
refuelling activities to take place 
outside the footprint of the building. 

25/09/2015 

15/01030/FULL 
Aldgate 

65 - 68 Leadenhall 
Street, London, 
EC3A 2AD 

Installation of rooftop plant and 
enclosure. 

01/10/2015 

15/01041/FULL 
Broad Street 

11 Angel Court, 
London, EC2R 
7HJ 

Conversion of building from Class 
B1(a) use to Class C3 use to provide 
5 self contained residential units with 
basement level communal areas, 
installation of roof level plant and 
external alterations. 

30/09/2015 

15/01075/FULL 
Coleman Street 

25 Copthall 
Avenue, London, 
EC2R 7BP 

The installation of two pole mounted 
antenna on new support pole, two 
wall mounted antenna, three antenna 
located on freestanding frame, twelve 
remote radio units and three 
equipment cabinets. 

12/10/2015 

15/00991/FULL 
Cordwainer 

1 Poultry, London, 
EC2R 8EJ 

Removal of existing window and wall 
below cill level and installation of 
concertina type full height glazing. 

16/10/2015 

15/00977/FULL 
Cripplegate 

City of London 
School For Girls, 

Installation of metal railings along 
west side of the lake adjacent to the 

12/10/2015 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

mailto:plans@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

St Giles' Terrace, 
Barbican, London, 
EC2Y 8BB 

City of London School for Girls. 

15/01137/FULLR3 
Farringdon Without 

25 Southampton 
Buildings, London, 
WC2A 1AL 

Installation of four lighting units to 
facade of 25 Southampton Buildings. 

02/11/2015 

15/01048/FULL 
Langbourn 

85 Gracechurch 
Street, London, 
EC3V 0AA 

Removal of ten existing a/c units and 
the installation of one new a/c unit at 
8th floor level. 

01/10/2015 

15/01065/FULL 
Langbourn 

1 George Yard, 
London, EC3V 
9DF 

External alterations to the ground 
floor entrance. 

07/10/2015 

15/01067/FULL 
Portsoken 

15-16 Minories, 62 
Aldgate High 
Street, London, 
EC3N 1AL 

Application under S73 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 to 
vary Condition 70 of planning 
permission dated 30.06.2014 
(13/01055/FULMAJ) to incorporate 
minor material amendments to the 
layout and design of the building to 
be used for residential purposes 
(Class C3). 

08/10/2015 

15/01099/FULL 
Tower 

Three Quays 
Walk, London, 
EC3R 6AH 

Installation of a new shopfront 20/10/2015 

15/01108/FULL 
Tower 

27 Minories, 
London, EC3N 
1DE 

Creation of a new roof terrace on top 
of an existing mansard roof 
conversion and erection of glass 
enclosure on the existing terrace at 
fifth floor level. 

21/10/2015 

15/01082/FULL 
Walbrook 

60 Gresham 
Street, London, 
EC2V 7BB 

Installation of new balcony at fifth 
floor level on existing flat roof area 
with installation of new access doors 
within the existing window and 
stainless steel and glass balustrade. 

14/10/2015 

 
 

Page 20



Committee(s): Date(s): 

Planning & Transportation 
Committee 

 

 

 17 November 2015 

Subject:  

Sugar Quay, Lower Thames Street London EC3R 6EA 

Public 

 

Report of: 

Chief Planning Officer and Development Director 

For Information 

 

Summary 

On 2 November 2015, following a hearing on 7 October 2015 an Inspector 
appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 
dismissed an appeal made by Sugar Quay Holdings Limited against the City of 
London Corporation against a failure to determine that a planning obligation 
should be modified. 

Recommendation 

Members are asked to: 

 Note the report  

 
Main Report 

 
1. On 2 November 2015 the Planning Inspectorate notified the City of the decision 

of the Inspector in respect of the appeal under S106BC of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 against the City’s failure to determine that a Planning 
Obligation should be modified in respect of Sugar Quay Lower Thames Street. 

 
2. The appeal was dismissed. In paragraph 31 of the Decision Notice the Inspector 

concluded ‘that the scheme is capable of bearing the cost of the affordable 
housing contribution offered by the current obligation. There is no need therefore 
to consider whether modifications to the obligation are necessary to make the 
project viable.  

 

 Appendix 1 – The Appeal Decision 

Annie Hampson  
Chief Planning Officer 
 
T: 020 7332 1700 
E: annie.hampson@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



  

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Hearing held on 7 October 2015 

Site visit made on 7 October 2015 

by Ava Wood  DipARCH MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 2 November 2015 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 

Sugar Quay, Lower Thames Street, London EC3R 6EA 

 The appeal is made under Section 106BC of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a failure to determine that a planning obligation should be modified. 

 The appeal is made by Sugar Quay Holdings Limited against the City of London Council. 

 The development to which the planning obligation relates is demolition of existing 

building and construction of a new building of basement, ground, part 9, part 11 storeys 

comprising 165 residential units and 658 sqm of retail/café and restaurant use at 

ground floor. 

 The planning obligation, dated 16 September 2013, was made between the Mayor and 

Commonalty and Citizens of the City of London, the Wardens and Commonalty of the 

Mystery of Fishmongers of the City of London and Sugar Quay Guernsey Limited.  

 The application Ref: DHS/0487 is dated 5 March 2015. 

 The application sought to have the planning obligation modified by replacing the 

definition of the Affordable Housing Contribution to fix the amount payable at the 

specified sum of £11,203,000 with indexation to be added.  
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. The planning obligation, dated 16 September 2013, 
made between the Mayor and Commonalty and Citizens of the City of London, 

the Wardens and Commonalty of the Mystery of Fishmongers of the City of 
London and Sugar Quay Guernsey Limited shall continue to have effect. 

Procedural Matter 

2. Following the end of the hearing the parties agreed a form of wording to be 
used in the decision, should I be minded to allow the appeal. A revised 

Proposed Modified S106 was also submitted within the timeframe agreed.  The 
additional material forms Document 18.  

Main Issues 

3. These are: whether the proposed development is economically viable, if it 
remains subject to the affordable housing obligation as it currently exists; and 

if not, what modification to the obligation is needed for the development to be 
made viable. 

Reasons 

Preliminary and Agreed Matters 

4. Before turning to matters relating to the financial viability of the scheme, it is 

worth recording a number of relevant facts and key matters agreed. 

Page 23



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           2 

 The appeal site is located on the northern waterfront of the River Thames, 

adjacent to Tower Pier and to the west of the Tower of London. 

 Planning permission was granted on the site in June 2011 for demolition 

and construction of an eight storey office building with retail use at ground 
floor. 

 The scheme to which this appeal relates proposes residential 

accommodation on the first to sixth floor of about 23,000 sqft per floor, 
tapering down to a minimum of 10,549 sqft from seventh to the tenth 

floors.  Duplex penthouse accommodation is proposed from the seventh 
floor upwards.  

 The planning obligation related to the permission provides for an Affordable 

Housing Contribution of £15,006,816 (indexed) in lieu of on-site provision.  

 The first instalment of £7,503,408 (indexed) is to be paid to the 

Corporation on or before the implementation date. The second instalment 
of the same amount is also to be paid prior to the implementation date.  
Four months before the implementation date the developer is obliged to 

either confirm the second instalment amount or submit a revised viability 
assessment identifying the proposed amount of the second instalment.  

 The applicant (Sugar Quay Guernsey Limited)1 submitted an updated 
viability assessment in February 2014 to demonstrate that the development 
could not afford to make any additional affordable housing payment beyond 

the first instalment. 

 Following a disagreement on valuation with the Corporation’s advisers 

(Gerald Eve), and by mutual consent, an independent expert was 
appointed. Mr Leahy of Bespoke Property Consultants (BPC) determined in 
January 2015 that the amount of the second instalment due (as at July 

2014) is £3,699,592.  This would produce a total Affordable Housing 
Contribution of £11,203,000.  

 SQGL accepted the findings of BPC and the application for modifying the 
planning obligation was made on that basis.  

 In February 2015 the Planning and Transportation Committee resolved not 

to accept the expert’s findings, despite the chief planning officer and 
development director’s recommendation to do so.  The Corporation’s 

decision to continue to press for the full payment of £15,006,816 gave rise 
to the application under s106BA and this appeal. 

 The appellant is proposing modification of the s106 to replace the definition 

of the Affordable Housing Contribution by fixing the total amount payable 
at the sum of £11,203,000.  The total figure represents the first instalment 

sum of £7,503,408 together with the amount of £3,699,592 identified by 
BPC as the second instalment.  The Affordable Housing Contribution is to be 

paid in full on or before the implementation date.  

The Scheme’s Viability 

5. In establishing the extent to which the development could bear the costs of the 

affordable housing provision, a number of viability exercises have been carried 
out on behalf of the Council and the appellant.  The parties’ appraisals are 

                                       
1 The development and s106BA applications were submitted in the name of Sugar Quay Guernsey Ltd (SQGL). 
SQGL transferred its ownership interest into a separate company (Sugar Quay Holdings Ltd) and the applicant 

name was amended during the application process. 

Page 24



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           3 

based on an agreed benchmark site value of £60m and a return on cost of 

20%.  BPC’s findings were governed by these same agreed values.  A number 
of other input values were agreed, including car parking income and ground 

rents on the revenue side of the equation, with fees, marketing and sales on 
the development costs side.  While there is some disparity in the cost of 
construction, the differences are not significant or determinant.  

6. The main areas of dispute arising from the parties’ respective positions, and on 
which this decision now focuses, can be narrowed down to the following three 

headings: 

 Relevant valuation date. 

 Gross development value for the residential element of the scheme. 

 Gross development value for the commercial element of the scheme. 

Relevant Valuation Date 

7. The appellant maintains that the economic viability of a development, in the 
context of an application under s106BA and subsequent appeal under s106BC 
is to be “…assessed by reference to market conditions, costs and other relevant 

factors as they are at the date of the application.”2  In other words, March 
2015. A number of factors are said to point to that position, which is regarded 

as consistent with the provisions under s106BA and s106BC while also 
reflecting the DCLG guidance3.  It is also said that the indications in the 
guidance do not point to two different valuations – i.e. at the application and 

the appeal stages.  The Council’s case, on the other hand, is that “viability 
must be judged in market conditions current at the time of the determination.”4  

8. I note, and the parties agreed at the hearing, that valuation date is not fixed 
by either the Town and Country Planning Act or any other statute.  While 
paragraph 7 of the DCLG guidance suggests that the viability evidence 

supporting the application should be submitted with the appeal, it also goes on 
to state that the “…test for viability is that the evidence indicates that the 

current cost of building out the entire site (at today’s prices) is at a level that 
would enable the developer to sell all the market units on the site (in today’s 
market) at a rate of build out evidenced by the developer, and make a 

competitive return to a willing developer and a willing landowner.”  The 
developer is expected to demonstrate that the affordable housing obligation as 

currently agreed makes the scheme unviable under current market conditions. 
The revised appraisal is also expected to be based on current market 
conditions.  The guide further advises that “…clear, appropriate and up to date 

evidence is to be submitted.”  The language used repeatedly in the guidance 
(today’s market, current market conditions and up to date evidence, for 

instance) points to the economic conditions relevant to the present time.  In 
other words, to take account of current or up to date circumstances. 

9. Using a valuation date at the time of consideration of the appeal may not be 
suitable for all cases under s106BA or s106BC.  However, given the narrow 
margins separating the parties’ respective positions in this specific case, the 

most up to date information available on key variables provides a better 
understanding of the ability of the development scheme to deliver on its 

affordable housing obligations.  The validity of this approach is borne out by 

                                       
2 Document 3 – Appellant’s written submissions in relation to relevant valuation date 
3 Section 106 affordable housing requirements – Review and appeal, April 2013 
4 Document 4 – Council’s written response to Document 3  

Page 25



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           4 

the March, May, July and October summary appraisals, which demonstrate that 

even minor fluctuations impact on the economics of the development. Adopting 
a valuation date as close to the determination date as possible also has the 

advantage of taking account of the effects of recent notable events. The 
outcome of the general election or implications of the stamp duty land tax 
(SDLT) changes for instance, which the parties evidenced as factors relevant to 

the value and sale of residential properties in London.  

10. The evidence from both parties covers a period between March and October 

2015. In the interest of consistency of approach and, because it helps to 
understand the parties’ respective predictions of revenue and costs between 
those dates, my reasoning below refers to the March as well as October 

appraisals.  

Residential Sales Values 

11. The appellant’s valuations comprise updates of the BPC mid-point pricing 
appraisal (the Base Appraisal).  BPC adopted a valuation date of July 2014 and 
relied on the residential sales values provided by selling agents based in the 

City.  The Council and SQGL had agreed to the appointment of Hurford Salvi 
Carr (HSC) to advise on pricing as part of the independent expert’s 

determination.  The appellant’s March and October 2015 updates, prepared by 
DS2, used data on cost inflation from Gleed’s Quarterly Inflation report and 
Savills Prime Central London Index for apartments.  

12. The Council’s approach to establishing sales values is based on a market report 
undertaken by Hamptons International – a residential estate agent with an 

office in the City of London.  The report derives its pricing of the Sugar Quay 
apartments from nine potentially comparable schemes, of which five were also 
considered by HSC.  

13. The DS2 update results in an average sales value of £1,835 per sqft (March 
2015), against Hamptons’ expectation of £1,916 per sqft.  The equivalent sales 

values for October 2015 are £1,881 and £1,916 respectively.  

14. The indexing method used by DS2 raises some concerns. First, it relies on a 
pricing base set in July 2014.  Second, the Savills Prime Central London Index 

is based on second hand sales and does not take account of new-build 
premiums.  While I understand that indices in second hand properties may be 

the norm, the use of indexing to establish the value of new-build properties in 
a location that BPC referred to as having worldwide appeal raises questions 
about the robustness of such an approach. 

15. On the other hand, I agree that valuing the Sugar Quay apartments against 
likely comparables is difficult, given the paucity of directly comparable 

developments and locations.  The absence of similar properties in this location 
caused the appellant to refer to the site as ‘risky and unestablished’.  The site 

is indeed unique for the position it occupies on the edge of the City with south 
facing river views.  Although views to the north towards an office block are less 
appealing, the BPC report described this as a world class location.  It may not 

benefit from the range of cultural facilities and variety of eating establishments 
enjoyed by properties on the South Bank.  Sugar Quay nonetheless is in a 

prime position, adjacent to a world heritage site and with good access to 
facilities and transport choices.  

Page 26



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           5 

16. At the hearing the appellant painted a less than optimistic picture for the sale 

of Sugar Quay apartments at the prices estimated by Hamptons.  The prime 
reasons being: 

 competition from other developments along the riverfront, especially on the 
South Bank; 

 the foreign investment market is slimmer now and asking prices are 

reducing as a result; 

 the market for high-end properties has come under pressure since 

introduction of the SDLT in the Chancellor’s 2014 Autumn Statement, other 
Government initiatives have raised ‘offshore vehicle’ difficulties and the 
market is slowing in the wake of the mortgage market review. 

 less off-plan sales due to the volatility of the market. 

17. The difficulties in selling the bigger and more expensive units at The Heron 

development were held up as examples of the situation which could befall the 
sale of the Sugar Quay penthouse suites.  Indeed, the largest disparity 
between the parties lies in the estimated values of the high-end units. This fact 

was recognised in the BPC report.  The appellant also does not agree with 
Hamptons’ 25% premium on river fronting units.  

18. Taken in the round, my opinion is that Hamptons’ pricing conclusions are to be 
preferred for the following reasons: 

 The pricing derives from a professional consideration of indicative 

achievable values on a unit by unit basis, as opposed to a more broad 
brush approach of applying indices across the board.  

 The pricing is informed by the asking prices across a range of recent 
developments around the City and on the South Bank, albeit strict parallels 
are non-existent. That The Heron sales took place some time ago, partly 

explains the reason for Hamptons’ exclusion of those properties from their 
considerations.  

 The comparables are not too different from those selected by HSC. Five out 
of the nine analysed by Hamptons were also used by HSC.  

 The Council may not have agreed with the outcome of the BPC 

determination, but the HSC asking average prices in December 2014 are 
not too dissimilar to Hamptons’ achievable values. Indeed, the individual 

appraisals prepared by DS2 (March, May, July and October) show rates per 
sqft which are not all that different from Hamptons’ values. 

 The values estimated for the river view units are lower than those 

commanded at the nearest comparable at 1 Tower Bridge on the South 
Bank. The units in this development are valued at an average of some 

£2,613. 

 Although Savills’ pricing is based on 50% of units with no river views, 

Hamptons have adopted a more conservative figure of 70%, which provides 
some comfort with regard to the robustness of their evidence.  

 The river view uplift is not applied across the board but on a unit by unit 

basis.  

19. The appellant is critical of the Hamptons’ report for a number of reasons. 

Notably for selection of inappropriate comparables and because the pricing of 

Page 27



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           6 

the developments considered is higher when compared to EGi values.  The 

views expressed above cover those points.  

20. The appellant also draws attention to the evidence from land registry which 

shows that the number of properties of £2m and above accounts for only 5% of 
City of London transactions in the 12 months to mid-2015.  By contrast, 
Hamptons work on the basis of a significantly higher proportion of Sugar Quay 

units priced at £2m and above.  The land registry evidence perhaps 
demonstrates a shortage of high-end properties in the City and a reason to be 

optimistic about pricing due to lack of supply.  But, even the DS2 appraisals 
are based on 23 units priced at £4m and above (3 beds and penthouses) and 
60 of the 2 beds units at just below £2m (£1,837,448 in March and £1,883,921 

in October).  In other words, the appellant’s evidence is also based on near 
enough 50% of units selling for close to £2m or above.  

21. Although the appellant fears that the untried nature of the location raises the 
risk profile of the development, the developers have described it as “…an 
unparalleled position. It is a landmark in design, in location and in London’s 

continuing story.”  The uniqueness of the location and design quality of the 
scheme could also set a new benchmark.  The penthouses face south with river 

views, and a large number of the smaller units at lower floors are also 
orientated to the south.  The evidence shows that the 2012 SDLT increases 
were absorbed by the markets.  The latest increases are more substantial but 

its effects could potentially be neutralised by reduction in uncertainties in the 
sale of high-end properties since the general election.  In my judgement, 

having regard to all of the evidence before me, I conclude that there are 
reasonable prospects of achieving the values estimated by Hamptons.  

22. To conclude, for the reasons explained above, Hamptons’ average per sqft 

figure of £1,916 is a realistic basis for establishing the gross development value 
of the scheme.   

Commercial Values 

23. The difference between the parties is attributed to yield: 5.5% (Council) as 
against 6% (appellant).  I note that the BPC report assumes a yield of 6% on 

the commercial elements of the scheme.  This was justified on the basis that 
the scheme’s café location would be separated from the main Tower of London 

offer and its size would be large against other opportunities.  The Council 
considers that attracting a Michelin star restaurant and the restaurant’s 
location justifies the lower yield. 

24. While I am more inclined to agree with the reasoning for the higher yield, both 
parties agree that the level of disparity is small and not significant enough to 

unduly affect the economics of the scheme.  

Other Matters and Conclusion on Viability 

25. The Council’s sales velocity evidence is not accepted by the appellant, and 
indeed the appraisals are based on agreed sales rates.  However, Hamptons’ 
evidence shows that better rates might be achievable with the scheme selling 

well to both the domestic and international markets. 

26. I agree that, for the purposes of the appeal, viability analysis should be carried 

out on a current basis and not by reference to potential growth, particularly as 
there are contrary views on the rate of growth in both residential values as well 
as build cost inflation.  However, the appellant’s own figures show that 

between March and October 2015 the increase in gross development value 

Page 28



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           7 

exceeds costs to the extent that the affordable housing contribution payable 

also increases from £10,081,696 to £12,105,706.  

27. The upward trend goes some way to reduce the already narrow margin 

between the parties.  It also reveals the extent to which small variations in 
inputs can achieve incremental but beneficial outcomes, such as increased 
contribution towards affordable housing.  

28. The appellant confirmed that the developer would proceed with a return on 
costs of 19.3% (the return estimated in March 2015 with an affordable 

contribution of just over £11.2m).  There is no similar assurance that the 
residential scheme would proceed with a profit return of 17.1% or 18.3% 
(appellant’s predictions of return with the £15m affordable housing contribution 

at March and October 2015 prices respectively) but, as confirmed at the 
hearing, the decision is for the board to make at the appropriate time.  

29. I have read the appeal decisions referred to in the Council’s evidence. 
However, the circumstances vary to the extent that the matters at issue 
addressed in those appeals are not directly applicable to the case before me. 

As noted in the appellant’s submissions, the valuation date issue did not arise 
in the other appeal cases.  

30. The GLA letter of March 2015 expresses satisfaction with the conclusions of the 
expert determination, goes on to acknowledge that the dispute may continue 
and accepts that there may be merit in reviewing prices achieved.  The letter 

neither supports nor opposes either party’s position. 

31. Given my conclusions on the likely prospect of achieving the Council’s 

estimated values for the residential units, it follows that the development 
permitted is a viable proposition with the current affordable housing obligation 
in place.  The scale of reduction in value from applying the 6% yield is unlikely 

to alter that position.  Overall, my conclusion is that the scheme is capable of 
bearing the cost of the Affordable Housing Contribution offered by the current 

obligation.  There is no need therefore to consider whether modifications to the 
obligation are necessary to make the project viable. 

32. Having taken into account all other matters raised none carries sufficient 

weight to alter the balance of my considerations or decision to dismiss the 
appeal. 

Ava Wood 

Inspector 

Page 29



Appeal Decision APP/K5030/S/15/3087233 
 

 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planninginspectorate           8 

APPEARANCES 

 
FOR THE APPELLANT: 

Neil King QC Landmark Chambers 
Tim Simpson CPC London 

Pascal Levine DS2, Development Consultants 
Chris Beard DP9 Limited 
Dominic Grace Savills 

David Carkeek Gleeds 
Marcus Bate Pinsent Masons 

Susanne Andreasen Pinsent Masons 
 
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY: 

Neil Cameron QC Landmark Chambers 

Robert Fourt FRICS Gerald Eve LLP 
Andrew Crow FRICS Gerald Eve LLP 

Matthew Haycox Director, Hamptons International 
Gabriella Snook  Surveyor, Hamptons International 
Annie Hampson Chief Planning Officer, City of London 

Corporation 
Peter Shadbolt Assistant Director (policy), City of London 

Corporation 
Deborah Cluett Assistant City Solicitor, City of London 

Corporation  

 
DOCUMENTS RECEIVED AFTER THE HEARING OPENED 

 
1 Appellant’s opening statement 
2 City of London Corporation’s opening statement 

3 Appellant’s submissions in relation to the relevant valuation date 
4 City of London Corporation’s response on valuation date 

5 City of London Corporation’s bundle of core documents 
6 Statement of Common Ground 
7 DS2 Development Appraisal, March 2015 

8 DS2 Development Appraisal, July 2015 
9 DS2 Development Appraisal, May 2015 

10 DS2 Development Appraisal, October 2015 
11 Summary of Gerald Eve and DS2 development appraisals 
12 Gerald Eve Financial Evaluation Summaries, March-October 2015 

13 Sensitivity Analysis, profit on costs  
14 Sir John Lyon House, asking and selling prices 

15 Letter from Mr Grace (Savills) to Mr Simpson (Candy & Candy), 
dated 12 February 2014, re-pricing the scheme 

16 Extract from CBRE “London living- A borough by borough 
showcase”, July 2015, submitted by City of London  

17 Extract from Savills’ “Spotlight – Prime London Residential 

Market”, Autumn 2015, submitted by the appellant 
18 Material submitted after the hearing closed 

 

 

Page 30



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 17 November 2015 

Subject: 

BT Payphones, Outside 4 St Paul's Churchyard London 
EC4M 8AY  

Conversion of two BT K6 payphone kiosks to combination 
payphone and ATM booth and ancillary ATM secure room. 

Public  

Ward: Bread Street For Decision  

Registered No:  15/00190/FULL Registered on:   
7 April 2015 

Conservation Area:      St Paul's Cathedral                           Listed Building:  
Grade II 

Summary 

 

The application relates to a pair of Grade ll listed type K6 BT telephone boxes 
located south of St Paul's Cathedral within the St Paul's Cathedral 
Conservation Area.  

 

Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent are sought for conversion of 
the two boxes to form a single kiosk that would incorporate an externally 
mounted payphone and ATM with internal strongroom.  

 

The proposal would introduce inappropriate activity into the public domain, 
would give rise to a structure that would have a solid and anomalous 
appearance, would unacceptably add to street clutter, would be detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the St Paul's Cathedral Conservation Area,  
would be detrimental to the wider setting of listed heritage assets and in 
particular St Paul's Cathedral, and would result in substantial harm to the 
special architectural and historic interest and significance of the listed 
telephone boxes. 

 

The City's streets are subject to increasingly high levels of footfall and 
improvements to pedestrian permeability and enhancement of the public 
realm is consequently a priority for the City. The proposal would prejudice 
existing and future pedestrian movement within the footway. 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7a



The benefits associated with convenient access to an ATM facility and 
improved telephone accessibility for some would in this instance be 
insufficient to outweigh the significant level of harm that would arise. 

 

Recommendation 

 

That Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent be refused for the 
reasons set out in the attached schedule. 

Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



 
  

Page 35



Main Report  

 Site 

 
1. The application relates to a pair of Grade II listed type ‘K6’ operational 

BT red telephone boxes located back-to-back within the public footway 
on the south side of St Paul’s Churchyard, within the St Paul’s 
Cathedral Conservation Area and on the processional route.  
 

2. The boxes are set within the footway approximately 2.5m from the 
facade of a mixed use commercial building at 4 St Pauls Churchyard, 
and approximately 3.0m from the kerb edge.  

 
3. Type K6 telephone boxes were designed by Sir Giles Gilbert Scott in 

1935 to commemorate the Silver Jubilee of King George V. There are 
31 K6 telephone kiosks in the City, of which 6 are listed Grade II.  

 
4. St Paul’s Cathedral is a Grade I listed building of international 

significance and a focal point for the City of London. It lies some 40m to 
the North East of the listed telephone boxes. A Grade II listed statue of 
Queen Anne and listed bollards lie within the cathedral forecourt 
midway between the boxes and the cathedral.  

 

Proposal 

 
5. Planning permission and listed building consent are sought for the 

conversion of the two boxes into a single integrated kiosk that would 
incorporate an ATM, payphone and ATM secure room. 
 

6. The telephone boxes would be substantially altered. One would 
accommodate an external payphone and ATM, while the other would 
serve as a secure room. The internal telephone equipment would be 
removed and the telephone boxes would be welded together. There 
would be no public access to the internal space and all clear glazing 
would be replaced with polished stainless steel mirrored panels, giving 
rise to a visually solid form.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



Consultations 

 
7. The application has been publicised on site and in the press. No 

representations have been received from members of the public. 
 

8. Historic England has commented that: ‘the installing of a modern ATM 
machine would neither preserve the special interest of the listed kiosk or 
the setting of St Paul’s Cathedral, and would not appear to preserve the 
character of St Paul’s Cathedral Conservation Area. Historic England is 
therefore unable to support this application’.  
 

9. A letter of objection has been received from the Surveyor to the Fabric 
of St Paul’s Cathedral and is attached to this report as a background 
paper. The surveyor’s comments can be summarised as follows: 
 

a) Impact on St Paul’s Cathedral Conservation Area: These telephone 
boxes are amongst the most readily and internationally recognisable 
signifiers of London. Historic England recognises that to be listable 
street furniture needs to have a strong visual relationship with more 
than one listed building or with a single grade I listed building. The 
significance of these boxes to the setting of the Cathedral is 
therefore established. The telephone boxes feature highly within the 
list of values identified within the Conservation Area Character 
Summary and Management Strategy. 

b) Impact on the listed structures: The telephone boxes were designed 
as structures to be entered into and to have views from within and 
for the interior to be visible from without. The introduction of mirrored 
glass would change their appearance, historic character and 
significance. These alterations in conjunction with the installation of 
an ATM would significantly damage their heritage and significance. 
The physical harm would be substantial. 

c) Impact on pedestrian flow: The development may have a detrimental 
impact on pedestrian flows. 

d) Quality of the application: A compelling case or justification as to 
why these listed assets should be converted has not been made. 

 
10. The views of City of London departments have been taken into account 

in the consideration of this scheme.  
 

11. The City of London Conservation Area Advisory Committee (CAAC) 
supports the City’s policy of seeking to reduce street clutter and has 
objected to the proposal considering it to be detrimental to the street 
scene and to the conservation area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



Policy Context 

 
12. The development plan consists of the London Plan and the City of 

London Local Plan. The London Plan and Local Plan policies and 
Supplementary Planning Documents that are most relevant to the 
consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this report.  
 

13. Government planning guidance is contained within the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and accompanying National 
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG). 

 

14. Although not a Development Plan Document, the City of London 
Corporation City Street Scene Manual is considered material as it 
provides specific guidance for developers in respect of telephone boxes 
and kiosks that are located within the highway.  

     Considerations 

15. The Corporation in determining both the planning and listed building 
applications has the following main statutory duties to perform:- 

16. To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, in so far as it 
is material to the application, to local financial considerations so far as 
they are material to the application, and to any other material 
considerations (Section70 (2) Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 

17. To determine the application in accordance with the development plan 
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004); 

18. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building/structure or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it may 
possess. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990) 

19. In considering whether to grant listed building consent, to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building/structure or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
may possess. (S66 (1) Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990) 

20. When considering the applications, special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
the conservation area (S72 (1) Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act1990). 

21. Chapter 12 of the NPPF is relevant in this instance as it sets out key 
policy considerations for applications relating to designated and non-
designated heritage assets. Other relevant guidance is provided by 
Historic England including the document’s Conservation Principles, and 

Page 38



The Setting of Heritage Assets together with Building in Context 
(HE/CABE) and Historic England’s ‘Historic Environment Good Practice 
Advice Notes’ (1, 2 and 3). 
 

22. Considerable importance and weight should be given to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of a 
conservation area and the setting of listed buildings. A finding that harm 
would be caused to a conservation area or the setting of a listed 
building gives rise to a strong presumption against planning permission 
being granted.  

 

 The Acceptability of the Proposal in Design and Heritage Terms 

23. The telephone boxes are listed and are an instantly identifiable, iconic 
and archetypical element of the public domain. They are heritage assets 
which have a visual relationship with surrounding heritage assets and 
buildings and contribute positively to the appearance and character of 
the conservation area and streetscene.  
  

24. A key characteristic of Type K6 telephone boxes is that the 8 X 3 
pattern of glazing is transparent and allows light and public views to 
permeate through the structure. The proposal would be materially 
different, with no clear glazing and as a result would appear as a solid 
and anomalous structure within the street scene. This unsympathetic 
modification of the Type K6 telephone boxes would neither preserve nor 
enhance the St Paul’s Conservation area and would result in less than 
substantial harm to the character and appearance of St Paul’s 
Conservation Area and this would not be outweighed by the perceived 
benefits of the proposal.  

 

 Listed Building Considerations  

 
25. The proposed alterations to replace glass with mirrored stainless steel, 

the installation of the ATM and combining the two listed buildings into 
one would fundamentally change the architectural detailing and iconic 
form of the K6 telephone boxes. The resulting structure would be solid 
rather than transparent in appearance. The existing telephone 
apparatus would be removed from the interior and apparatus, unrelated 
to the listed buildings’ original telecommunications function, would be 
attached to the exterior. The removal of the internal telephone 
equipment would be regrettable as it is visible through the 
predominantly glazed exterior of the telephone boxes and defines their 
main use. The doors would be replaced with replica panels and the 
interior space would no longer be accessible.  
 

26. These unsympathetic alterations would result in substantial harm to the 
special architectural and historic interest and significance of the listed 
telephone boxes.  

Page 39



 
27. Paragraph 133 of the NPPF states that where a proposed development 

will lead to substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the works are necessary to achieve substantial 
public benefits that outweigh the harm or loss. The telephone boxes are 
still in use and the proposals are not considered to offer substantial 
public benefits.  

 

 

The impact on the setting of nearby listed buildings and the conservation 
area 

 
28. The alterations to the telephone boxes together with the likely assembly 

of persons using the box on the public footway would restrict public 
views of St Paul’s Cathedral which in conjunction with the anomalous 
appearance of the telephone boxes following their conversion would 
have a negative impact upon the significance of this part of St Paul’s 
Conservation Area as a designated heritage asset. Although the scale 
of development and the distance from St Paul’s would be such that the 
harm to the setting of St Paul’s Cathedral and the Queen Anne statue 
and bollards would be less than substantial, public views of St Paul’s 
and the character of its setting would be compromised.  

 
 

Highway Considerations 

 
29. Local Plan policies CS20, DM10.4 and CS16 seek to ensure that the 

City’s streets and walkways remain uncluttered in order to facilitate and 
prioritise pedestrian movement and permeability. 
 
 

30. The Corporation’s City Street Scene Manual recognizes that 
telecommunication kiosks have an important role to play within City 
streets, providing a valuable amenity within the public realm and can 
contribute positively to the street scene. The manual recognizes that 
retail or other forms of kiosk are not common within the City’s streets 
due to the general lack of space on the existing walkways and public 
spaces.  
 

31. The City’s streets have a high level of footfall during peak commuting 
hours and within the environs of major tourist attractions. During 2014 
St Paul’s Cathedral attracted 1.82 million paying visitors. This is in 
addition to approximately 1.2million worshippers and an unrecorded 
number of non-paying visitors. The environs of St Paul’s Cathedral is 

Page 40



consequently subject to particularly high levels of footfall which is only 
set to grow.  
 

 
32. Ease of pedestrian movement and the enhancement of the public realm 

is a priority for the City. The existing telephone boxes lie almost 
centrally within the footway which at this point is some 6.5m wide. The 
proposed payphone and ATM use external to the box would result in 
obstruction and detract from the permeability of the public realm. As 
such the proposal would be contrary to the aims of policies CS10, 
DM10.4, CS16, DM 16.1, and DM16.2 of the Local Plan and policies 
6.10B and 7.5B of the London Plan.  
 
 

Conclusion – Application for Full Planning Permission  

 
33. The unsympathetic conversion and solidification of the pair of telephone 

boxes would have an adverse impact upon the listed K6 telephone 
boxes. The development would detract from and obstruct public views 
of the Grade l listed St Paul’s Cathedral, the Grade II listed Statue of 
Queen Anne and the listed bollards, giving rise to less than substantial 
harm to the setting of the listed buildings. It would result in less than 
substantial harm to the character and appearance of this part of the St 
Paul’s Conservation Area.  
 

34. Within the City it is projected that footfall will increase as a result of 
growth and improved public transport services. The proposed 
conversion of the telephone boxes would give rise to the assembly of 
persons on the public footway which would unacceptably compromise 
the permeability of the public realm. 
 

35. Although the proposal would provide the convenience of an additional 
ATM and a more accessible payphone for some, such public benefits 
would not outweigh the identified harm. 
 
 

36. For the above reasons the proposal is considered to be contrary to 
Local Plan policies CS6 ‘Cheapside and St Paul’s’, CS10 ‘Design’, 
DM10.1 ‘New Development’, DM10.4 ‘Environmental Enhancement’, 
CS12 ‘Historic Environment’, DM12.1 ‘Managing change affecting all 
heritage assets and spaces’, DM12.2 ‘Development in conservation 
areas’, DM12.3 ‘Listed Buildings’, CS16 ‘Public Transport Streets and 
Walkways’, DM16.2 ‘Pedestrian movement’, London Plan policies 
6.10A/B ‘Walking’, 7.5A/B ‘Public Realm’ and 7.8D ‘Heritage Assets and 
Archaeology’ and the aims of chapters 7 and 12 of the NPPF. 
 

 

Page 41



Conclusion – Application for Listed Building Consent 

37. The telephone boxes contain their equipment and remain operational.
The alterations associated with the proposed change of use would be
detrimental to their character and appearance and to their special
architectural and historic interest and significance and would as a
consequence result in substantial harm to the listed buildings.

38. For the above reasons the proposal would be contrary to Local Plan
policies CS12 ‘Historic Environment’, DM12.1 ‘Managing change
affecting all heritage assets and spaces’, DM12.3 ‘Listed Buildings’,
London Plan Policy 7.8D ‘Heritage Assets and Archaeology’ and the
aims of chapter 12 of the NPPF.

Page 42



Background Papers 

Internal 
City Transportation - Memo dated 8th May 2015; 
Access Advisor – Email recommendations to applicant dated 11th May 
2015 and confirmation of acceptability dated 20th May 2015. 

External 
Design and Access Statement; 
Photomontage of sample converted K6 telephone box; 
Standard K6 telephone kiosk as existing: Drawing number T2; 
City of London Conservation Area Advisory Committee – Memo dated 
14th May 2015; 
Historic England Consultation response letter dated 23rd October 2015; 
Surveyor to the Fabric of St Paul’s Cathedral – letter dated 2nd 
November 2015. 

Page 43



Appendix A 

London Plan Policies 

39. Policy 6.10 Development proposals should ensure high quality
pedestrian environments and emphasise the quality of the pedestrian
and street space.

40. Policy 7.5 Development should make the public realm 
comprehensible at a human scale. Landscape treatment, street furniture
and infrastructure should be of the highest quality, have a clear
purpose, maintain uncluttered spaces and should contribute to the easy
movement of people through the space.

41. Policy 7.8 Development should identify value, conserve, restore, re-
use and incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of
heritage assets and their settings and make provision for the protection
of archaeological resources, landscapes and significant memorials.

Relevant Local Plan Policies 

CS10 Promote high quality environment 

To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

CS16 Improving transport and travel 

To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

CS20 Improve retail facilities 

To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 

Page 44



public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
DM10.1 New development 

 
To require all developments, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings, to be of a high standard of design and to avoid harm 
to the townscape and public realm, by ensuring that: 
 
a) the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in relation to 
their surroundings and have due regard to the general scale, height, 
building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain 
and materials of the locality and relate well to the character of streets, 
squares, lanes, alleys and passageways;  
b) all development is of a high standard of design and architectural 
detail with elevations that have an appropriate depth and quality of 
modelling; 
c) appropriate, high quality and durable materials are used; 
d) the design and materials avoid unacceptable wind impacts at 
street level or intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding 
townscape and public realm; 
e) development has attractive and visually interesting street level 
elevations, providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or 
enhance the vitality of the City's streets; 
f) the design of the roof is visually integrated into the overall design of the 
building when seen from both street level views and higher level 
viewpoints; 
g) plant and building services equipment are fully screened from 
view and integrated in to the design of the building. Installations that 
would adversely affect the character, appearance or amenities of the 
buildings or area will be resisted; 
h) servicing entrances are designed to minimise their effects on the 
appearance of the building and street scene and are fully integrated into 
the building's design; 
i) there is provision of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, including 
appropriate boundary treatments; 
j) the external illumination of buildings in carefully designed to ensure 
visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, and the discreet 
integration of light fittings into the building design; 
k) there is provision of amenity space, where appropriate; 
l) there is the highest standard of accessible and inclusive design. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



DM10.8 Access and inclusive design 
 
To achieve an environment that meets the highest standards of 
accessibility and inclusive design in all developments (both new and 
refurbished), open spaces and streets, ensuring that the City of London 
is: 
 
a) inclusive and safe for of all who wish to use it, regardless of 
disability, age, gender, ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance;  
b) convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring 
that everyone can experience independence without undue effort, 
separation or special treatment; 
c) responsive to the needs of all users who visit, work or live in the 
City, whilst recognising that one solution might not work for all. 

 
DM12.1 Change affecting heritage assets 

 
1. To sustain and enhance heritage assets, their settings and 
significance. 
 
2. Development proposals, including proposals for 
telecommunications infrastructure, that have an effect upon heritage 
assets, including their settings, should be accompanied by supporting 
information to assess and evaluate the significance of heritage assets 
and the degree of impact caused by the development.  
 
3. The loss of routes and spaces that contribute to the character 
and historic interest of the City will be resisted. 
 
4. Development will be required to respect the significance, 
character, scale and amenities of surrounding heritage assets and 
spaces and their settings. 
 
5. Proposals for sustainable development, including the 
incorporation of climate change adaptation measures, must be sensitive 
to heritage assets. 

 
DM12.2 Development in conservation areas 

 
1. Development in conservation areas will only be permitted if it 
preserves and enhances the character or appearance of the 
conservation area. 
 
2. The loss of heritage assets that make a positive contribution to 
the character or appearance of a conservation area will be resisted.  
 
3. Where permission is granted for the demolition of a building in a 
conservation area, conditions will be imposed preventing demolition 
commencing prior to the approval of detailed plans of any replacement 

Page 46



building, and ensuring that the developer has secured the 
implementation of the construction of the replacement building. 

 
DM12.3 Listed buildings 

 
1. To resist the demolition of listed buildings. 
 
2. To grant consent for the alteration or change of use of a listed 
building only where this would not detract from its special architectural or 
historic interest, character and significance or its setting. 

 
DM16.1 Transport impacts of development 

 
1. Development proposals that are likely to have effects on 
transport must be accompanied by an assessment of the transport 
implications during both construction and operation, in particular 
addressing impacts on: 
 
a) road dangers; 
b) pedestrian environment and movement; 
c) cycling infrastructure provision; 
d) public transport; 
e) the street network.  
 
2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans should be used to 
demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation's transportation 
standards. 

 
DM16.2 Pedestrian movement 

 
1. Pedestrian movement must be facilitated by provision of suitable 
pedestrian routes through and around new developments, by 
maintaining pedestrian routes at ground level, and the upper level 
walkway network around the Barbican and London Wall. 
 
2. The loss of a pedestrian route will normally only be permitted 
where an alternative public pedestrian route of at least an equivalent 
standard is provided having regard to: 
 
a) the extent to which the route provides for current and all 
reasonably foreseeable future demands placed upon it, including at peak 
periods;  
b) the shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 
 
3. Routes of historic importance should be safeguarded as part of 
the City's characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, including the 
route's historic alignment and width. 
 

Page 47



4. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights, 
with one to which the public have access only with permission will not 
normally be acceptable. 
 
5. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it 
enhances the connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City's street 
network. Spaces should be designed so that signage is not necessary 
and it is clear to the public that access is allowed. 
 
6. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged 
where this would improve movement and contribute to the character of 
an area, taking into consideration pedestrian routes and movement in 
neighbouring areas and boroughs, where relevant. 

 

Page 48



SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 15/00190/FULL  
 
BT Payphones, Outside 4 St Paul's Churchyard London  
 
Conversion of two BT K6 payphone kiosks to combination payphone 
and ATM booth and ancillary ATM secure room.  
 
 

REASONS FOR REFUSAL 
 
 
 1 The proposal would result in the erection of a visually impermeable 

structure which in conjunction with and exacerbated by the nature of 
the proposed use would detract from and result in less than substantial 
harm to heritage assets including the setting of St Paul's Cathedral and 
the Statue of Queen Anne, and would fail to preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of this part of the St Paul's Conservation 
Area resulting in less than substantial harm to St Paul's Conservation 
Area, and could obstruct the highway which would prejudice existing 
and future pedestrian movement and permeability, contrary to the 
following Development Plan policies: CS6, CS10, DM10.1, DM10.4, 
CS12, DM12.1, DM12.2, DM12.3, CS16 and DM16.2 of the Local Plan, 
Policies 6.10A/B, 7.5A/B and 7.8D of the London Plan and the aims of 
chapters 7 and 12 of the NPPF. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Local Plan, 

Supplementary Planning documents, and other written guidance has 
been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed.  
   
 However, notwithstanding the above, it has not been possible to 

achieve solutions to the problems as the proposals are contrary to 
planning policies, do not demonstrate other over-riding material 
considerations, and negotiations could not overcome the problems. 

Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 52



Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 17 November 2015 

Subject: 

Pay Phone Boxes  4 St Paul's Churchyard London EC4M 
8AY  

Conversion of two grade II listed BT type K6 telephone 
boxes to a combination of payphone and ATM kiosk with 
ancillary secure room. 

 

 

Public  

Ward: Bread Street For Decision  

Registered No:  15/00774/LBC Registered on:   
29 July 2015 

Conservation Area:      St Paul's Cathedral                           Listed Building:  
Grade II 

Summary 

 

For full report see application Ref: 15/00190/FULL 

 

 

Recommendation 

 

That Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent be refused for the 
reasons set out in the attached schedule. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7b



Page 54



Page 55



 

Page 56



Main Report 
Refer to Report Ref: 15/00190/FULL 

Relevant Local Plan Policies 

CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

DM12.1 Change affecting heritage assets 

1. To sustain and enhance heritage assets, their settings and
significance. 

2. Development proposals, including proposals for
telecommunications infrastructure, that have an effect upon heritage 
assets, including their settings, should be accompanied by supporting 
information to assess and evaluate the significance of heritage assets 
and the degree of impact caused by the development.  

3. The loss of routes and spaces that contribute to the character
and historic interest of the City will be resisted. 

4. Development will be required to respect the significance,
character, scale and amenities of surrounding heritage assets and 
spaces and their settings. 

5. Proposals for sustainable development, including the
incorporation of climate change adaptation measures, must be sensitive 
to heritage assets. 

DM12.3 Listed buildings 

1. To resist the demolition of listed buildings.

2. To grant consent for the alteration or change of use of a listed
building only where this would not detract from its special architectural or 
historic interest, character and significance or its setting. 

Page 57



SCHEDULE 

APPLICATION: 15/00774/LBC  

Pay Phone Boxes 4 St Paul's Churchyard London  

Conversion of two grade II listed BT type K6 telephone boxes to a 
combination of payphone and ATM kiosk with ancillary secure room. 

REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 1 The alterations associated with the proposed change of use of the 
listed telephone boxes would be detrimental to their character and 
significance and special architectural and historic interest resulting in 
substantial harm to the listed telephone boxes contrary to Local Plan 
Policies CS12, DM12.1, DM12.3, London Plan Policy 7.8D and the 
aims and objectives of Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 

Page 58



 

Committee: Date: 

Planning and Transportation 17 November 2015 

Subject: 
22 Bishopsgate London EC2N   
Construction of a building arranged on three basement 
floors, ground and 61 upper floors plus mezzanines and 
plant comprising floorspace for use within Classes A and 
B1 of the Use Classes Order and a publicly accessible 
viewing gallery and facilities (Sui Generis); hard and soft 
landscaping works; the provision of ancillary servicing and 
other works incidental to the development. (200,527sq.m 
GEA). 

Public 

Ward: Lime Street For Decision 

Registered No: 15/00764/FULEIA Registered on:  
24 July 2015 

Conservation Area:     St Helen's Place       Listed Building: No 

Summary 
 
The planning application relates to the site of the previously approved 63 
storey 'Pinnacle' scheme (304.9m AOD) which was implemented by the 
construction of basements up to ground floor slab level together with a 9 
storey core.  This planning permission has been implemented and is extant. 
The current scheme is for a tower comprising 62 storeys above ground 
(294.94m AOD) with 3 basements. 
The building would provide offices, retail at ground level, a viewing gallery with 
free public access at levels 58 and 58M (mezzanine) and a public restaurant 
and bar at levels 59, 60 and part 61.  The development would include a new 
covered publicly accessible east-west pedestrian route through the site linking 
Bishopsgate to Crosby Square and Undershaft. 
The gross floor area would be 200,527 sq.m (gea), comprising:  
188,875 sq.m offices,  
553 sq.m retail (Class A1/A2) 
4900 sq.m public viewing gallery (sui generis) 
5485 sq.m restaurant/bar (Class A3/A4) 
901 sq.m shared ClassA3/A4 and viewing gallery floorspace. 
An Environmental Statement accompanies the scheme. 
Similar to the Pinnacle, the building would be the tallest in the City and the 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7c



 

focal point of the Eastern Cluster, and would provide a significant increase in 
flexible office accommodation, supporting the strategic objective of the 
Corporation to promote the City as the leading international financial and 
business centre. 
The public realm benefits, most particularly the free public viewing gallery, are 
critical to the acceptability of this major development. 
The Mayor of London supports the scheme in strategic planning terms subject 
to matters of detail but emphasises that the public gallery with free access 
must be appropriately secured.  
Historic Royal Palaces, Royal Parks and the London Boroughs of Tower 
Hamlets and Islington have objected to the scheme on the grounds of its 
impact on the World Heritage Site and on views from the Royal Parks and 
from locations in the respective boroughs. Objections have also been received 
from members of the public relating principally to the architectural form of the 
building, its size and to its impact at street level.. The Leatherseller's 
Company has objected to the scheme's impact on lighting to their freehold 
properties in the vicinity, on the character of St Helen's Conservation Area 
and on the setting of the Tower of London and St Paul's Cathedral 
The impact of the scheme on the setting of conservation areas and listed 
buildings, on strategic views and on the settings of St Paul's Cathedral and 
the Tower of London has been assessed and is considered acceptable. 
To enable satisfactory servicing of this building it will require a freight 
consolidation operation. 
There would be some stopping-up of public highway to achieve the 
development but also the release of land back to public highway.  
Alterations to pedestrian crossings in Bishopsgate in connection with the 
development are being discussed with the City and with Transport for London 
and if required would be pursued under S278 of the Highway Act. 
It is concluded that the proposal accords with the development plan as a 
whole, tthat it would preserve the setting of listed buildings and preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the St Helen's Place Conservation 
Area, and that it is acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions and to a 
Section 106 agreement and any necessary agreements under Section 278 of 
the Highways Act 1980 being entered into to cover the matters set out in the 
report. 
 

Recommendation 
 
(1) That planning permission be granted for the above proposal in accordance 
with the details set out in the attached schedule subject to:  
(a) the Mayor of London being given 14 days to decide whether to allow the 
Corporation to grant planning permission as recommended, or to direct 
refusal, or to determine the application himself (Article 5(1)(a) of the Town & 
Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008); 

Page 60



 

(b) planning obligations and other agreements being entered into under 
Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 278 of the 
Highway Act 1980 in respect of those matters set out in the report, the 
decision notice not to be issued until the Section 106 obligations have been 
executed; 
(2) That you agree in principle that the land affected by the building which are 
currently public highway and land over which the public have right of access 
may be stopped up to enable the development to proceed and, upon receipt 
of the formal application, officers be instructed to proceed with arrangements 
for advertising and making of a Stopping-up Order for the various areas under 
the delegation arrangements approved by the Court of Common Council. 
 (3) That your Officers be instructed to negotiate and execute obligations in 
respect of those matters set out in "Planning Obligations" under Section 106 
and any necessary agreements under Section 278 of the Highway Act 1980. 

Page 61



 Page 62



 

 

Page 63



 

Main Report 

Site 
1. The site is located on the east side of Bishopsgate and is bounded by 

Bishopsgate to the west, 42-44 Bishopsgate and Great St Helen’s to the 
north, Undershaft and the building at 1 Great St Helen’s to the east and 
6-8 Bishopsgate to the south. The site includes Crosby Square, an area 
of public highway accessed from Great St Helen’s and by steps from 
Undershaft.  

2. The site was previously occupied by Crosby Court (38 Bishopsgate), 22-
24 Bishopsgate and 4 Crosby Square. These were demolished and 
works begun to implement a scheme granted planning permission in 
2007, for a building which became known as the ‘Pinnacle.’  
Foundations, three basements and the first 9 floors of the core were built 
before construction stopped in early 2012. The hoarded site has 
remained in this condition since then.  

3. The site context is varied in character comprising a number of significant 
listed buildings including St Helen’s Church (Grade I) Gibson Hall, 
Bishopsgate (Grade I), the Lloyd’s Building (Grade I), St Andrew 
Undershaft Church (Grade I), St Peter upon Cornhill Church (Grade I) as 
well as a number of Grade II listed buildings on Bishopsgate and 
Threadneedle Street to the north and west of the site. A small part of the 
site falls within the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area to the north and 
Bank Conservation Area adjoins immediately to the west. 

4. The site falls in the Eastern Cluster and is in the immediate vicinity of 
prominent buildings at 30 St Mary Axe, 122 Leadenhall Street, 1 
Undershaft, Tower 42 and the proposed development at 6-8 
Bishopsgate. 

5. Bishopsgate is a Local Distributor Road in the TLRN, a Red Route and is 
managed by Transport for London. 

Environmental Statement 
6. The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement (ES). 

The ES is a means of drawing together, in a systematic way, an 
assessment of a project’s likely significant environmental effects. This is 
to ensure that the importance of the predicted effects and the scope for 
reducing them are properly understood by the public and the competent 
authority before it makes its decision. 

7. The Local Planning Authority must take the Environmental Statement 
into consideration in reaching its decision as well as comments made by 
the consultation bodies and any representations from members of the 
public about environmental issues. 

8. Representations made by anybody required by the EIA Regulations to 
be invited to make representations and any representations duly made 
by any other person about the environmental effects of the development 
also forms part of the environmental information before your Committee. 

Page 64



 

9. The Environmental Statement is available in the Members' Room, along 
with the application, drawings, relevant policy documents and the 
representations received in respect of the application. 

Relevant Planning History 
Approved ‘Pinnacle’ scheme 
10. Planning permission was granted on 7 December 2006 (app no. 

05/00546/FULEIA) and followed by a revised scheme granted on 30 
November 2007 (app.no. 06/01123/FULEIA) for demolition and 
redevelopment to provide a building comprising 3 basements, ground 
and 62 upper floors for use within Class B1 office and Class A retail, 
together with public realm and other works incidental to the 
development. 

11. The approved building would be 304.9m AOD in height and would 
provide 149,834sq.m of floorspace comprising: 

 Offices     146,013sq.m      

 Retail at lower levels        1,122sq.m        

 Restaurant/bar at upper levels     1,614sq.m        

 Air intake in annexe building        1,085sq.m  
12. The ground floor of the approved scheme would contain retail 

accommodation on all sides, comprising shops and cafe/restaurant uses 
and a public restaurant, bar and a VIP lounge (and related kitchens) 
were proposed on the top four floors of the tower (levels 59 - 62). 

13. The tower would taper as it rises and the top third would spiral to a point. 
At the base the cladding would fan out into a “skirt” that projects over the 
public footways and Crosby Square at a height that varies from 
approximately 6m to 15m. This “skirt” is an integral part of the design but 
its main function is to deflect wind away from the ground. 

14. The office reception was at 1st and 2nd floors accessed from the ground 
level entrance in the Sliver building (between the tower and 6-8 
Bishopsgate) by escalators and lifts.  

15. Three levels of basement were proposed containing servicing facilities, 
parking and plant accommodation. Servicing would take place via two 
vehicle lifts from Undershaft. A courier delivery facility was provided at 
ground level adjacent to these lifts. 

16. A wide new pedestrian way was proposed under the building leading to 
the present location of Crosby Square and on to Undershaft, via a 
curving ramp. This would all become a public space with seating, a 
water feature and public art.  

17. Planning permission 06/01123/FULEIA was implemented following the 
discharge of a number of the planning conditions and although 
development stopped in 2012, it remains an extant scheme. The 
development was constructed to ground floor slab level with the core 
structure built to 9 levels. 

Page 65



 

18. At the time the ‘Pinnacle’ scheme was approved in 2006 and in its 
amended form in 2007 the policy context was different, albeit similar to 
that which pertains at the present time. 

19. The development plan, so far as relevant, was the 2002 Unitary 
Development Plan and the London Plan. Some Part II policies of the 
UDP were expired on 27/9/2007, prior to the 2nd determination. The 
London Plan in place was the inaugural London Plan (published 
February 2004). 

20. The Eastern Cluster whilst not subject to specific area based policy as a 
Key City Place was recognised as the area where a concentration of tall 
buildings could be delivered subject to satisfactory other criteria in order 
to meet floorspace demands and where ‘view’ constraints then in place 
would not prevent them. 

21. There were, in addition, different criteria for parking, cycle parking and 
the wording of other policies in relation to daylight/sunlight, security, 
microclimate and sustainability. There were also no specific policies 
around achieving public access without payment to upper level viewing 
galleries. 

Site Remedial works 
22. On 27 July 2015 planning permission was granted for the deconstruction 

of the existing core, part demolition of the floorslabs at ground and 3 
basement levels and the installation of new piling and transfer structures 
(app.no. 15/00221/FULL). The proposed preparatory demolition works 
and the introduction of new piles sought to reach a baseline position 
ready for the development of a new building although not specific to a 
particular design. 

23. On 22 September 2015 a further application was submitted for the same 
description showing a different piling design. This application has not yet 
been determined. 

Proposal 
24. The proposed development is for a tower comprising 62 storeys above 

ground (294.94m AOD) with 3 basements. 
25. The building would provide offices, retail at ground level, a viewing 

gallery with free entrance to the public at levels 58 and 58M and a public 
restaurant and bar at levels 59, 60 and part 61. 

26. The gross floor area would be 200,714sq.m (gea), comprising: 

 188,875sq.m offices,  

 553sq.m retail (Class A1/A2) 

 4900sq.m public viewing gallery (sui generis) 

 5485sq.m restaurant/bar (Class A3/A4) 

 901sq.m shared ClassA3/A4 and viewing gallery floorspace. 

Page 66



 

27. The proposed development, whilst larger, is 10m lower than the 
approved tower and would provide 30% more floorspace (50,880sq.m.). 

28. A covered, publicly accessible east-west pedestrian route is proposed 
through the site towards its southern end linking Bishopsgate to Crosby 
Square and Undershaft; the dedicated entrances to the public viewing 
gallery and restaurant/bar would be from this passage. 

29. Crosby Square would remain as public highway and would be 
landscaped under the proposed scheme. 

30. The development would be served by a double height office reception 
area which would occupy the length of the building’s Bishopsgate 
frontage. The building would have 2 main office entrances from 
Bishopsgate, a third from the new pedestrian route and 2 smaller office 
entrances on the east side of the building from Crosby Square. The 
location of the entrances around the building allow for the efficient 
dispersal of arrivals and departures without detracting from the 
appearance and function of the primary street facade onto Bishopsgate. 

31. 3 small retail units are proposed facing onto Crosby Square and 1 facing 
onto Great St Helens. 

32. It is proposed that the floor above the double height reception lobby 
would be occupied as a shared space for building occupiers, offering 
ancillary services to office tenants and their guests, providing for 
example food outlets, ancillary retail, and spaces for lectures, events and 
informal performances. Although not available to the public, the space 
would provide a range of services within the building for tenants and 
when viewed from outside the building would provide a visual vibrancy to 
the base in street level views.  The applicants advise that “the amenity 
areas in the building are an important ingredient in achieving the kind of 
working environments capable of attracting good tenants and the most 
promising employees.  They are also key in delivering the first WELL 
accredited building in the UK.  We are therefore committed to deliver 
1835sq.m of amenity space within the building (likely to be on levels 2, 7, 
25 and 41.)  This is in addition to the viewing gallery, restaurant and bar 
at the top of the building. 

33. The building has been designed to achieve an inclusive environment 
throughout, maximising access for all people. All entrances would 
provide level access into the building and internal spaces are designed 
to be suitable for use by people with disabilities. The public viewing 
gallery and bar/restaurant on the top floors would be fully accessible. 
Four car parking spaces would be provided for drivers with disabilities 
and provision would be made for adapted bicycles in the cycle storage 
areas which would be accessible by a dedicated lift. A pedestrian lift for 
use by the public would be provided within the site, immediately adjacent 
to the existing steps, to provide step free access between Undershaft 
and Crosby Square, thus improving accessibility through the site. 

34. The piling, basements and core that have already been constructed on 
site under the previous scheme impose constraints on the design and 

Page 67



 

extent of below ground works as it is proposed to retain and reuse these 
works as far as possible. 

35. The three basements would be retained and modified and would contain 
plant, servicing areas, cycle parking and facilities and other ancillary 
spaces. The service yard would be at 3rd basement level and would be 
accessed by 2 vehicle lifts from Undershaft; cycle spaces at 1st and 2nd 
basement would be accessed via a cycle stair from Undershaft and 4 car 
parking spaces for disabled drivers would be provided at 2nd basement. 

Consultations 
36. A Statement of Community Involvement has been submitted with the 

application outlining the developers’ engagement with the statutory 
authorities, other interest groups and with residents, building owners and 
occupiers in the surrounding area. A public exhibition was held on the 
site from 15 to 20 June 2015 attended by approximately 1200 people. A 
total of 114 visitors provided written feedback of which, the applicants 
advise, broadly 81% responded positively to the scheme and 19% 
negatively. 

37. Following receipt of the planning application by the City the application 
has been advertised and widely consulted on. Copies of all letters and e-
mails making representations are attached. 

38. The views of other City of London departments have been taken into 
account in the preparation of this redevelopment scheme and some 
detailed matters can be addressed by conditions and the Section 106 
agreement. These include matters relating to environmental controls 
such as noise, fume extract and ventilation, controls during construction 
activities, and security issues. 

39. Fifteen comments raising objections have been received from members 
of the public.  

40. Areas of objection which are raised cover the following: 

 a lack of refinement and character in the design of the building, 

 poor quality architecture 

 the detrimental effect of the blank flat glazed facades, 

 the bulk which is considered overbearing,  

 disproportionate massing to its surroundings,  

 overdevelopment of the site, 

 detrimental impact on views from the Tower of London and Tower 
Bridge, 

 detrimental impact on street level views where the development 
appears bland and uninviting, 

 harmful wind impacts, 

 detrimental effect on the City skyline, 

Page 68



 

 that no regard is paid to London and the historical City and 

 that more public cycle spaces should be provided. 
These issues are all addressed in the relevant parts of the report under 
Considerations. 

41. One local resident living off Cornhill has expressed concern regarding 
disturbance from night-time working during construction and has 
requested that restrictions are put on noisy working hours between 11pm 
and 7am. 

A Construction Management Plan will be submitted for approval which 
would control hours of noisy working and other environmental effects 
during construction. 

42. The Mayor of London considers the scheme to be broadly acceptable in 
strategic planning terms but that some parts of the proposals do not fully 
comply with the London Plan. In particular there is concern regarding the 
encroachment of the development on existing footway in Bishopsgate 
(amended plans have been submitted which address this point) and the 
Mayor expects that the size of the viewing gallery and the commitment to 
provide free public access to it should be appropriately secured as part 
of any planning permission. 

43. The Mayor supports the provision of offices and the mixed uses 
proposed as part of the scheme and notes that as no housing is included 
an affordable housing contribution would be sought by the City. No 
objection is raised to the height, bulk and massing of the development 
which, it is considered, is an appropriate addition to the eastern cluster. 
The scheme is not considered to cause harm to the World Heritage Site, 
listed buildings or conservation areas on which it might impact. 

44. The GLA is satisfied with the strategy for energy savings and climate 
change adaptation. 

45. Concerns expressed regarding the public realm on Bishopsgate and the 
provision of adequate cycling facilities have been addressed through 
revisions to the scheme. 

46. Transport for London has replied separately specifically addressing the 
transportation aspects of the scheme. 

It comments on access and public realm, parking, trip generation, 
public transport impact, pedestrians, cycling, servicing and 
construction, the impacts of solar glare, Travel Plan and mitigation 
payments. In particular it identifies certain outstanding concerns. It 
advises that aspirations to improve the quality of the public realm in 
Bishopsgate need to be agreed with the City and TfL and formalised 
through a Section 278 agreement. Concerns regarding areas to be 
stopped up in Bishopsgate have been addressed through revisions to 
the scheme although TfL is concerned that it does not reflect an 
improvement over the extant ‘Pinnacle’ scheme.  
A second letter has been received from TfL following amendments to 
the scheme. While raising concern regarding the methodology to 

Page 69



 

assess the impact on pedestrian comfort levels TfL concludes that, 
although there will be a worsening in comfort levels, these will be in 
part off set by public realm improvements and the omission of the trees 
previously proposed to be planted in Bishopsgate. TfL confirms it is 
satisfied with the number and range of cycle spaces provided they are 
confirmed to meet current standards39nd associated facilities to be 
provided in the scheme providing the details are secured by condition. 
TfL requires further clarification from the applicant regarding street 
lighting, oversailing of structure over Bishopsgate, and drainage from 
these structures. Details of these will be sought by condition. 
TfL strongly supports the proposal for a deliveries’ consolidation centre 
which it advises must be secured in perpetuity, monitored and 
enforced. TfL are in continuing discussions regarding the Construction 
Management Plan and Logistics Plan. 
TfL are in discussions with the applicants and the City regarding 
possible changes to the pedestrian crossing in Bishopsgate, north of 
Great St Helens, so that it is better suited to pedestrian desire lines. 
Any such highway alterations would be agreed under S 278. TfL also 
seek a S106 contribution towards future provision of cycle hire in the 
vicinity given the size of the scheme and for a proportion of CIL to be 
allocated towards London Underground mitigation. 
S106 considerations are addressed in the Planning Obligations and 
Community Infrastructure Levy section of this report. 

47. The Department for Communities and Local Government advises that it 
has no comments to make on the application. 

48. CABE have been consulted on the proposals and have not responded to 
the City as yet. CABE have provided views to the applicant. 

49. Historic Royal Palaces (HRP) has objected to the planning application. 
It’s letter outlines that it did not object to the previous ‘Pinnacle’ scheme 
because its view at the time was that “ the proposed Eastern Cluster as 
a whole was sufficiently distant from the Tower of London and 
permeable in configuration (at the upper levels against the sky) not to 
impinge on the western setting of the World Heritage Site.”  The letter 
continues to say that “the proposed building would be no taller than the 
‘Pinnacle’, but, where the latter diminished to a slender point, the new 
building would be broad shouldered, maintaining much of its width for 
much of its height, although stepping back from east to west towards the 
top. As shown in the visual representations supporting the application, it 
would present a relatively ‘slender’ profile to the City, but, unfortunately a 
wider, square-topped silhouette towards the Tower to the south-east.” 

In its letter HRP analyses London Views Management Framework 
2012 views 25A.3 from City Hall/Queens Walk and 10A.1 (Tower 
Bridge/North Bastion) stating that the proposed building would change 
the emerging form of the Eastern Cluster and that it would overshadow 
the Tower in its setting and further diminish the White Tower’s once 
dominant scale in relation to the City, which is identified as one of the 
attributes of the Outstanding Universal Value of the World Heritage 

Page 70



 

Site. HRP also raise concern that the proposed building would be 
dominant visually in views from the Inner Ward and from the Byward 
Tower entrance. 
The objections in relation to these views have been assessed and are 
covered from paras 133 and 139.of this report. 

50. The Royal Parks has objected to the planning application in terms of the 
height of the proposed building and its impact on strategic and general 
views from St James’s Park, Greenwich Park and three views from 
around The Mall which do not enjoy statutory protection. The impact on 
the St James Park and Greenwich Park views is assessed at paras 152 
and 156 of this report. The three viewing areas in and around the Royal 
Parks identified in the letter have been assessed and the proposal is not 
considered to cause harm. 

51. Historic England raises no objection to the application and welcomes the 
design approach as a positive addition to the eastern Cluster. 

52. The Surveyor to the Fabric of St Paul’s Cathedral has written a detailed 
response to the application proposals on behalf of the Chapter of the 
Cathedral. It identifies the primary interests of the Chapter in responding 
to the development to be: safeguarding the St Paul’s Heights and LVMF 
views, the stewardship of the internationally recognised profile and 
skyline of London, and the setting of the Grade I listed Cathedral and its 
environs. 

The Chapter considers that the development would not infringe 
protected views in respect of St Paul’s Cathedral and due to its location 
in the Eastern cluster would not significantly impact on the prominence 
of St Paul’s on the London skyline. It emphasises the need to secure 
high quality technical details and material specifications. The Chapter 
considers that there would be an impact on the setting of the Cathedral 
although this would not be harmful as defined in the NPPF. The 
Chapter considers that the provision of a free public viewing gallery is a 
welcome and necessary mitigating public benefit which must be 
carefully specified and controlled through the planning process  

53. Network Rail has advised it has no objection or comments to make. 
54. Nine London boroughs have been consulted and at the time of this 

report five replies received. 
55. Westminster has raised no objection to the scheme. 
56. The London Borough of Tower Hamlets (LBTH) has objected to the 

scheme. 
It states that the development has potentially significant implications for 
the setting of the Tower of London World Heritage Site and that LBTH 
does not agree with the conclusions of the Impact Assessment which 
states the development would have beneficial impact on views of and 
from within the World Heritage Site. 
The impact on the Tower of London WHS is assessed from para. 178 
of this report. 

Page 71



 

In addition they do not agree with the Impact Assessment’s conclusion 
that the effect on all views from Tower Hamlets would be moderate or 
major beneficial and feels that this position is not explained or 
objectively assessed. 
LBTH express concern that some specific views have only been shown 
as wireline assessments instead of being rendered. 
In response to this it is considered that with the combination of both 
rendered and wireline views there is adequate information available in 
the comprehensive townscape assessment to enable consultees to 
make an informed judgement. 
LBTH identify further development sites within their area which should 
have been included in the assessment of cumulative impact. To 
address this, the Environmental Statement has been amended to 
include three further sites which are within 1 km of the application site. 

57. The London Borough of Islington has made observations regarding the 
design of the development and its impact on heritage assets. It 
considers that “the proposed development would have a bland, bulky 
and inelegant appearance and would not achieve the high quality of 
design that is essential for tall buildings (and is required by London Plan 
policy 7.7). Due to its poor design, height and prominence, the proposed 
development would substantially harm the setting of the Bunhill Fields 
and Finsbury Square Conservation Area, and heritage assets within it. “ 

The impact on these views is considered from para 173 of this report. 
58. The London Borough of Camden raises no objection to the proposal 

stating that the building would be viewed in the context of an established 
cluster of high buildings and therefore would not further impact on views 
from the borough. 

59. The London Borough of Hackney advises it has no objection. 
60. The Church of St Helen’s Bishopsgate has provided a detailed response 

to the application. The Church does not oppose the principle of 
development on this site providing the short and long term impacts are 
assessed and robust mitigation is put in place to alleviate the pressures 
of development. 

The Church is in discussion with the developers in agreeing a 
‘Neighbourly Matters Deed’ which will include amongst others, details 
for noise and vibration monitoring, and works affecting the structural 
integrity of the building and hours of working during construction. 
The Church raises concern that overshadowing analysis indicates the 
churchyard will no longer receive sunlight; this would have a 
detrimental impact on the ambience of the churchyard and on the 
London plane trees in the churchyard. In addition more pressure would 
be placed on private and public realm around the site and considers 
that specific mitigation should be sought to assist the Church in 
additional maintenance commitments and for improvements to the 
churchyard. 

Page 72



 

In this respect funding would be sought through the S106 agreement 
for mitigation works to improve and enhance the Churchyard. 
The Church is concerned that visibility of the Church from Bishopsgate 
would be obscured by the development, in particular the wind 
mitigation measures (canopy and screens) on the north-west corner of 
the building which extend across Great St Helen’s and has requested 
that it continues to be consulted on the details of this part of the 
proposal. The view from Bishopsgate is considered at para 193 of this 
report. Where appropriate the City undertakes to consult the Church in 
respect of relevant detailed submissions. 
Concerns are also expressed regarding increased vehicular, pedestrian 
and cycle activity in Undershaft and the pressures this places on the 
public realm. The Church consider a robust public realm strategy is 
needed to mitigate some of these environmental impacts and requests 
that the City is pro-active in developing a co-ordinated plan along with 
relevant stakeholders. 

61. The Leathersellers’ Company have responded to the application in two 
letters. 

In its first letter the Company has objected to the scheme on the 
grounds that the bulk of the development would have a detrimental 
impact on daylighting to a number of their freehold properties in the 
area and that the development would be detrimental to the ambience 
and character of the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area. 
The City’s daylight and sunlight policy (Local Plan policy DM10.7) is 
primarily applicable to the protection of residential amenity. The 
applicants have provided daylight and sunlight information specific to 
the properties to which the Leathersellers’ Company refer. None of 
these properties are in residential use. 
Applying BRE criteria, the results show that while the impact on 
daylight and sunlight to the properties would be significant when 
compared with the existing cleared site, the impact would not be 
noticeably worse than that caused by the ‘Pinnacle’ scheme.  
In its second letter the Company considers that “the bulk and massing 
of the proposed development is highly inappropriate in this location” 
and outlines a number areas of objection. 
It raises concerns that the Company was not directly consulted by the 
applicant in spite of being a major stakeholder in properties in the area 
which it considers would be materially prejudiced by the development. 
It states that the proposed building does not compare favourably with 
the extant Pinnacle scheme which was a building of lower density and 
more sympathetic design to its surroundings. 
It considers the proposal would create an unsatisfactory relationship 
with the Tower of London, St Paul’s Cathedral and the Church of St 
Helen’s and would cause significant harm to the character of St Helen’s 
Place Conservation Area by virtue of its height and form and the 

Page 73



 

increasing perception of the conservation area being hemmed in by tall 
buildings. 
Taking into account legislation and national and local policy in respect 
of heritage assets, the Company considers the balance of 
considerations weighs heavily in favour of refusal. It also considers the 
proposal would detract from the setting of St Paul’s Cathedral. 
The City’s assessment of the impact on the Tower of London, St Paul’s 
Cathedral and other heritage assets is outlined at para 178 onwards of 
this report. 
The Company also raises concerns about the extent of additional 
pressure that a development of this scale would place on the transport 
network and on local streets and footways and considers that mitigation 
for this has not been properly addressed in the application.  

62. The occupiers of 1 Great St Helens immediately adjoining the site advise 
that they are in continuing discussions with the developers regarding the 
impact of the scheme on their building and that they have nothing they 
currently wish to raise with the City. 

63. The City Heritage Society advise that as the proposed tower is in the 
area of the City designated for tall buildings they consider the design to 
be an improvement on the design of the extant scheme. They request 
that any window cleaning equipment should not be visible when not in 
use. 

64. London Heathrow Airport initially raised two areas of objection on the 
grounds that the proposal conflicts with safeguarding criteria: 

 The proposed building would be visible to the Heathrow 10cm radar 
and could therefore result in a loss of coverage or impairment to 
the performance of the radar. 

 The proposed construction methodology and height of cranes is 
likely to have an impact on Heathrow arrival procedures to the 
extent that they would not be able to use a number of their 
procedure routes.  

Following further assessment by National Air Traffic Services (NATS), it 
is confirmed that the building would not result in a loss of coverage but 
would result in false radar returns which would be unacceptable. NATS 
advise that this can be mitigated by modification to the radar system. 
Heathrow advised that it would remove its objection to the method of 
construction once it is confirmed that no construction equipment would 
be placed on top of the building and no crane would be erected above 
the height of the Shard. 
The developers have submitted a revised Construction Management 
Plan which indicates that no structures or cranes would exceed the 
height of 309mAOD.  
Heathrow has confirmed that it is satisfied the development would not 
prejudice their operations providing the conditions as recommended by 
themselves and NATS are imposed and complied with. 

Page 74



 

London City Airport have recommended the imposition of conditions to 
require mitigation measures to be identified and agreed following the 
results of technical assessment of the impact of the development on 
their operations. 
The Environment Agency advises it has no objections to the scheme. 

65. Natural England has no comments to make. 
66. Thames Water has recommended a number of Informatives to be 

attached to the planning permission if approved. 
67. The City Police advise the submission is broadly acceptable and that 

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) should be procured and installed to 
PAS68/69standards. 

Policy Context 
68. The development plan consists of the London Plan 2015 and the City of 

London Local Plan 2015. The London Plan sets out the Mayor’s vision 
for London up to 2036, and includes policies aimed at delivering 
employment growth of 57,000 or 13.5% in the City of London in this 
period. The London Plan identifies the City as falling within London’s 
Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and requires that planning policy should 
sustain and enhance the City as a “strategically important, globally-
orientated financial and business centre”, ensuring that development of 
office provision is not strategically constrained and that provision is 
made for a range of occupiers, especially financial and business 
services. To deliver office growth, the Plan encourages the renewal, 
modernisation and increase in the office stock, where there is strategic 
and local evidence of sustained demand for office-based activities. 

69. The London Plan requires that new development should not adversely 
affect the safety of the transport network and should take account of 
cumulative impacts of development on transport requirements. New 
development is required to be of the highest architectural quality and not 
cause harm to the amenity of surrounding land and buildings, in respect 
of overshadowing, wind and micro climate. The Plan contains detailed 
guidance on the location and development of tall buildings, requiring that 
they should only be considered in areas whose character would not be 
adversely affected by the scale, mass and bulk of the building, relate 
well to surrounding buildings and public realm and, individually or as a 
group, improve the legibility of an area and enhance the skyline and 
image of London. Tall buildings should not impact adversely on local or 
strategically defined views. The impact of tall buildings in sensitive 
locations should be given particular consideration. Such locations 
include conservation areas, the settings of listed buildings and World 
Heritage Sites. 

70. The City of London Local Plan provides detailed, City specific, guidance 
on development. A key objective is to ensure that the City remains the 
world’s leading international, financial and business services centre, 
planning for 1,150,000 square metres of additional office floorspace 
between 2011 and 2026. The bulk of this growth is expected to take 

Page 75



 

place within the City’s Eastern Cluster. The Eastern Cluster is identified 
as an area where new tall buildings may be appropriate, adding to and 
enhancing the existing tall buildings cluster and the overall appearance 
of the cluster on the skyline, while adhering to the principles of 
sustainable development and conserving heritage assets and their 
settings. A significant growth in office floorspace and employment is 
envisaged, particularly through the development of tall buildings on 
appropriate sites. The Plan seeks to ensure that streets, spaces and the 
public realm are enhanced to accommodate the scale of development 
envisaged, and that the area remains a safe and attractive area to work 
and visit. 

71. London Plan and Local Plan policies that are most relevant to the 
consideration of this case are set out in Appendix A to this report. 

72. There is relevant City of London supplementary planning guidance in 
respect of: Planning Obligations, Protected Views, Bank and St Helen’s 
Place Conservation Areas, Open Spaces Strategy and Tree Strategy, as 
well as the City of London Community Infrastructure Levy Charging 
Schedule. There is relevant Mayoral supplementary planning guidance 
in respect of Sustainable Design and Construction, London View 
Management Framework, Accessible London, Control of Dust and 
Emissions during Construction and Demolition, and Use of Planning 
Obligations in the funding of Crossrail and the Mayoral CIL. 

73. Government Guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF), issued in March 2012. The NPPF sets out a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, requiring that 
development which accords with an up-to-date local plan should be 
approved without delay. The NPPF identifies a number of key issues for 
the delivery of sustainable development, those most relevant to this case 
are: building a strong, competitive economy, placing significant weight 
on supporting economic growth, job creation and prosperity; promoting 
sustainable transport and requiring transport assessments where 
significant transport movements are envisaged; requiring good design, 
ensuring buildings function well and add to the overall quality of an area; 
meeting the challenge of climate change and addressing the potential for 
flooding; conserving and enhancing the natural environment; conserving 
and enhancing the historic environment, attaching great weight to the 
conservation of heritage assets of the highest significance. 

Considerations 
74. The Corporation, in determining the planning application has the 

following main statutory duties to perform:- 
To have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as 
material to the application, any local finance considerations so far as 
material to the application, and other material considerations. (Section 
70(2) Town & Country Planning Act 1990); 
To determine the application in accordance with the development plan 
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. (Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004); 

Page 76



 

To pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area 
(S 72(1) Planning, Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act 1990); 

75. In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. (S66 (1) 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990); in this 
case the duty is to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
the settings of listed buildings. 

76. The effect of the duties imposed by section 66(1) and 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is, 
respectively, to require decision-makers to give considerable weight and 
importance to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed buildings, 
and to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of a conservation area. 

77. In respect of sustainable development the NPPF states at paragraph 14 
that ‘at the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development which should be seen as a golden thread running through 
both plan-making and decision taking… for decision taking this means: 
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay...’. 

78. The relevance of the extant planning permission to the consideration of 
this planning permission is covered at para 81 of this report. 

79. There are policies in the Development Plan which support the proposal 
and others which do not. It is necessary to assess all the policies and 
proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in the light of 
the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it. 

Principal Issues 
80. The principal issues in considering this application are: 

 The extant planning permission 

 The economic benefits of the scheme; 

 Impact on retail and the public realm including provision of a 
publically available viewing gallery free of charge; 

 The appropriateness of the bulk, massing and design of the 
proposals. 

 The impact of the proposals on the London skyline including on 
views in the  London Views Management Framework; 

 The impact of the proposal on heritage assets;. 

 Servicing, Transport and impact on public highways 

 The impact of the proposal on nearby buildings and spaces, 
including environmental impacts such as daylight and sunlight, wind 
microclimate, solar glare and energy and sustainability. 

Page 77



 

 The extent to which the proposals comply with Government policy 
advice (NPPF) and with the relevant policies of the Development 
Plan. 

The extant planning permission 
81. The approved scheme is relevant to the consideration of the scheme in 

two main ways. 
First it forms part of the planning history; the fact that planning 
permission was granted (and implemented) and the reasoning which 
led to the decision to grant planning permission in December 2006 and 
in November 2007 is a relevant factor to take into account. In order for 
a previous decision properly to be taken into account it is necessary 
that not just the fact of the determination, and grant of planning 
permission, should be known to the committee and taken into account, 
but that regard should also be had to the basis of the decision. 
Second, as an implemented planning permission the 2007 planning 
permission is capable of being a ‘fall back’, in the sense that if planning 
permission is not granted for the current application, it is open to the 
applicant or any other person with control of the site, to carry out the 
development authorised by the 2007 planning permission. When 
considering the ‘fall back’ it is first necessary to consider whether, in 
the event that planning permission is not granted for the current 
application, there is a greater than theoretical prospect that 
development might be carried out in reliance on the 2007 planning 
permission. If there is such a prospect, the fall back is a material 
consideration to be taken into account.  
Once the first stage has been passed, the second stage is to consider 
what weight should be attached to the fall back; the weight to be 
afforded to a material consideration is a matter for the City as planning 
authority. The factors to be taken into account when considering the 
weight to be afforded to the fall back include the extent of the prospect 
that the development will be carried out in accordance with the 2007 
planning permission, and the degree of harm to planning interests 
which would occur if the development authorised by the 2007 planning 
permission were to be carried out.  
The applicants have advised as follows regarding the prospect of the 
implemented 2007 scheme being carried out: 
The existence of the approved and implemented Pinnacle consent is 
an important element in the valuation of the freehold interest in the site. 
Although the occupier market has evolved, and the detail of the 
Pinnacle scheme no longer represents the assessment of the best-
achievable design approach to and market solution for this key site at 
the apex of the Eastern Cluster, the owners would, if it became 
necessary to do so, revert to building out the Pinnacle scheme in order 
to achieve a tall building worthy of this location. None of the works 
carried out on site under the Site Remedial Works consent have 
rendered it impossible to re-commence the building of the Pinnacle. 
The possibility of resuming the implemented 2007 scheme is 

Page 78



 

accordingly not merely a theoretical prospect. 

Economic Issues and Need for the Development 
82. The City of London, as one of the world's leading international financial 

and business centres, contributes significantly to the national economy 
and to London’s status as a ‘World City’. Rankings such as the Global 
Financial Centres Index (Z/Yen Group) and the Cities of Opportunities 
series (PwC) consistently score London as the world’s leading financial 
centre, alongside New York. The City is a leading driver of the London 
and national economies, generating £45 billion in economic output (as 
measured by Gross Value Added), equivalent to 13% of London’s output 
and 3% of total UK output. The City is a significant and growing centre of 
employment, providing employment for over 400,000 people.  

83. The City is the home of many of the world’s leading markets. It has world 
class banking, insurance and maritime industries supported by world 
class legal, accountancy and other professional services and a growing 
cluster of technology, media and telecommunications (TMT) businesses. 
These office-based economic activities have clustered in or near the City 
to benefit from the economies of scale and in recognition that physical 
proximity to business customers and rivals can still provide a significant 
competitive advantage.  

84. Alongside changes in the mix of businesses operating in the City, the 
City’s workspaces are becoming more flexible and able to respond to 
changing occupier needs. Offices are increasingly being managed in a 
way which encourages flexible and collaborative working and provides a 
greater range of complementary facilities to meet workforce needs. 
There is increasing demand for smaller floorplates and tenant spaces, 
reflecting this trend and the fact that a majority of businesses in the City 
are classed as Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs). 

85. The National Planning Policy Framework establishes a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and places significant weight on 
ensuring that the planning system supports sustainable economic 
growth, creating jobs and prosperity. 

86. The City of London lies within the Central Activities Zone (CAZ), which is 
London’s geographic, economic and administrative core and contains 
London’s largest concentration of financial and business services. The 
London Plan 2015 strongly supports the renewal of office sites within the 
CAZ to meet long term demand for offices and support London’s 
continuing function as a World City. The Plan recognises the City of 
London as a strategic priority and stresses the need ‘to sustain and 
enhance it as a strategically important, globally-oriented financial and 
business services centre’ (policy 2.10). CAZ policy and wider London 
Plan policy acknowledge the need to sustain the City’s cluster of 
economic activity and policies 2.11 and 4.3 provide for exemptions from 
mixed use development in the City in order to achieve this aim.  

87. The London Plan projects future employment growth across London, 
projecting an increase in City employment of 71,000 between 2011 and 
2036, a growth of 13.5%. Further office floorspace would be required in 

Page 79



 

the City to deliver this scale of growth and contribute to the maintenance 
of London’s World City Status.  

88. Strategic Objective 1 in the City of London Local Plan 2015 is to 
maintain the City’s position as the world’s leading international financial 
and business centre. Policy CS1 aims to increase the City’s office 
floorspace by 1,150,000sq.m gross during the period 2011-2026, to 
provide for an expected growth in workforce of 55,000. The Local Plan, 
policy DM1.2 further encourages the provision of large office schemes, 
while DM1.3 encourages the provision of space suitable for SMEs. The 
Local Plan recognises the benefits that can accrue from a concentration 
of economic activity and seeks to strengthen the cluster of office activity, 
particularly in the Eastern Cluster, identifying this area as the main focus 
for future office development and new tall buildings. Strategic Objective 
2 and Policy CS7 actively promote a significant increase in office 
floorspace within the Eastern Cluster, providing for high quality 
floorspace to meet the varied needs of office occupiers and attract new 
inward investment into the City. 

89. The provision of a substantial and tall office building in this location 
meets the aims of policy CS7 in delivering a significant growth in both 
office floorspace and employment.  It has been accepted in principle 
through the implemented, but not completed, permission for the 
Pinnacle. The current application provides for an increase in floorspace 
and employment, but also provides a better match with emerging market 
requirements for flexibility and complementary uses, in line with the 
requirements of the Local Plan. 

90. The proposed development would result in an additional 188,875sq.m 
gross of additional B1(a) office floorspace, further consolidating the 
nationally significant cluster of economic activity in the City and 
contributing to its attractiveness as a world leading international financial 
and business centre. This amount of floorspace would contribute 
towards meeting the aims of the London Plan for the CAZ and deliver 
approximately 16% of the additional office floorspace sought in Local 
Plan policy CS1. The development would accommodate approximately 
11,500 office workers. 

91. The proposed development includes large uniform floorplates which 
maximise internal usable areas, which addresses the needs of 
international business in accordance with Local Plan policy DM1.2. The 
building design enables this floorspace to be used flexibly, with floors 
that can be subdivided to meet the needs of up to 4 separate tenants, 
which could address the growing demand in the City by smaller tenants 
thus meeting the requirements of policy DM1.3. The design encourages 
collaborative and team working in accordance with the current approach 
to future workstyles and work places and provides for complementary 
commercial activities in accordance with policies CS7, DM1.2 and 
DM1.5. To attract and encourage small, start-up businesses the 
developers have stated that they “will commit to providing 50 
workspaces at 50% of the market rent for their first five years in the 
building.” 

Page 80



 

Retail Provision 
92. The scheme would deliver 6038sq.m of retail floorspace.  
93. Four Class A1 units (553sq.m) would be located at ground level to the 

rear of the building facing onto Crosby Square and onto the route from 
Great St Helen’s to Crosby Square. 

94. A Class A3/A4 restaurant bar (5485sq.m) would be located on the top 
two floors of the building; this would be significantly larger than that 
approved in the extant scheme. Due to its location it would not detract 
from the function and character of the nearby Principal Shopping 
Centres at Liverpool Street and Leadenhall Market. 

95. The restaurant/bar would have a maximum capacity for 588 people 
(including staff). Access would be from an entrance in the proposed ‘art 
corridor’ from where, following security clearance, customers would 
travel by escalator to the upper mezzanine level giving access to the 
upper deck of two dedicated double decked lift cars. These would 
terminate at level 59 and access between the two restaurant/bar floors 
and an external terrace at level 61 would be by stair or separate lift. 

96. Egress would be via the same main lifts to upper mezzanine level and 
descent by stairs to final exit onto Great St Helens. 

97. Provision is made in the main circulation areas for people with 
disabilities to use lifts instead of the stairs or escalators. 

98. The retail units would be serviced from the main servicing bays at 
basement level 3. 

Public Realm 
99. The permitted ‘Pinnacle’ scheme improved permeability across the site 

and in the wider area by introducing an east-west open passage with 
public right of way across the centre of the site. The present scheme 
also proposes a new east-west pedestrian route located more to the 
southern end of the site linking Bishopsgate through to Crosby Square. 
The entrances to the route would be prominent from Bishopsgate and 
from Undershaft. 

100. The route in this new position would be narrower and less generous than 
that previously approved due to the position of core and vehicle lift 
construction already implemented and to be retained. 

101. In order to enhance the space the developer intends to develop the route 
as an ‘art corridor’ with the display of various forms of artwork, details of 
which would be controlled and sought by condition. Crosby Square 
would also be landscaped as part of the scheme in accordance with 
details to be sought by condition and under a Section 278 agreement. 

Public Viewing Gallery 
102. A significant contribution for the public would be the provision of a public 

viewing gallery at levels 58 and 58 M of the building (264m and 270m 
AOD) which would be accessible at no charge. The double height (9m 
internal height) viewing gallery would provide 4900sq.m of floorspace 

Page 81



 

and would offer panoramic views across London, particularly to the west 
and south. Access would be from a dedicated entrance in the ‘art 
corridor’, clearly visible from Bishopsgate. Entrance to the gallery would 
be ticketed and queuing and security clearance would take place inside 
the building at ground level. From here visitors would proceed to level 1 
and to the lower level of two dedicated double decked lifts which would 
terminate at level 58M. Visitors leaving the viewing gallery would exit the 
building on to Great St Helens. 

103. The viewing gallery would have capacity for 294 people (including staff) 
based on emergency escape provision. The opening hours for the free 
viewing gallery which would be secured under the S106 agreement 
would be 10am to 6pm Mondays to Fridays, 10am to 5pm on Saturdays 
and 10am to 4pm on Sundays and public holidays. Outside of the 
opening hours it is proposed that the gallery space would be used for 
Class A3/A4 purposes, potentially in connection with the restaurant/bar 
at levels 59 and 60. This facility would ordinarily be open to all members 
of the public including those who choose to stay on after visiting the 
viewing gallery. From time to time the bar would be available for private 
hire / social functions in a manner typical of pubs and bars elsewhere in 
London. 

104. The provision of a free public viewing gallery would accord with London 
Plan policy 7.7 and is regarded as an essential element of the proposed 
development. Given the building’s full site coverage except for the new 
pedestrian route, and the significant impact of the building on its 
environs, the provision of freely accessible public realm space close to 
the top of the building is a necessary alternative offer for public benefit. 
The gallery would improve the accessibility and inclusivity of the building 
to members of the public and deliver a new space and unique vantage 
point for London’s residents, workers and visitors. 

105. The provision of the public viewing gallery and the details of its operation 
would be secured by the S106 agreement in accordance with details set 
out in the S106 section of this report. Detailed matters such as internal 
layout; extent of catering facilities, the “look and feel” of the interior and 
the reception areas, visitor management are reserved for future approval 
to ensure an inclusive space for the public in the broader sense. 

Height and Bulk 
106. The proposed tower is located at the centre of the Eastern Cluster when 

seen from the west on the site of the previously approved ‘Pinnacle’ 
scheme. The Pinnacle was designed to be the tallest in, and at the apex 
of, the emerging City cluster of tall buildings in the City.  

107. The City of London Local Plan identifies the Eastern Cluster policy area 
as the preferred location for siting tall buildings where deemed 
appropriate. Therefore the principle of the largest tower in the cluster at 
this point has been established in broad policy terms and by the extant 
permission for a tower on this site. 

108. The proposed tower rises to 294.94 AOD and would be the tallest tower 
currently proposed in the City cluster. As a comparison, the following list 

Page 82



 

outlines the heights of existing and permitted towers in the City cluster 
(in descending AOD height order): 

 The Pinnacle (existing consent on this site) 304.9 m 

 22 Bishopsgate : 294.94m 

 122 Leadenhall Street ; 239.40m 

 Heron Tower ; 217.80m 

 52-54 Lime Street : 206.50m 

 Tower 42 : 199.60m 

 30 St Mary Axe : 195m 

 6-8 Bishopsgate : 185.10m 

 100 Bishopsgate : 184m 

 40 Leadenhall Street : 170m 

 150 Bishopsgate : 151m 

 Willis Building / 51 Lime Street :138m 

 99 Bishopsgate ; 118m 
109. The building is of a substantial scale and height and in terms of overall 

bulk would have a significant and far reaching impact on long views 
across London as well as a substantial impact on local townscape views. 

110. A tower of this scale and height is considered appropriate at this location 
as it sits within the visual centre of the cluster of towers in key views 
from the west such as from Waterloo Bridge. In these views the cluster 
(both in terms of existing and permitted towers) rises from the north 
towards the application site, visually sloping away from St Paul’s 
Cathedral, before falling in height towards the south. In addition, the 
principle of developing the tallest building on the western side of the 
cluster would create a diminishing scale of the cluster eastwards towards 
the Tower of London in key views from the east.  

111. The tower’s height would introduce a more vertical emphasis to the 
centre of the cluster when seen from some viewpoints and would 
enhance its dynamic profile on London’s skyline. 

112. The proposed tower at 294m AOD would be some 10m lower than the 
extant Pinnacle scheme for this site and its visual impact in terms of 
height and bulk is comparable to the previous scheme, albeit with 
somewhat more bulk on its upper storeys, but not in a harmful manner. 

Design Approach 
113. The design approach is calm and restrained, which is considered 

appropriate given the substantial scale of the building and its presence 
on the skyline. The intention is to create an elegant, abstract form with a 
strong verticality to subdue and lighten its impact on the skyline. The 
design was substantially amended during pre-application discussions 
with the City and key stakeholders to achieve a simpler and sleeker form 

Page 83



 

whilst enhancing its vertical proportions and stepped profile on the upper 
storeys. 

114. The design approach contrasts with the designs of the other tall 
buildings in the cluster to enhance the refined and restrained dialogue 
between the towers. In particular the angled, faceted, stepped design 
with its narrower prow facing west would introduce a new aesthetic to 
the cluster of towers. Its design would introduce variety alongside the 
stacked cubic composition of 6-8 Bishopsgate; the steep, raking, 
triangular silhouette of the Leadenhall building; the crystalline form of 52-
54 Lime Street; the concave facades of 51 Lime Street; the distinctive 
cylindrical form of 30 St Mary Axe; the intricately modelled façade of the 
Lloyd’s Building and the layered form of Heron Tower. The result is a 
cluster rich in variety and contrast yet having a coherent urban form on 
the skyline. 

115. The tower is aligned with its narrow prow facing south westwards as a 
response to the sensitive views from the west. In particular, this 
alignment would make the tower appear more slender and vertically 
modelled from Waterloo and Hungerford Bridges and from Bank junction 
and other viewpoints. 

116. The shoulders of the tower drop downwards in clear steps resulting in a 
simple stepped profile tapering so that the tower diminishes on its upper 
storeys, while responding to the height of the neighbouring towers such 
as the 122 Leadenhall building and the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate tower 
to the south as well as to the towers to the north. 

117. The facades are chamfered and faceted in a series of parallel angled 
lines, which would result in a degree of restrained modelling that assists 
in breaking down the massing. The facets would introduce a degree of 
verticality to the tower, which is welcomed given the width of the western 
and eastern elevations. In addition, the facets would reflect light, the sky 
and clouds in different ways to animate the facades. The stepped 
façades and angled folds break the western facade into three sections 
that reduce its scale in views from the west. 

118. The tower is wholly glazed with storey height glazed panels. The glazing 
would be clear with a low iron content resulting in a lighter appearance 
compared with neighbouring towers such as the Leadenhall building and 
Tower 42. The glazing would appear transparent for much of the time 
expressing the activity and inner workings of the building such as the 
winter gardens and public viewing gallery, restaurants and bar. At other 
times, depending on light conditions the facades would be semi-
reflective, reflecting sun and cloud resulting in a softer appearance on 
the skyline assisting in diminishing the sense of scale of the building. 

119. A key element of the scheme is the free public Viewing Gallery at level 
58. Substantial work has gone into the design of this element of the 
scheme from the prominent ground floor entrance and lobby to the 
escalator and lift access to the viewing gallery level. The viewing gallery 
would be accessed via a mezzanine floor allowing a striking introduction 

Page 84



 

to the 9m high space and the outstanding views to the west, south and 
east through full height glazing.  

120. External loggia terraces are proposed at levels 48 and 50; these would 
be enclosed by glazed cladding to match the remainder of the elevation 
and roofed over with an open louvre system to match those of the roof 
top plant to ensure a cohesive fifth elevation to the building. 

121. Ventilation for plant is integrated in to the design of the facades at levels 
07-07M, 25-25M and 41-41M and at the top of the building with half 
panel width of louvres alongside a glazed panel to ensure a degree of 
continuity to the facades. The maintenance and cleaning equipment is 
fully integrated in to the design of the building with four cleaning cradles 
at the roof of level 58 and on the uppermost roof. These units, when 
parked, would be below the roof line and concealed from view. 

122. The lower floors of the tower have been designed to be recessed behind 
the main building façade with the front façade characterised by striking 
escalators projecting proud of the spacious office reception. The angled 
escalators combined with the imposing office reception would introduce 
dynamism and drama to the Bishopsgate frontage, which assists in 
breaking up and enlivening what is a very long frontage. It is the 
applicant’s intention to introduce public art to the lower storeys of the 
building and this would be conditioned. 

123. The Public Viewing gallery entrance at the corner of the new pedestrian 
passage with Bishopsgate has been designed as a predominantly 
glazed façade so as to signal the Viewing Gallery, a key and essential 
part of the scheme. The fully glazed frontages at the base of the building 
would allow views to the activities within the office reception area. This, 
along with the small retail units, would assist in enlivening the public 
realm around the building. 

124. The generous entrance reception to the public Viewing Gallery would 
create a dynamic public focus to enliven the passage. The elevations 
fronting the passage are faceted which enhances the rhythm of the 
façade and mitigates wind impact. The passage is 3.5m wide at its 
narrowest and its west and east entrances splays to a width of 14m on 
Bishopsgate and 8m on Crosby Square. The passage would be 9m high 
which is considered to be appropriate and combined with the 
predominantly glazed façade and the activity of the entrances would 
encourage its use as an important part of the public realm. The applicant 
is proposing the passage incorporates public art and these works would 
be covered by condition.  

125. The Crosby Square area represents a challenge in urban design 
because of the level changes and staircase to Undershaft and the 
proximity to the vehicular servicing entrances. The square would link the 
new pedestrian passage from Bishopsgate to Undershaft and to the 
short road from Great St Helen’s ensuring permeability through the site 
and linking to existing routes and thoroughfares. 

126. The building frontages on the south side of Crosby Square would create 
a visual barrier, shielding the public realm of Crosby Square from the 

Page 85



 

vehicular servicing bay. Views of Crosby Square and the passageway 
from Undershaft and Bishopsgate have been assessed and considered 
to provide an appropriate degree of visual way finding and permeability. 
The small retail units on Crosby Square and adjoining pedestrian routes 
would enhance the vibrancy of this area. 

127. A canopy of significant scale is necessary at the north-west corner of the 
building to mitigate the effects of wind and would bridge over Great St 
Helens at its junction with Bishopsgate. The height of the proposed 
canopy would ensure a generous and spacious character for the public 
realm under the canopy and would afford views of the Church. It is 
envisaged the canopy would be commissioned as artwork, potentially 
incorporating stained glass so that it contributes positively to the 
townscape. 

128. Wind mitigation is also proposed on the south west corner. This would 
be a structure of significant scale and height although it is envisaged it 
would be designed as a piece of public art and details of its appearance 
is conditioned. Although the scale would be imposing in terms of its 
visual impact on Bishopsgate, its position, slightly offset from the 
pedestrian passage is considered satisfactory as it would read as a 
strong focal point signifying the pedestrian passage and the public 
viewing gallery entrance. 

129. The impact of the development on wind conditions and wind mitigation is 
covered at para 265 of this report. 

130. Works would need to be carried out to treat and reface the exposed flank 
walls of adjacent properties at 42-44 Bishopsgate, 1 Great St Helen’s 
and at 6-8 Bishopsgate (if the proposed development scheme on that 
site does not take place.)  Provisions in the S106 agreement would 
require the owner to make planning applications for and carry out the 
works prior to the occupation of the offices. 

London Views Management Framework  
131. The London View Management Framework (LVMF) is a key part of the 

Mayor's strategy to preserve London's character and built heritage. It 
explains the policy framework for managing the impact of development 
on key panoramas, river prospects and townscape views. The LVMF 
provides Mayoral Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on the 
management of 27 strategically important views designated in the 
London Plan. It elaborates on the policy approach set out in London Plan 
policies 7.10, 7.11 and 7.12. and came into effect on 16 March 2012. 
London Plan policy requires that development should not cause adverse 
impacts on World Heritage Sites or their settings and that new 
development should not harm and where possible should make a 
positive contribution to, the characteristics and composition of strategic 
views and their landmark elements. 

132. The site falls outside all of the Protected Vistas of the LVMF but impacts 
on a number of the identified Assessment Points. These have been 
assessed and the impact on the following assessed points in particular: 

 

Page 86



 

Tower Bridge : (10A.1) 
133. This LVMF view is identified also as a key view in the Tower of London 

World Heritage Site Local Setting Study. Its focus is on the Tower of 
London with the cluster of towers in the City a distinctive element to the 
west of the Tower. 

134. In this view, the proposed tower would be visible as a strong element on 
the skyline behind 122 Leadenhall and the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate 
tower. It would create an apex and central focus to the cluster.  

135. The proposal, combined with the permitted towers would assist in 
consolidating and pulling the cluster together as a coherent urban form 
on the skyline to the left of the Tower, introducing a clarity and 
coherence in the relationship between the cluster and the Tower.  

136. The proposal would be on the western edge of the cluster, a significant 
distance away from the White Tower, which is on the eastern side of the 
view. The White Tower and the curtain wall of the Tower would remain 
the dominant focal point in the foreground of the view with the City 
cluster of towers a dynamic feature in the skyline to the west and would 
not compromise views or the setting of the Tower of London World 
Heritage Site or its Outstanding Universal Value. 

137. Therefore the proposal does not dominate the Tower of London or 
compromise the ability to appreciate the Outstanding Universal Value of 
the World Heritage Site and would relate satisfactorily to existing skyline 
features in consolidating the City cluster of towers; as such the proposal 
is in accordance with the guidance for this view (paragraphs 183 to 187 
of the LVMF) 

138. The extant scheme already exists for the tallest tower in the cluster at 
this location, which has a significant impact on this view. The current 
proposal by reason of the increased bulk on the upper storeys would 
have a greater impact on this view than the permitted scheme. However, 
the impact is not considered to harm the view. In particular, the vast 
majority of the increased bulk is westwards, away from the Tower of 
London, which lies to the east in the view. 

City Hall (25A.1, 25A.2 and 25A.3) 
139. While outside the Protected Vista, the proposal would affect the views 

from, and between the three Assessment Points (25A.1, 25A.2 and 
25A.3). The City cluster of towers is a characteristic element in these 
views and contributes to the evolving quality of the view. 

140. The principal focus of all three views is the strategic landmark of the 
Tower of London on the eastern side of the view. The proposed building 
would appear as a prominent feature on the skyline on the western 
periphery of the cluster of towers. At this western location, the proposed 
development would reinforce and consolidate the profile of the cluster. 
This is an appropriate and sympathetic relationship to the Tower of 
London. At no point in the three Assessment viewpoints would the 
proposed tower appear directly over the Tower of London and its curtain 
walls. The Tower of London to the east of the cluster would continue to 

Page 87



 

dominate the lower scale of the townscape in this critical part of the view. 
The Outstanding Universal value and setting of the Tower of London 
World Heritage Site would not be compromised. 

141. Therefore, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the 
guidance for this view (paras 414 to 415 and 418 to 419 of the LVMF) 
and Policy 7.10B of the London Plan, in particular by virtue of the 
proposal’s  height, scale, massing and materials and its relationship to 
other buildings in this view and the quality of design. In addition, the 
proposal would not compromise the viewer’s ability to appreciate the 
Outstanding Universal Value, integrity, authenticity or significance of the 
World Heritage Site, does not dominate the World Heritage Site and 
relates positively to the Tower of London. Consequently, the World 
Heritage Site will continue to dominate its surroundings. 

Waterloo Bridge (15B.1 and 15B.2) 
142. The proposed tower creates a major new focal point to the City cluster 

when viewed from and between Assessment points 15B.1 and 15B.2 in 
this view. The proposal would consolidate and enhance the profile of the 
City cluster of towers, pulling the towers together visually and creating a 
more coherent urban form. Its height would create a better sense of 
vertical emphasis and hierarchy to the cluster resulting in a convincing 
profile on the skyline. Unifying the cluster as a clear urban form 
separated from St Paul’s by clear sky would assist in clarifying the 
cluster’s relationship with St Paul’s Cathedral.  

143. The proposed tower would appear in the centre of the cluster in this view 
and would not encroach upon the area of sky to the north between the 
cluster and St Paul’s Cathedral. The viewer’s ability to recognize and 
appreciate St Paul’s Cathedral as a Strategically Important Landmark 
would not be diminished. 

144. The tower with its narrow prow facing westwards and stepped, tapered 
profile is designed to create a dynamic central axial focal point to this 
view. The north western and south western facades angle away from the 
prow and diminish the sense of scale of the tower as well as introducing 
a more vertical character in the Waterloo Bridge view. In particular the 
faceted elevations would reflect light in different ways to animate and 
break up the facades in this key view. 

145. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the guidance for 
this view (para 262 to 267of the LVMF). In particular the proposal would 
assist in consolidating the cluster in an unified urban form on the skyline 
behind the buildings and spaces fronting the river, thereby contributing 
positively to their setting. In addition, the proposal complements the 
City’s Eastern cluster of tall buildings given its appropriate height and 
high architectural design and would not draw the cluster closer to St 
Paul’s Cathedral ensuring the Cathedral’s continued visual prominence.  

Hungerford Bridge (17B.1, 17B.2) 
146. The impact on the views eastwards from Hungerford Bridge is very 

similar to that from Waterloo Bridge. The proposal would be a significant 
feature on the skyline from, and between Assessment points 17B.1 and 

Page 88



 

17B.2 in this view. The proposed tower would consolidate the cluster’s 
profile and would not harm the appreciation, views or setting of St Paul’s 
Cathedral. Given the subtly different alignment of Hungerford Bridge to 
Waterloo, the tower would have a slightly more slender, vertical 
appearance than from Waterloo Bridge. 

147. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the guidance for 
this view (paras 301 to 305 of the LVMF). In particular, the setting of St 
Paul’s is preserved while the tower strengthens the composition of the 
existing cluster of tall buildings with a high quality new tower. 

London Bridge (11B.1, 11B.2) 
148. The tower would be visible on the western periphery of this view from 

and between Assessment Points 11B.1 and 11B.2 in this view. It would 
present its most slender profile in this view and would stand at the 
western edge of the cluster and would not harm the setting of the Tower 
of London World Heritage Site, which is in the extreme east of the view. 
The proposal would consolidate the profile of the cluster and would not 
harm the wider settings of the listed Adelaide House, Custom House, St 
Magnus the Martyr or Billingsgate Market. 

149. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with the guidance for 
this view (paras 202 to 205 of the LVMF). In particular, Tower Bridge 
would remain the dominant structure in the view and the viewer’s ability 
to easily recognize its profile and the Outstanding Universal Value of the 
World Heritage Site would not be compromised. 

Gabriel’s Wharf (16B.1, 16B.2) 
150. The proposed tower would appear as a prominent feature on the skyline 

from and between Assessment points 16B.1 and 16B.2 of the view. The 
tower will consolidate the profile of the cluster as a coherent urban form, 
clarifying the cluster’s relationship with St Paul’s Cathedral. The views 
and setting of St Paul’s Cathedral and other Heritage Assets in this view 
would not be harmed.  

151. Therefore, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with the 
guidance for this view (paras 280 to 283 of the LVMF). In particular, the 
proposal will preserve the townscape setting of St Paul’s Cathedral by 
being located within and contribute to the existing eastern cluster. The 
prominence of St Paul’s Cathedral would not be reduced or 
compromised. 

St James’ Park (26A) 
152. The proposed tower would be almost entirely concealed by the mature 

tree canopy on Duck Island. During the winter months the top storeys of 
the tower would be visible through the branches whereas in summer the 
tower would be almost wholly obscured by the leaves of the canopy. The 
stepped upper storeys diminishing in width diminishes the impact on this 
view. Numerous tall buildings have been permitted (some of which are 
under construction) in Lambeth and Southwark, which would be visible 
alongside the proposed tower in this view. The result would be a 

Page 89



 

backdrop of taller buildings to the view and in this respect, the proposal 
would not harm the view. 

153. The proposal is in accordance with the guidance for this view (para 431 
of the LVMF). In particular the proposal is of a scale, mass or form that 
does not dominate, overpower or compete with either of the existing two 
groups of built form or the landscape elements between and either side 
of them. In addition, the proposal in terms of its roofline, materials, shape 
and silhouette will be of appropriate design quality. 

Alexandra Palace (1A.1,1A.2), Parliament Hill (2A.1 , 2A.2,) Kenwood (3A), 
Primrose Hill (4A), 
154. In each of these views the proposed tower would be located well to the 

left of the protected vista of St Paul’s Cathedral and would not diminish 
the appreciation of or the setting of the Cathedral. The tower would 
create a central focal point and in accordance with the Visual 
Management Guidance for these views in the LVMF would consolidate 
the existing cluster of towers.  

155. In this respect, the proposal is in accordance with the LVMF guidance for 
these views ; para 87 to 90 in the case of 1A.1 and 1A.2 ; para 98 to 103 
in the case of 2A.1 and 2A.2 ; para 119 to121 in the case of 3A and para 
130 in the case of 4A.1. 

Greenwich (5A.1, 5A.2) , Blackheath (6A) 
156. In these views the proposed tower is located well to the right of St Paul’s 

Cathedral and would not diminish the viewer’s ability to recognize or 
appreciate the Cathedral. The tower would consolidate the existing 
cluster of towers. In this respect the proposal is in accordance with the 
guidance for these views, para 143 to 147 in the case of 5A.1 and 5A.2 
and paras 154 to 156 in the case of 6A. 

Lambeth Bridge (19A.1 , 19A.2))  
157. The proposed tower would be visible rising above the mature tree 

canopy between St Thomas’ Hospital and Lambeth Palace alongside the 
other towers of the City Cluster. Combined with the other permitted 
towers, the proposal would assist in consolidating and pulling together 
the cluster of towers as a coherent single urban form on the distant 
skyline. The setting of Lambeth Palace would not be harmed. In this 
respect, the proposal is in accordance with the guidance for this view 
(paras 334 to 339 of the LVMF). 

Other Key Views (non LVMF) 
158. Given the scale of the proposed tower, its impact on surrounding 

townscape views is widespread and the key views impacted upon are 
discussed in turn. 

Monument 
159. The proposal falls outside the identified viewing cones from the 

Monument and would not harm or conceal views of important heritage 
assets in the view. The proposal would provide a striking new focal point 
in the view from the Monument. It would assist in consolidating the 

Page 90



 

cluster of tall buildings as a coherent built form. From the Monument the 
diminishing form of the tower would be at its most convincing. The 
proposal would not harm or obstruct important views of the Monument 
from afar or in local views. 

Fleet Street / Ludgate Hill 
160. The proposed tower would appear as a prominent landmark in views 

from the western end of Fleet Street, demarcating the City cluster as a 
dynamic feature on the skyline. The tower would appear to the left 
(north) of the 122 Leadenhall tower in these views. In particular, the 
tower would not encroach upon the area of sky between the 122 
Leadenhall and 6-8 Bishopsgate towers and St Paul’s Cathedral, which 
is of key importance in views and the setting of the Cathedral from Fleet 
Street and Ludgate.  

St Paul’s Cathedral 
161. The proposal would not harm views of or the setting or significance of St 

Paul’s.  
162. Exceptional public views of London are afforded from the Golden gallery 

of St Paul’s. From the gallery viewing area, the tower would appear as a 
prominent element in the heart of the City cluster, consolidating the 
cluster as a key London landmark. In particular, the narrower prow of the 
building would enhance the sense of slender verticality of the tower in 
this view.  

163. The free public Viewing Gallery which is an integral part of the proposed 
tower would enable new high level public views westwards to St Paul’s, 
enhancing its visual appreciation from afar. 

164. The permitted Pinnacle tower on the application site has a comparable 
impact on these views. 

165. The proposal is not considered to harm views within and out of or the 
setting or significance of the St Paul’s Conservation Area. 

Bank junction 
166. The proposed tower would appear as a prominent backdrop to the Royal 

Exchange from Bank junction. The existing backdrop to the Bank of 
England and Royal Exchange consists of a number of tall buildings from 
the 122 Leadenhall tower, Tower 42 and the former Stock Exchange. 
Added to these will soon be the permitted towers of the evolving City 
Cluster (52-54 Lime Street, 40 Leadenhall Street and 6-8 Bishopsgate). 
The result would be a backdrop in striking contrast to the historical 
buildings framing Bank junction in the foreground and the backdrop of 
modern towers. The proposed tower would consolidate the form and 
profile of the City cluster in this view and has been designed to respond 
to this view with its narrow prow and stepped and faceted form 
emphasizing its verticality.  

167. The permitted Pinnacle tower on the application site in terms of its scale 
and height has a broadly similar visual impact on these views of Bank 
junction. 

Page 91



 

Bishopsgate and Gracechurch Street 
168. Two of the most striking views of the tower would be along Bishopsgate 

and Gracechurch Street. In views southwards along Bishopsgate, the 
thinner north elevation of the tower would have a striking verticality and 
would be viewed alongside the existing Heron Tower and the permitted 
100 Bishopsgate. The vertical folds of this elevation would pronounce 
this verticality. In views northwards along Gracechurch Street, the 
dynamic stepped and faceted southern façade would create a striking 
landmark with the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate tower in the foreground. 

Other Local Views  
169. Given the scale of the proposed tower, it would have a considerable 

impact on other views both in the City and in the wider area of central 
London. These have been assessed in detail. 

170. In views such as from Threadneedle Street, Cornhill, Gresham Street 
and Queen Victoria Street the proposed tower would present a 
prominent focal point on the skyline signifying the City cluster of towers 
as a key part of London’s skyline and would play a key visual role in 
successfully pulling together and consolidating the profile of the cluster 
as a coherent urban form in views. A similar impact is seen in views from 
Shoreditch High Street, Finsbury Square and the Artillery Company 
grounds to the north and from Whitechapel Road, Altab Ali Park and 
Commercial Road to the east. 

171. From Butler’s Wharf the proposed tower would be partly concealed 
behind the Leadenhall Building in the heart of the City cluster to the right 
of the northern tower of Tower Bridge. From the eastern end of Butler’s 
Wharf where Tower Bridge is viewed virtually head on, the Bridge would 
remain visible against clear sky with the emerging City cluster of towers 
consolidated as a more coherent urban form to its north. This view would 
not be harmed. 

172. From the river terrace of Somerset House, the proposal would be 
located behind the mature tree canopy in the foreground to the south of 
both Heron Tower and Tower 42. The proposal would be a significant 
distance to the south of St Paul’s and would not harm its setting when 
viewed in winter. 

173. In other views such as from Finsbury Circus, Bunhill Fields and the 
Geffrye Museum, the proposal would consolidate the City cluster of 
towers albeit through mature tree canopies which would largely conceal 
the tower during the summer months and will not harm these 
Conservation areas or Heritage assets in these views. 

174. In the case of the impact on the Artillery Company grounds and Finsbury 
Square, the proposal will be seen alongside the existing towers of the 
Eastern cluster and alongside the permitted towers, the proposal will 
consolidate the cluster of tall buildings. In this respect, the proposal will 
not harm the setting of the Conservation Areas and Heritage Assets in 
these views. 

 

Page 92



 

Views from other publically accessible elevated viewing areas 
175. The City cluster forms a key part in a number of elevated views from the 

upper storeys of other buildings, which by reason of the fact they are 
freely available to the public are considered to have significant public 
benefits. Such free public elevated viewing areas are increasing in 
number. 

176. The City cluster of towers and other London landmarks are important 
elements in views from these viewing areas. The cluster of towers forms 
a dynamic element in views from the Skygarden in 20 Fenchurch Street 
and New Change roof terrace. The impact of the proposal has been 
assessed on both of these and the proposal would contribute positively 
to the dynamic qualities of these views. Furthermore, the proposal would 
not harm future views from the roof terrace of 120 Fenchurch Street 
(under construction) or the viewing gallery in the permitted 6-8 
Bishopsgate Tower (which is mainly focussed on views to the west and 
south) 

177. The proposal would appear as a prominent and dynamic element in the 
heart of the City cluster of towers from the viewing gallery of Tate 
Modern on Bankside. The cluster is a substantial distance to the east of 
St Paul’s Cathedral in this view and the proposed tower would appear at 
its most slender profile and would appear to consolidate the form of the 
cluster. The proposal would not harm this elevated view. 

Tower of London World Heritage Site 
178. The Tower of London World Heritage Site Management Plan (2007) 

provides an agreed framework for long-term decision-making on the 
conservation and improvement of the Tower and sustaining its 
outstanding universal value. The Plan embraces the physical 
preservation of the Tower, protecting and enhancing the visual and 
environmental character of its local setting, providing a consideration of 
its wider setting and improving the understanding and enjoyment of the 
Tower as a cultural resource. The local setting of the Tower comprises 
the spaces from which it can be seen from street and river level, and the 
buildings that provide definition to those spaces. Its boundary is heavily 
influenced by views across the Thames. 

179. As a result of the Management Plan objectives and actions, the Tower of 
London Local Setting Study was produced in 2010. This study describes 
the current character and condition of the Tower’s local setting and sets 
out aims and objectives for conserving, promoting and enhancing 
appreciation of the Outstanding Universal Value of the Tower, that is, the 
attributes which justify its inscription.  

180. The local setting area as defined in the Tower of London World Heritage 
Site Management Plan is recognised and identified in the City of London 
Local Plan in Policies CS12 and CS13 and on Policies Map A. 

181. The Tower of London World Heritage Site is located a significant 
distance to the east of the site. The proposed development is located on 
the furthermost western side of the City cluster of towers, which, at 
0.65km to the west is a considerable distance away from the Tower of 

Page 93



 

London. The proposal has been assessed from all recognized key views 
of the World Heritage Site identified in the adopted Local Setting Study. 
Many of these views from the South Bank (25A) and Tower Bridge (10A) 
are also LVMF views and are discussed in preceding paragraphs in 
terms of their impact on the World Heritage Site. It is concluded the 
proposal does not cause adverse impact on the World Heritage Site or 
its setting in these views or compromise a viewer’s ability to appreciate 
its Outstanding Universal Value, integrity, authenticity or significance. In 
this respect the proposal is in accordance with Policy 7.10 of the London 
Plan. 

182. Other views listed within the Local Setting Study include views from the 
Inner Ward, Inner Wall and near the Byward Tower entrance. These 
have been assessed in turn. 

183. In terms of the view from the Inner Ward, which is recognized in the 
Local Setting Study the tower would be a barely perceptible, very small 
element breaching the roofline of St Peter ad Vincula. The insignificant 
impact would not harm the setting of the Church or the World heritage 
Site. 

184. From the identified viewpoint from the Inner Wall looking northwards, the 
proposal would rise behind the Leadenhall Building with the permitted 6-
8 Bishopsgate tower at a lower level in its foreground. The proposed 
tower would introduce more bulk on the western side of the cluster but 
not in a manner that would not harm views out of the World Heritage 
Site. From this viewpoint, the proposed tower would sit comfortably 
within the emerging City cluster of towers and would consolidate the 
profile of the cluster as a coherent unified form on the skyline as well as 
enhancing the vertical profile of the cluster. 

185. In the view from the Byward Tower entrance, the proposed tower would 
similarly consolidate the profile of the cluster rising behind and to the left 
of the Leadenhall Building and would introduce greater bulk to the 
cluster at this point. The proposal would not harm views out of the World 
Heritage Site from this point. 

186. The proposed tower would not harm the Outstanding Universal Value or 
views of or out of the Tower of London World Heritage Site and is 
appropriately located on the furthermost, western periphery of the cluster 
reinforcing the cluster’s profile, which diminishes in scale towards the 
Tower of London. 

187. Although clearly visible, the proposed tower would appear as a 
peripheral feature on the skyline a considerable distance from the World 
Heritage Site. The emerging City cluster of towers to the west of the 
Tower of London is an integral part of the setting and views of the World 
Heritage Site. The proposal would assist in consolidating this cluster as 
a coherent, unified urban form and would not harm the setting or 
Outstanding Universal value of the World Heritage site in any of these 
views. 

188. The permitted Pinnacle tower on the application site has a comparable 
visual impact although the current proposal appears somewhat bulkier 

Page 94



 

on its upper level than the permitted scheme, albeit not in a manner 
which harms views of the World Heritage Site. 

Setting of Listed Buildings 
189. A large number of listed buildings are located in close proximity to the 

site. In addition, by reason of the scale and height of the development, it 
would affect the setting of a number of other listed buildings further 
afield. These are discussed in turn. 

St Helen’s Bishopsgate 
190. This Grade 1 listed church lies in very close proximity to the proposed 

building which will have substantial impact on its setting. 
191. One of the distinctive characteristics of the townscape of the City is the 

striking and dynamic contrast in scale between the historic buildings and 
the new towers. Whereas in other townscapes in London, such a 
contrast in scale would be uneasy in terms of the setting of historic 
buildings, in this small part of the City it is a defining characteristic and 
presents an exciting frisson between the old and new. Within this 
specific context, the scale of the proposed development is not 
considered to harm the setting or significance of St Helen’s Church. 
Indeed from most vantage points, the Church is seen against a backdrop 
of existing surrounding towers. 

192. The permitted Pinnacle tower on this site has a comparable visual 
impact on the setting of the Church. 

193. The reduction in the scale and bulk of the wind canopy on Great St 
Helen’s from the previously permitted Pinnacle windskirt is an 
improvement in terms of views of and the setting of the Church. The 
height of the canopy would allow clear views of the church from 
Bishopsgate. 

Gibson Hall 
194. Gibson Hall (Grade 1 listed) stands on the opposite side of Bishopsgate 

to the site. There is a stark contrast in scale between the west and east 
sides of Bishopsgate at this point with the lower scale of the Bank 
Conservation Area buildings to the west and the City cluster on the 
eastern side. Bishopsgate is of generous width at this point and affords 
fine views of Gibson Hall, especially from the south and east where 
Tower 42 creates a powerful backdrop to Gibson Hall. 

195. The impact of the wind canopies on the south west corner of the site has 
been assessed in terms of their impact on views northwards on 
Bishopsgate towards Gibson Hall. The significant height of these 
canopies from pavement level would ensure that they would not obscure 
or conceal Gibson Hall or the distinctive sculptures crowning its parapet. 
The setting and significance of Gibson Hall would not be harmed. 

Nos 46, 48, 52-58, 60-68, 70 Bishopsgate 
196. This group of grade II listed buildings defines the eastern frontage of 

Bishopsgate to the immediate north of the application site. They also 
define the western boundary of the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area. 

Page 95



 

197. The proposed tower would appear a substantially scaled backdrop to 
these listed buildings in views from the north and a highly prominent 
tower in views from the south. The contrast between their scale and the 
proposed tower would be striking. This dynamic contrast in scale is 
distinctive to the local townscape of these buildings and the addition of 
the proposed development is not considered to harm their setting or 
significance. 

198. The permitted Pinnacle tower had a comparable impact on the setting of 
these listed buildings. 

St Ethelburga’s, Bishopsgate 
199. The proposed tower would appear as a prominent backdrop to the 

Grade 1 listed St Ethelburga the Virgin Church in views south along 
Bishopsgate. The setting of this Church is surrounded by tall buildings, 
both existing and proposed. In this respect this striking contrast in scale 
is now an integral part of the Church’s setting and as such the proposed 
tower would not harm this setting or the significance of the listed 
building. 

147 and 148 Leadenhall Street 
200. These two Grade II listed buildings are located on the north side of 

Leadenhall Street to the south of the site with the Leadenhall Building to 
the immediate east and the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate to the immediate 
west and Lloyds to the south east. Along Leadenhall Street the 6-8 
Bishopsgate and Leadenhall building towers would obscure the 
proposed tower in all but more distant views of these listed buildings, at 
which point the listed buildings would be viewed in the foreground of a 
collective backdrop of the towers of the eastern cluster. The proposed 
tower would not harm the setting or significance of these listed buildings. 

Lloyd’s Building 
201. The Lloyd’s Building on the south side of Leadenhall Street is Grade I 

listed and, probably more than any of the other listed buildings in the City 
cluster, owes its setting to the cluster of towers characterizing the area. 
In most local views along Leadenhall Street, the proposed tower would 
be concealed behind the Leadenhall Building. In other more distant 
views, the proposed tower would be seen alongside the other towers 
within the Cluster as a backdrop to the Lloyd’s building which is 
considered an appropriate setting to what is, in its own right, a high rise 
building of national significance. In this respect the proposal will not 
harm the setting or significance of this listed building. 

Leadenhall Market 
202. Some distance to the south of the site is the Grade II * listed Leadenhall 

Market. The proposed tower would be a prominent backdrop (as was the 
permitted tower) to the Gracechurch Street entrance to Leadenhall 
Market in views northwards along Bishopsgate. Since the original 
Pinnacle consent, permission has been granted for another tower (6-8 
Bishopsgate) in the foreground, which would partly obscure the lower 
half of the proposed tower. Leadenhall Market is characterized by the 

Page 96



 

presence of tall buildings as a backdrop to the north and east and in this 
respect, the proposal would not harm views in to or the setting of the 
listed building or its significance. 

203. Given the alignment and roof of the Market and the presence of the 
Leadenhall Building and the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate, the development 
would barely be visible in glimpses from within the Market itself and 
where it would be seen, it would be against the backdrop of permitted tall 
buildings. In this respect, views out of or the setting of the listed building 
and its significance would not be harmed. 

Church of St Peter upon Cornhill 
204. This Grade I listed church lies to the south of the site and the proposed 

tower would appear as a prominent backdrop in views northwards of the 
west elevation of the church from Gracechurch Street. The west 
elevation of the church is very restrained and recessive and the 
proposed tower, combined with the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate tower is 
not considered to harm its setting or significance. 

St Andrew Undershaft Church 
205. This Grade 1 listed church is located to the east of the site on St Mary 

Axe. The proposed tower would not have a significant impact on views of 
this church given it is largely concealed behind the Leadenhall Building 
and the 1 Undershaft tower to the west. Its setting and significance 
would not be harmed particularly as it is characterized by the backdrop 
of completed and permitted towers of the cluster. 

The listed buildings along Threadneedle Street 
206. The entire north and south sides of Threadneedle Street comprise of 

listed buildings, all of which are Grade II listed, with the exception of 51-
53 and Merchant Taylor’s Hall which are Grade II*. The proposed tower 
would appear as a highly prominent and dominating element in views 
eastwards along Threadneedle Street. Such an impact is similar to that 
of the permitted Pinnacle tower for the site. The stark contrast in scale 
between these historical streets within the Bank Conservation Area and 
the imposing scale of the towers in the City cluster is a defining 
characteristic of this part of the City. Despite the imposing presence of 
the proposed and other towers in the view the tight grain and collective 
character of these listed buildings hold their own. The setting and 
significance of these listed buildings would not be harmed. 

The Listed Buildings at Bank Junction 
207. The historic buildings framing Bank junction represent one of the most 

sensitive townscapes in London critical to the identity of the City of 
London. These buildings include the nationally significant Grade I listed 
Bank of England, Royal Exchange and Mansion House, the Grade I 
listed 27-32 Poultry and St Mary Woolnoth Church, and Grade II listed 1 
Princes Street, 1-6 Lombard Street and 82 Lombard Street.  

208. In relation to the proposal, the key views of this group of listed buildings 
are from the west looking eastward, focusing on the portico of the Royal 
Exchange. A key element of this view now is the contrast between the 

Page 97



 

foreground of these historic buildings and the backdrop of the emerging 
City cluster of towers which provides one of the most striking 
townscapes in London.  

209. The proposed tower would appear as a highly prominent element in the 
view, but it would assist in consolidating the coherence and profile of the 
cluster in the backdrop to Bank junction with its highest apex almost 
centrally located. In particular, it would have its slender prow facing the 
Bank junction and its faceted sides angled away from the view and 
complemented by the building’s shoulders stepping down to the north 
and south. This is a deliberate and successful attempt to ensure that the 
tower would have a strong verticality as the visual culmination of the City 
cluster in this view. 

210. The proposal is not considered to harm the setting or significance of 
these listed buildings. 

211. The proposed tower would appear somewhat bulkier than the permitted 
Pinnacle tower in this view but in a manner that is not considered 
harmful. 

The Listed Buildings along Cornhill 
212. There are a cluster of listed buildings on Cornhill and the northern end of 

Gracechurch Street where in certain views the proposed tower would 
appear as a prominent element in their backdrop. These include the 
Grade 1 listed Church of St Michael and the Grade 2 listed Nos. 48, 50, 
54, 55, 65, 66, 67 and Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 
building. However, these views are of the cluster of tall buildings (both 
completed and permitted) and the proposed tower is not considered to 
harm the setting or significance of these listed buildings in these views. 

St Botolph without Bishopsgate 
213. This Church is a Grade 1 listed building to the north of the Bishopsgate / 

London Wall junction a significant distance to the north of the site. The 
proposal would be a prominent element in the backdrop of the church in 
views southwards. However, it would be seen alongside the existing and 
permitted tall buildings of the City cluster. In this respect, the proposal is 
not considered to harm its setting or significance. 

St Magnus the Martyr Church, Custom House, Billingsgate Market and 
Adelaide House 
214. These are all important listed buildings which line the riverside from 

London Bridge eastwards. In the key views of the proposed tower from 
the southern bank and from London and Tower bridges all three 
buildings are seen in the foreground of the river view with the emerging 
City towers as their distinctive backdrop. The proposed tower would 
assist in consolidating the cluster of the towers on the skyline and would 
not harm the setting or significance of any of these listed buildings. 

Setting of Conservation Areas 
215. The site is adjacent or in close proximity to a number of Conservation 

Areas. It is considered that the proposal would not harm views of the 

Page 98



 

setting or significance of more distant Conservation Areas inside or 
outside the City. These include the Conservation Areas in the London 
Borough of Islington and Tower Hamlets. The impact of the proposal on 
the nearby Conservation areas within the City is set out below: 

St Helen’s Place Conservation Area 
216. To the north of the site lies the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area. The 

red line site boundary for the planning application extends just into the 
southern edge of the Conservation Area in order to include the proposals 
for two wind mitigation features beneath the first floor overhang on the 
south elevation of 42-44 Bishopsgate (described at para 274). The 
proposed tower would not be located within the Conservation Area but 
would have a substantial impact on views in to, out of and within the 
Conservation Area and on its setting. The St Helen’s Place Conservation 
Area, more so than any other, sits within the tall buildings of the Eastern 
Cluster. The presence of these tall buildings now defines the setting of 
this Conservation Area. To the north is the permitted 100 Bishopsgate 
Tower, to the east, 30 St Mary Axe; to the west stands Tower 42 and to 
the south is the Undershaft Tower and the permitted Pinnacle tower. 
These towers are (and would be) clearly visible as prominent elements 
in the backdrop and setting of the Conservation Area and are now 
characteristic of its setting. Within this context, the proposed 
development, whether through development within the conservation 
area, or through impact on its setting would not harm the character or 
appearance of the Conservation Area or its significance. 

Bank Conservation Area 
217. To the west, the Bank Conservation Area includes all of the west side of 

Bishopsgate from Gibson’s Hall to 8 Gracechurch Street. Views of and 
from within this Conservation Area include the backdrop of tall buildings 
in the City cluster. The proposed tower would appear as a prominent 
landmark in views along Bishopsgate, Cornhill and further afield such as 
the Bank junction. However, as stated above, it would be seen against 
the backdrop of the completed and permitted towers and therefore they 
would not harm the setting or significance of the Bank Conservation 
Area. 

Leadenhall Market Conservation Area 
218. Some distance to the south of the site is the Leadenhall Market 

Conservation Area. The proposed tower would be a prominent backdrop 
(as was the permitted tower) to the Gracechurch Street entrance to 
Leadenhall Market in views northwards along Bishopsgate. Since the 
original Pinnacle consent, permission has been granted for another 
tower (6-8 Bishopsgate) in the foreground, which would partly obscure 
the lower half of the proposed tower. Leadenhall Market is characterized 
by the presence of tall buildings as a backdrop to the north and east and 
in this respect, the proposal would not harm views in to or the setting of 
the Conservation Area or its significance. 

219. Given the alignment and roof of the Market and the presence of the 
Leadenhall Building and the permitted 6-8 Bishopsgate, the development 

Page 99



 

would barely be visible in glimpses from within the Market itself and 
where it would be seen, it would be against the backdrop of permitted tall 
buildings. In this respect, views out of or the setting of the Leadenhall 
Market Conservation Area and its significance would not be harmed. 

Bishopsgate Conservation Area 
220. This Conservation lies a significant distance to the north of the site. 

However, by reason of the substantial scale and height of the proposed 
tower it would have a significant impact on the setting and in particular 
views southwards from the Conservation Area. 

221. The tower would appear as a highly prominent element on the skyline 
from Bishopsgate itself and adjoining streets. In these views, the tower 
would be seen alongside existing and permitted towers including, the 
Heron Tower, 100 Bishopsgate and the 150 Bishopsgate towers on the 
east side of Bishopsgate and No 99 Bishopsgate and Tower 42 to the 
west of Bishopsgate resulting in no significant additional impact on the 
conservation area. The tower would contribute to the dynamic quality of 
these tall buildings, resulting in a powerful and striking backdrop to the 
Conservation Area. 

222. The proposal is not considered to harm the character or appearance or 
setting of the Bishopsgate Conservation Area or its significance. 

Non-designated Heritage Assets 
223. No harm has been identified to non-designated Heritage Assets, their 

settings or their significance. 
Transport, Servicing, Parking and Impact on Public Highways 
Servicing  
224. The development proposes to re-use the existing (although modified) 

basements and vehicle lift arrangement from Undershaft constructed 
under the extant consent. Given the increase in floorspace over the 
extant scheme this arrangement would not be adequate for conventional 
servicing of the proposed building. 

225. The scale of the proposed development is such that unregulated 
deliveries to and collections from the site would have a major detrimental 
impact on the surrounding area, particularly at peak periods. The five 
proposed servicing bays in basement level 3 and the two proposed 
vehicle lifts to provide access to this level would be insufficient to provide 
for unregulated deliveries to and collections from the site to take place 
without significant queuing of servicing vehicles on Undershaft. This 
would have major impacts on the efficient servicing of neighbouring 
buildings and the safe and convenient movement of pedestrians and 
cyclists in the area together with consequent increased air and noise 
pollution. As a result, it is essential that the deliveries to and collections 
from the site are regulated and that the total numbers of servicing 
vehicles are very substantially reduced from those that would occur in an 
unmanaged situation. This can only realistically be done via freight 
consolidation and, as a result, the developer intends to establish a 
freight consolidation operation for the development (and potentially 

Page 100



 

neighbouring buildings), which will include a freight consolidation centre 
anticipated to be in East London. 

226. The use of an off-site logistics centre and consolidated servicing system 
would have a number of benefits: 

 Reduction in the number of service deliveries by a half; 

 Scheduled deliveries in accordance with times to be agreed by the 
City of London and controlled by a delivery management system; 

 Use of the optimal type of vehicle for the specific journey and load 
and driven by a regular team of drivers; 

 Associated environmental benefits; 
227. There would also be a number of security benefits;  

 all delivery vehicles from the consolidation centre would be 
expected;   

 vehicle contents could be security checked and vehicles sealed at 
the consolidation centre;  

 drivers would be security vetted. 
228. The applicants’ consultants have shown that the vast majority of 

supplies, including foodstuffs, could be delivered through a consolidated 
system. There would be some exceptions, for example very specialist 
food or deliveries originating in or close to the City. The consolidation 
and logistics system would be applied to all occupiers of the building 
including the restaurant and retail occupants. 

229. It is estimated that up to 202 vehicles a day would service the building;  
included in this number would be up to 70 non-consolidated vehicles a 
week (no more than 20 in any one day) which would deliver directly to 
the site under the control of the logistics centre. Under this system no 
unscheduled deliveries to the site would be accepted. 

230. In order to relieve pressure on the City’s streets and to avoid conflict with 
pedestrian and cyclist peak times it is intended that the City would 
prohibit deliveries during morning and evening peaks and lunchtimes. 
This means that night-time servicing would be a pre-requisite of the 
development. A high proportion of deliveries (on average 14 vehicles per 
hour) would arrive during night-time hours; the type of vehicles used, 
routes used and quick entrance into the building would need to be 
carefully controlled in order to minimise noise disturbance to the 
surrounding area. 

231. The reduction in the number of delivery vehicle trips by the provision and 
use of the offsite logistics centre is critical to the acceptability of the 
scheme and as such must be fully operational before any occupation of 
the development. The provision of such a facility at all times must be 
guaranteed for the life of the building. Provision of the off-site logistics 
and consolidation centre and review procedures would be secured by 
S106 and would include details of numbers and timings of daily 
deliveries and numbers of non-consolidated deliveries, both of which 

Page 101



 

would be capped (outlined under the Planning Obligations section of the 
report, para 372). A Delivery and Servicing Management Plan would 
also be required under the S106 agreement. 

232. Facilities would be provided at street level off Undershaft for cycle and 
motorcycle couriers. 

Waste Management 
233. A centralised waste storage area is located at B3 level immediately 

adjacent to two compactors. The area would provide sufficient space for 
refuse vehicle access and manoeuvring, and appropriate balers, 
containers, recycling facilities and storage tanks for the proposed 
development. Baled waste would be removed from site by the empty 
consolidation vehicles for return to the consolidation centre where it 
would be segregated and sent for recycling. 

234. Other refuse including food waste and glass would be collected by roll 
on roll off vehicles and standard refuse collection vehicles. 

235. 5.3m clear headroom would be provided within the waste collection bays 
and 4.5m headroom in the remainder of the service area and lifts. 

236. The proposed Waste Management Strategy meets the City’s 
requirements.  

Parking 
237. No car parking is provided on site other than 4 spaces at 2nd basement 

level for disabled car parking, one of which would have an electric 
vehicle charging point. No motorcycle spaces are provided. 

Bicycle spaces 
238. A total of 2320 cycle parking spaces are proposed, consisting of 2300 

spaces within the basements of the building (1937 at basement B1 and 
363 at basement B2) and 20 spaces within the building’s curtilage along 
the Great St Helen’s frontage. These are comprised of 2132 long stay 
(commuter) spaces and 188 short stay (visitor) spaces. 

239.  A total of 217 showers are proposed at levels basement B1, B2 and on 
upper floors 7M, 25M and 41M. This equates to one shower per 10.8 
spaces which while slightly less than our advice of one per 8 spaces is 
considered acceptable. 

240. A total of 2132 lockers are proposed at the same locations as the 
showers; again slightly less than City’s advice for one locker per cycle 
space but the overall provision is considered to be acceptable. 

241. The number of cycle spaces that it is possible to provide is constrained 
by the re-use of the existing basements; it is considered that the 
proposal achieves a significant provision of cycle spaces together with 
associated facilities which is acceptable for the development. The details 
of the provision, range, type and location of the cycle spaces, showers 
and lockers will be dealt with under planning conditions to ensure 
general compliance with policy. 

 

Page 102



 

Public Transport 
242. The development site is highly accessible by public transport and 

records the highest possible Public Transport Access Level (PTAL) of 
6b. Bank, Monument and Liverpool Street Underground Stations are all 
within a five minute walk from the site, Liverpool Street, Moorgate, 
Fenchurch Street, and Cannon Street are within a twelve minute walk 
and 24 bus services are available within 640m of the site. 

243. It is predicted that the proposed development is likely to accommodate 
11,568 office workers and that 5516 office employees would travel to 
and from the development in the AM and PM peak hours  

244. Additionally the proposed public viewing gallery, retail uses and visitors 
to the office premises would generate an estimated 412 people during 
the AM peak hour and 637 in the PM peak hour. 

245. A total of 5928 and 6153 trips are forecast during the AM and PM peak 
hours respectively.  

246. The trips have been split between the different predicted modes of 
transport; the majority of journeys would be undertaken by train or 
Underground and DLR, with the remaining smaller percentage by bus, 
taxi, bicycle or foot. It is estimated that the proposed development would 
increase the number of rail passengers by about 1% (an additional 7 
passengers per service) in the peak hours although this would not be 
distributed evenly across the network. It is anticipated that the proposed 
opening of Crossrail in 2018 would go some way to alleviating the 
pressure on the rail services. 

247. A total net increase in London Underground trips as a final mode (slightly 
reduced once Crossrail is open) is estimated to be 2685 trips in the am 
peak and 2787 in the pm peak. In particular significant increases are 
predicted on the Central, Northern and Waterloo and City lines which 
already experience high levels of crowding in the peaks. 

248. A total of 489 AM peak hour trips and 508 PM peak hour trips would be 
generated on the buses; on average less than one additional passenger 
per bus is expected. 

249. The proposed development is predicted to accommodate an increase of 
3473 more office workers than the extant scheme with increases in 
overall numbers arriving at and leaving the building in the AM and PM 
peaks of 1784 and 2009 respectively. In the case of the extant scheme, 
Transport for London sought a financial contribution for service 
improvements for London Underground in mitigation and state that 
additional funding should be sought from the developers for further 
mitigation of the increased numbers in relation to this scheme. 

Pedestrian movements 
250. A detailed Pedestrian Comfort Modelling assessment has been carried 

out. Forecast pedestrian comfort levels are expected to be acceptable 
immediately around the building, including on the eastern footway of 
Bishopsgate, the street between Great Saint Helen’s and Crosby Square 
and on the new footpath between Bishopsgate and Crosby Square. 

Page 103



 

Pedestrian comfort levels are similarly forecast to be acceptable on 
Bishopsgate immediately south of the development. However, there is 
an existing pinch point around 6–8 Bishopsgate where flows will be less 
comfortable. On the majority of the western footway of Bishopsgate 
opposite the site, the eastern footway of Bishopsgate north of the 
development and the northern footway of Threadneedle Street the 
existing narrow footways will experience poor levels of pedestrian 
comfort. At peak periods sections of these footways will be 
uncomfortably crowded and below standards usually sought by the City.  

251. The additional pressure on the pavements is a consequence of the City’s 
adopted approach to focus future significant office development within 
the Eastern Cluster. The previously existing buildings on the site would 
have accommodated approximately 2700 office workers, the Pinnacle 
scheme approximately 8095 and the current scheme 11568 although it is 
not expected that all the office accommodation would be fully occupied 
at any one time. The impact, leading to congestion on pavements is a 
local one within and close to the Cluster which diminishes with distance 
away from the Cluster. In developing the City’s work on Future Cities, we 
will investigate further ways of enhancing the pedestrian environment 
and public realm in and around the Cluster to facilitate this growth. 

252. The developers have been exploring with the City of London and 
Transport for London, ways in which the existing pedestrian crossings 
over Bishopsgate, close to Great St Helen’s and at Threadneedle Street 
can be improved to better suit pedestrian desire lines and improve 
pedestrian safety. Any such works would be the subject of a Section 278 
agreement with the City and TfL. 

Stopping up/Dedication of land as public highway 
253. A stopping-up of Public Highway plan is attached to this report. This 

shows areas of existing highway, highway to be stopped up, highway 
stopped up as part of the Pinnacle scheme to remain stopped up, 
highway originally stopped up as part of the Pinnacle scheme to revert to 
public highway and new highway which is currently private land. 

254. The area of stopped up highway to revert to public highway (57.43sq.m) 
and the area of new highway (17.3sq.m) amounts to 75.73sq.m of public 
highway most of which is on Bishopsgate. 

255. The proposed scheme would require two main new areas of stopping up, 
one at the building entrance on the corner of Bishopsgate with Great St 
Helens and one on Crosby Square together amounting to an area of 
62.4sq.m.  

256. Overall there would be a net increase of 13.33sq.m for public highway.  
Security 
257. A number of internal and external security measures would be employed 

to address security issues which arise with a development of this size, 
location and nature. 

258. Externally, perimeter protection would be achieved by the installation of 
bollards and by the façade construction. A 0.9m upstand has been 

Page 104



 

designed at the base of the facades, which would incorporate external 
seating and would increase resilience against a hostile vehicle 
manoeuvre. In soft spots, such as at building entrances and at the 
entrances to the pedestrian passageway, bollards are proposed, most of 
which are incorporated on the developer’s land. Some however, in front 
of the entrance on the north-west corner of the site and on the roadway 
leading from Great St Helen’s to Crosby Square would be on public 
highway. 

259. The City of London does not normally accept HVM measures on the 
public highway, but following a site assessment it is recognised that the 
applicant has proposed the minimum number of bollards to secure their 
site between the proposed development and 1 Great St Helen’s and at 
their entrances. The bollards at the rear of the site would prevent 
unauthorised vehicle access to the service road and from the roadway 
onto the pedestrianised Crosby Square. At the north-west corner of the 
site the proposed entrance would project over and require stopping up of 
public highway and there is no space in front of this other than on public 
highway for the requisite number of bollards to protect the entrance. In 
this circumstance the proposed bollard locations are acceptable in order 
to achieve the required security. 

260. Details of the final scheme of security measures would be sought by 
condition. Any alterations on the highway would be secured through a 
Section 278 agreement. 

Aviation 
261. As detailed under Consultations (para 64)  the scheme would impact on 

the radar operations for air traffic movements at Heathrow but this can 
be mitigated by alterations to the radar calibration. A condition would be 
imposed requiring a radar mitigation scheme to be agreed by the local 
planning authority in consultation with NATS prior to commencement. 

262. The applicants have agreed that no structure including cranes would 
exceed 309m AOD in order to safeguard aviation routes at Heathrow. 

263.  Assessments in relation to operations at London City Airport have not 
yet been completed but planning conditions are recommended to ensure 
that satisfactory mitigation measures are identified and put in place to 
safeguard the airport’s operations and air traffic safety. 

Environmental impact of proposal on surrounding area 
264. The impact of the scheme on the amenity of the surrounding area has 

been assessed taking into account Development Plan policy.  
Wind Microclimate 
265. The likely effect of the development on wind microclimate in the 

immediately surrounding area has been assessed and the results 
considered against the policy requirements of Policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the 
London Plan and DM10.1 of the Local Plan. The assessment has been 
undertaken using a boundary layer wind tunnel to simulate the wind 
microclimate conditions and the likely effects on sensitive receptors have 

Page 105



 

been assessed for suitability using the widely accepted Lawson Comfort 
Criteria. 

266. The assessment, using wind tunnel tests, delivers a detailed account of 
the average and gust wind conditions around the existing site and the 
proposed development and also assesses the cumulative impact with 
other proposed developments (6-8 Bishopsgate). Assessments are 
given for both the summer season and the windiest season. 

267. The design of the development has been amended to incorporate a 
number of wind mitigation features in order to address potential areas of 
concern and control the pedestrian level wind conditions around the site. 
The presence of these measures is included in the final wind 
assessment results.  

268. A second assessment which uses a separate computer based 
methodology for testing has been submitted to verify the results of the 
wind tunnel assessment. 

269. In the wind tunnel assessment the wind speeds were measured at 132 
locations around the site including at sensitive areas such as entrances 
to buildings and external seating areas 

270. The Lawson Comfort Criteria defines a range of pedestrian activities 
from sitting through to more transient activities such as crossing a road, 
and for each activity a threshold wind speed and frequency of 
occurrence is applied beyond which the environment would be 
unsuitable for that activity. The results show the microclimate suitable for 
a particular activity at each of the 132 receptor points. For a mixed use 
urban site such as the proposed development and surrounding area the 
desired wind microclimate would typically have areas suitable for sitting, 
pedestrian standing or building entrance use, and leisure walking. 

271. The baseline assessment shows the wind conditions around the existing 
hoarded site,  which in the summer season are mainly suitable for 
'sitting' with some areas suitable for 'standing or building entrances' and 
in the windiest season are mainly conditions suitable for 
'standing/entrances' with some areas suitable for 'sitting' and a few 
occurrences of areas suitable for 'leisure walking'. These conditions are 
typical of other Central London locations with closely spaced low rise 
buildings. 

272. The wind mitigation features incorporated into the design of the building 
include canopies, screens and baffles.  

273. A solid canopy 10m above pavement level would be located on the 
north-west corner of the building and would project from the building by 
up to 9m. On Great St Helens the canopy would extend across the street 
to within 1m of the south facade of 42-44 Bishopsgate. Porous screens 
would be fixed to the canopy both above it and from its soffit, angled 
around the north-west corner in order to further break up and disperse 
the wind flow. 

Page 106



 

274. Additionally two porous screens are proposed on the pavement in Great 
St Helen’s (at points previously stopped up under the extant scheme) 
beneath the first floor overhang of 42-44 Bishopsgate 

275. These measures would control wind speeds at the north-west corner of 
the site where there would be most impact from wind turbulence and 
would reduce the effect of wind pressure here and to the north of the site 
from the prevailing south westerly winds.  

276. An 18m high sculptural form is proposed at the south west corner of the 
site oversailing the pavement on Bishopsgate. The structure would be 
located 10m above pavement level. The sculpture has been modelled as 
six curved large horizontal screens which would capture downward 
winds from the proposed development and from the adjoining site to the 
south and divert these at high level. This would further protect the wind 
levels at street level in Bishopsgate. 

277. Other measures around the site include a solid glazed canopy to the 
south of the staircase in Crosby Square 6m above ground level; two 
suspended porous screens above the roadway from Great St Helens to 
Crosby Square and vertical screens on a flat roof area at 3rd floor level 
which would be largely obscured from public view. These would all have 
the effect of improving the wind conditions at sensitive locations in and 
around the site. 

278. Details of the appearance of wind mitigation features would be sought by 
condition and appropriate architectural solutions would be sought given 
the prominence of the proposed structures. 

279. With the mitigation measures in place the assessment shows that during 
the windiest season conditions would be suitable for leisure walking or 
better immediately around the base of the building, to the north and 
south along Bishopsgate and to the east, including along Undershaft and 
the open space outside 1 Undershaft. During the summer season the 
conditions in these same locations would be suitable for 
‘standing/entrances’ or ‘sitting’ 

280. At the entrances to the proposed development conditions would all be to 
the required 'standing' or calmer wind conditions in both seasons. 

281. The measurements at entrances to surrounding buildings indicated that 
where entrances are recessed (the majority), acceptable 'standing' 
conditions would be achieved;  in the case of three shop entrances to 
the north of the site on Bishopsgate which are not recessed where 
'leisure walking' conditions were observed,  the development would have 
a minor adverse effect. However the exceedance of the Lawson Criteria 
at these locations is very marginal and would only occur during the 
windiest season 

282. Through most of the proposed pedestrian route including at the 
entrances to the public gallery and restaurant, conditions would be within 
acceptable 'standing/entrance' or 'sitting' levels although at its narrowest 
point conditions would be at one level higher, ‘leisure walking’. 

Page 107



 

283. With the development in place areas to the north east would enjoy some 
protection from wind, notably at St Helens Churchyard and the area 
around the Church compared to the existing baseline situation. 

284. The open space at Crosby Square and outside 1 Undershaft would 
experience some worsening of conditions from the existing with 
conditions altered from 'sitting' to 'standing' levels in the summer and to 
'leisure walking' in the windiest season. While this would be an adverse 
impact these levels would not cause unacceptable harm to amenity in 
this area. 

285. Including the proposed development at 6-8 Bishopsgate in the 
assessment shows a slight improvement of conditions along 
Bishopsgate particularly around the entrance to the proposed pedestrian 
passageway on Bishopsgate but a worsening along Leadenhall Street. 
Levels here, however, would not exceed ‘leisure walking’ in the windiest 
season. 

286. In conclusion the main wind effect of the proposed development would 
be to channel some of the prevailing south-westerly wind down to the 
ground increasing the windiness to the north of the site. With the 
proposed mitigation measures in place the assessment shows that wind 
would be diverted at high level before reaching the ground and at no 
point around the building or in the immediately surrounding area would 
the building cause conditions to exceed 'leisure walking' criteria. In the 
summer, conditions would be primarily 'sitting' or 'standing/entrance'. 
The results confirm that the proposed development would have some 
adverse impact but not such as to cause unacceptable harm to 
pedestrian level wind conditions which would remain at a level suitable 
for the urban environment in which the development is situated. 

287. The separate verification assessment described at para 268 gives 
results which are in line with these results. 

Daylight and Sunlight 
288. An assessment of the impact of the development on daylight and 

sunlight to surrounding buildings has been undertaken in accordance 
with the Building Research Establishment (BRE) Guidelines and 
considered having regard to Policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the London Plan and 
DM 10.7 of the Local Plan. While the assessment has been carried out 
for all the surrounding buildings including commercial offices, only those 
considered as sensitive in terms of daylight and sunlight (15 in total) are 
evaluated in this report. These include residential properties at 
Wormwood Street and Creechurch Lane, (the nearest residential 
property at 50 Bishopsgate does not have windows that face the site and 
therefore would not be effected) and other sensitive sites such as the 
Church of St Helen’s, St Andrew Undershaft Church, Drapers’ Hall, 
Merchant Taylors’ Hall, 19 Old Broad Street (City of London Club) and 
Gibson Hall, 15 Bishopsgate. 

289. The assessment of daylight and sunlight is a comparative one measured 
against the current base conditions. As the site presently comprises 
development at just basement to ground levels and a core structure to 

Page 108



 

9th floor level any impact of the proposed building is likely to be more 
marked than otherwise would be the case. 

Daylight 
290. In terms of impact on daylight the assessment shows that for 9 of the 15 

properties identified as being sensitive the effect of the proposed 
development would be within BRE criteria and thus have a negligible 
impact. Of the remaining 6 properties, 2 (20-21 Wormwood Street and 
18-20 Creechurch Lane) have residential accommodation at first floor 
and above with commercial at ground level. While the impact on the 
ground floor commercial element of the two buildings would exceed the 
BRE criteria, the impact on the residential floors above would be within 
the criteria and daylight would not be noticeably reduced. The overall 
effect on residential amenity would be negligible. 

291. The remaining 4 properties that would experience noticeable reductions 
in daylight would be the Church of St Helen’s Bishopsgate, Gibson Hall, 
St Andrew Undershaft Church and 19 Old Broad Street. 

292. For the Church of St Helens the impact is regarded as moderate 
adverse; 26 windows out of 39 would experience noticeable losses of 
VSC and 4 rooms out of 12 would experience a noticeable reduction in 
NSL. These results are partly because the existing VSC levels are low 
meaning any alteration results in a disproportionate percentage change; 
those rooms affected by the reduction in NSL appear to be ancillary 
rooms to the main Church and not as sensitive in terms of daylight.  

293. The impact on Gibson Hall would be moderate adverse. 46 of 61 
windows would experience more than 40% reduction in VSC and 11 of 
22 rooms would experience reductions in NSL above 20% although the 
report identifies the majority of affected rooms as offices and lobbies.  

294. For St Andrews Church the impact is regarded as negligible as just one 
room (a kitchen) would experience a noticeable impact. 

295. The impact on 19 Old Broad Street would be minor adverse. 23 of 27 
windows would experience more than 20% reduction in VSC and 4 of 11 
rooms would experience reductions of more than 40% in NSL. The 
report states that the impacted rooms and windows experience existing 
low levels (some are courtyard windows) and so the loss reflects a 
disproportionate percentage change.  

296. The results show the development impact would have a particularly 
adverse effect on St Helen’s Church and Gibson Hall as a number of 
windows and rooms would experience reductions beyond BRE 
recommended criteria. At St Helen’s Church the spaces affected are 
predominantly areas ancillary to the main body of the Church; the main 
space would continue to enjoy light from south and east facing windows 
which would not affected by the development. Similarly the main hall in 
Gibson Hall has a number of windows facing different directions. In 
conclusion although not compliant with BRE recommendations the 
proposal is not considered to have such an effect as to cause 
unacceptable harm. 

Page 109



 

297. In considering the impact on daylight to the Church of St Helen’s and 
Gibson Hall the extent of impact caused by the proposed scheme would 
be slightly greater but not significantly different from that caused by the 
extant scheme. 

Sunlight 
298. Eight properties have been identified as being sensitive in terms of 

sunlight. Of these four (all non-residential) would experience impacts 
ranging from minor to moderate adverse. 

299. Most affected would be the Church of St Helens and Gibson Hall both 
due to their proximity to the development site. 18 of 33 windows at St 
Helen’s Church would experience significant reductions in sunlight. As 
many of the affected windows are to the principal internal space, a 
further assessment was made of the sunlight to the space as a whole. 
An annual APSH of at least 18% would be retained which, while lower 
than the 25% BRE minimum criteria, could be considered commensurate 
with its City centre location. At Gibson Hall 40 of 61 windows would be 
significantly impacted, most of which are to offices and circulation space. 

300. 6 upper level windows at Drapers Hall would experience a noticeable 
reduction in sunlight as would 7 windows at 19 Old Broad Street at the 
lower level on the courtyard. This is assessed as having a minor adverse 
impact. 

301. In conclusion the proposed development would not cause unacceptable 
harm to daylight and sunlight levels to the majority of those properties 
identified as sensitive and the impact on residential properties would be 
acceptable. There would be instances of minor to moderate adverse 
effects to some non-residential buildings as outlined above which would 
be a breach of policy that tall buildings should not affect their 
surroundings adversely. The breach is largely caused by the proximity of 
the buildings to the development site; this is not uncommon in a densely 
developed area such as the City where a number of properties 
experience daylight and sunlight levels below recommended BRE 
Guidelines.  

302. The assessment shows that the present scheme would have a greater 
impact on daylight and sunlight than the ‘Pinnacle’ scheme but in terms 
of daylight and sunlight to the 15 identified sensitive buildings the 
development would not result in significant additional adverse impact.  

Transient Overshadowing 
303. The assessment of the impact of transient overshadowing was 

undertaken according to the BRE Guidelines in respect of several key 
amenity areas identified in proximity to the site and considered having 
regard to Policies 7.6 and 7.7 of the London Plan. 

304. The assessment shows that in the existing situation much of the City is 
in shadow for long periods of the day due to the existing surrounding 
buildings. 

305. On March 21st the development would cast a shadow at 10am on part of 
Finsbury Circus and between 1pm and 2pm on St Botolph Bishopsgate 

Page 110



 

Churchyard but would not cause additional overshadowing to other 
public amenity areas at Royal Exchange Buildings, City of London Club 
courtyard, St Helen’s Churchyard, or to open areas at the base of 30 St 
Mary Axe and 1 Undershaft. 

306. On June 21st the shadows are shorter in length; of the areas assessed 
above, St Helen’s Churchyard and the public amenity areas around the 
Church would be affected by additional overshadowing between 2pm to 
5pm and the area at the base of 30 St Mary Axe between 5pm and 7pm. 

307. On December 21st there would be a marginal increase in overshadowing 
at St Botolph Churchyard but at none of the other areas. 

308. Due to the proximity of St Helen’s Churchyard to the development site 
the shadow cast over the Churchyard would cause harm to the amenity 
of that space and potentially to the two plane trees in the Churchyard. 
Mitigation would be sought through the S106 agreement for funds to 
carry out environmental improvements to the Churchyard. 

309. Elsewhere in the City the overall assessment of the impact of transient 
overshadowing caused by the proposed development is considered to 
be minor adverse and would not cause unacceptable harm to the 
surrounding areas already largely overshadowed by existing buildings. 

310. The comparison of the effects of transient overshadowing between the 
proposed and implemented ‘Pinnacle’ scheme shows there is little 
difference in the level of impact between the two schemes. 

Light Pollution 
311. The impact of light pollution has been considered in respect of the effect 

on 36 Great St Helens, a hotel in the immediate vicinity of the site. The 
assessment finds that while the impact during the day would be within 
acceptable levels, it is likely that levels would exceed recommended 
criteria after 11pm. This is due largely to the close proximity of the hotel 
to the proposed development. In mitigation light sensors would be used 
in the proposed development meaning light pollution would be 
significantly decreased at night-time; it is likely that the hotel would use 
thick curtains or blackout blinds, a common practice in inner City hotels. 

Solar Glare 
312. The potential for reflected solar glare or dazzle has been assessed 

particularly in relation to road safety and to the visual impact of glare 
from the building in long views from the west. 

313. Assessments have been taken at nineteen potentially sensitive 
viewpoints for road users and pedestrians surrounding the site. These 
are generally signalled road junctions and pedestrian crossings.  

314. The assessment shows that the impact from solar glare would be minor 
to moderate adverse from 5 locations to the north of the site on 
Bishopsgate. Solar glare would be experienced during the late 
afternoon, early evening (approximately 4pm to 6pm) during the summer 
months. The assessment states that the presence of alternative sets of 

Page 111



 

lights at the junctions and the use of a sun visor would lessen although 
not remove the detrimental impact. 

315. Moderate adverse effects are also identified at the junction of 
Bishopsgate with Cornhill looking north towards the site where glare 
would occur in January to March and August to November between 1pm 
and 3pm and from Threadneedle Street where solar glare would occur in 
February to April from 4pm. 

316. A further twelve instances of minor adverse impacts are identified. 
317. The solar glare assessment concludes that the development would 

result in minor to moderate adverse impacts at certain times of the year 
at the 19 locations although these assume a worst case scenario 
whereby the sun shines all the time. Many of the instances of reflection 
occur in the evening period during which, the report states, the 
probability that the sun is shining is reduced to 10%. 

318. In order to verify the assessment of the extent of the impact at street 
level and to inform the type and extent of measures which might be 
necessary to mitigate this impact,  it is proposed that an independent 
solar glare assessment is required to be undertaken prior to any 
construction works above ground being carried out. This requirement 
would be included in the S106 agreement as well as the developers’ 
obligation to undertake the necessary mitigation works. 

319. The impact of solar reflections on longer distance views from St James’ 
Park and Waterloo Bridge has been assessed. From St James’ Park the 
development would be largely obscured by trees and not significantly 
visible. From Waterloo Bridge solar reflection would be visible from 8am 
to 9am but would not have a dissimilar effect to reflections from other 
surrounding buildings. 

320. Solar convergence would not arise from the proposed design. 
Energy and Sustainability 
321. The NPPF, London Plan and the Local Plan seek to ensure that 

sustainability is integrated into designs for all development. 
322. A sustainability statement has been produced to demonstrate that the 

proposed development has been designed to take into account the likely 
impacts of climate change, that the materials specification would follow 
principles of lean design and use of environmentally friendly and 
responsibly sourced materials, that waste reduction measures would be 
incorporated, that pollution would be minimised, that sustainable travel 
methods would be promoted and that the design of the development 
would be guided by the health and wellbeing standard WELL. 

Energy consumption 
323. The London Plan requires an assessment of energy demand that 

demonstrates the steps taken to apply the Mayor’s energy hierarchy to 
achieve the reduction of energy consumption within buildings and to use 
renewable energy sources. London Plan policy requires non-domestic 
buildings to achieve a 35% carbon emissions reduction over Part L 

Page 112



 

(2013) of the Building Regulations. Policy CS15 of the Local Plan 
supports this approach. 

324. Energy consumption reduction would be achieved by a number of 
building design features and the use of energy efficient building services 
plant. The development would feature a Closed Cavity Facade (CCF); 
this is a low maintenance double skin facade with a single layer of glass 
outside a double glazed unit and a retractable blind in the cavity. The 
blinds would automatically lower or raise in response to outside 
conditions. This design achieves improved energy performance, high 
acoustic performance and increased protection from solar heat gains 
and losses. In addition high performance building services are proposed 
including high efficiency air handling units, low energy lighting and use of 
light sensors. A Combined Heat and Power (CHP) hot water system is 
proposed which would meet 60% of the building’s annual heating 
demand, with the remaining 40% supplied by gas fired boilers. 

325. It is not currently feasible to serve the development from the Citigen 
district heating network as connection to the system would require new 
distribution pipework which would be prohibitively costly and disruptive. 
The energy centre at the development would be designed for future 
connection into an expanded Citigen or other network in the future, 
should it become feasible. 

326. The reduction in regulated carbon emissions following the energy 
demand reduction and with the proposed energy efficient measures in 
place would be 35%, in compliance with London Plan policy. 

327. Renewable energy technologies were assessed for use on the site but 
were found to be either not feasible or not significantly productive for use 
at the proposed development. 

BREEAM 
328. A preliminary BREEAM pre-assessment has been carried out which 

indicates that the building would achieve an ‘excellent’ rating with the 
potential to achieve additional credits above this. Areas which would be 
targeted to achieve further credits include water consumption, surface 
water run-off and site ecology. 

Water Management 
329. The site is not in the City flood risk area but a Flood Risk Assessment 

has been carried out in accordance with Local Plan policy CS18 for 
major developments. There is no scope for infiltration within the site 
curtilage so surface water would be discharged into the combined public 
sewer. The scheme, including flow rates, has been agreed by the 
Environment Agency and Thames Water subject to the provision of a 
device to prevent backflow into the sewer (should the sewer become 
surcharged) and to minimise groundwater discharges into the sewer. 
Two rainwater attenuation tanks and a green roof are proposed to 
reduce and control the load on the sewer network and to alleviate flood 
risk. 

Page 113



 

330. A number of matters of detail and details of a maintenance regime will 
be sought by planning condition. 

Air Quality 
331. The EIA includes an assessment of the likely changes in air quality as a 

result of the construction and operational phases of the development 
and has been considered having regard to Policies 7.14 of the London 
Plan and CS15 of the Local Plan. 

332. During construction (predicted to be around 35 months) dust emissions 
would increase and would require control through the implementation of 
good practice mitigation measures in the Construction Method 
Statements to be approved under conditions attached to the planning 
permission. 

333. The report states that the number of additional vehicles and access to 
the site during the construction phase would be controlled from a 
consolidation centre (in accordance with Construction Logistics Plans to 
be approved) and the overall impact would not be considered sufficient 
to cause a significant adverse effect at any of the nearby local air quality 
receptors. 

334. For the completed scheme the assessment predicts that the effect on air 
quality due to the increase in air pollutants from road traffic and 
CHP/boiler emissions would be negligible; the air quality neutral 
assessment concludes that the proposed development would be ‘air 
quality neutral’ in terms of transport and building emissions in 
compliance with Development Plan requirements. 

Noise and Vibration 
335. The EIA assesses the impact from noise and vibration on the 

surrounding area and in particular in relation to noise sensitive receptors 
around the site such as the Church of St Helen’s, St Andrew’s 
Undershaft, residential premises in Bishopsgate and the hotel in Great 
St Helens. The assessment has been considered having regard to 
policies 7.15 of the London Plan and DM15.7 of the Local Plan. 

336. In most City redevelopment schemes most noise and vibration issues 
occur during demolition and early construction phases. Much of this work 
has already been carried out under previous permissions. Noise and 
vibration mitigation, including control over working hours and types of 
equipment to be used, would be included in a Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan to be approved under conditions. 

337. The impact on noise levels from traffic during the construction phase 
would be most noticeable in St Mary Axe and Undershaft where the 
impact is predicted to be minor adverse. Similarly during the operational 
phase of the development increased noise levels from traffic would have 
a minor adverse impact in St Mary Axe and Undershaft but a negligible 
impact on other surrounding streets. 

338. Undershaft is primarily used as an access / egress route for service 
vehicles. The increase in service vehicles as a result of this development 
would have a minor adverse impact on noise levels. The number of and 

Page 114



 

timing of service deliveries which would include night time servicing 
would be controlled through the proposed delivery and servicing 
arrangements,  in order to ensure that the increase in vehicles does not 
cause unacceptable harm to the surrounding area. 

339. Noise levels from mechanical plant in the completed development would 
need to comply with the City of London’s standard requirement that there 
would be no increase in background noise levels and approved under 
planning conditions to ensure there would not be an adverse effect on 
the surrounding area. 

340. The impacts on noise and vibration would be managed through 
conditions and provisions in the S106 agreement to control any adverse 
effects. 

Television and Radio (Electronic Interference) 
341. The Environmental Statement shows that the development would throw 

a terrestrial television shadow northwards in the area covered by 
transmission from Crystal Palace and a satellite shadow to the north 
west of the site. However the shadows which would be attributable to 
this development coincide with shadows already cast by existing 
developments, most notably Tower 42 and 5 Broadgate. No dwellings 
have been identified in the small additional predicted shadow areas that 
this development would impact on and therefore the development is 
assessed as having no effect on terrestrial and satellite reception to 
residential properties. 

342. The Environmental Statement also concluded that due to the nature and 
behaviour of radio use signals the completed development would not 
affect radio reception. 

Archaeology 
343. The below ground impact and foundation design of the proposed 

scheme raise no new archaeological issues. 
344. A programme of archaeological work was approved under the previous 

planning permission and archaeological excavation has been carried out 
on site. The results of this work have added valuable knowledge of the 
Roman occupation and activity in this area and about Crosby Place, a 
large house which occupied the site in the 15th -17th centuries  until its 
removal and rebuilding in Chelsea in 1908. 

345. The post excavation assessment and analysis has been completed and 
details of the proposed publication and archiving have been submitted. 
In accordance with Development Plan policy. 

Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy 
346. Under Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 an 

agreement or planning obligation can be made between a person 
interested in the land, usually the developer, and the local authority, or a 
unilateral undertaking can be submitted by a person interested in the 
land: 

 restricting the development or use of land in any specified way; 

Page 115



 

 requiring specified operations or activities to be carried out in, on or 
under or over the land; 

 requiring the land to be used in any specified way; or 

 requiring a sum or sums to be paid to the authority on a specified 
date or dates or periodically. 

347. Planning obligation arrangements were modified by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 as amended (‘the CIL 
Regulations’). The Regulations introduce statutory restrictions on the use 
of planning obligations to clarify their proper purpose, and make 
provision for planning obligations to work alongside any Community 
Infrastructure Levy (‘CIL’) arrangements which local planning authorities 
may elect to adopt. 

348. Regulation 122 states that it is unlawful for a planning obligation to 
constitute a reason to grant planning permission when determining a 
planning application if the obligation does not meet all the following tests: 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 directly related to the development; and 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development 
349. Regulation 123 states that a planning obligation may not constitute a 

reason to grant planning permission to the extent that it provides funding 
for infrastructure included in the regulation “Regulation 123” list as the 
type of infrastructure on what CIL will be spent on. 

350. The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) stated that 
planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to 
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. The policy 
repeated the CIL Regulation tests set out above and states that where 
planning obligations are being sought or revised, local planning 
authorities should take account of changes in market conditions over 
time and, wherever appropriate, be sufficiently flexible to prevent 
planned development being stalled. (NPPF paragraphs 203-206). 

Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)  
351. London Plan Policy 8.3 requires the Mayoral CIL to be paid by 

developers to help fund strategically important infrastructure, initially 
focussing on Crossrail until 2019. The Mayor has set a charge of £50 per 
sq.m and this applies to all development over 100sq.m (GIA) except 
social housing, education related development, health related 
development and development for charities for charitable purposes.  

Mayoral Planning Obligations 
352. Since April 2010 the Mayor of London has sought contributions towards 

the cost of funding Crossrail through the negotiation of planning 
obligations in accordance with London Plan Policy 6.5. Mayoral planning 
obligations are payable by developers according to an indicative level of 
charges for specific uses set out in the Mayoral SPG (April 2013): offices 

Page 116



 

(£140 per sq.m net gain in GIA floorspace), retail (£90) and hotels (£61) 
provided there is a net gain of 500sq.m.  

353. Developments liable for both Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning 
obligations payments for Crossrail will not be double charged. The 
Mayor will treat the CIL liability as a credit towards Mayoral planning 
obligation contribution. Therefore the Mayoral planning obligation liability 
can be reduced by the Mayoral CIL.  

354. At the time of preparing this report the Mayoral CIL has been calculated 
to be £9,769,700. The full Mayoral planning obligation has been 
calculated to be £26,481,990. This would be reduced to £16,712,290 
after deduction of the Mayoral CIL. It should be noted that these figures 
may be subject to change should there be a variation in the CIL liability 
at the point of payment and should therefore only be taken as indicative 
at this point. 

355. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 4% of the 
Mayoral CIL income as an administration fee; the remainder will be 
forwarded to the Mayor of London. The whole of the Mayoral planning 
obligation received will be forwarded to the Mayor. However, the 
developer will also be liable to pay an additional £3,500 Mayoral 
administration and monitoring charge to the City Corporation. The total 
contributions due in accordance with the Mayoral CIL and Mayoral 
planning obligation policies are summarised below:   

Liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

Contribution 
£ 

Forwarded 
to the 
Mayor 

Retained by 
City 

Corporation 

Mayoral 
Community 
Infrastructure 
Levy payable 

9,769,700 9,378,912 390,788 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation net 
liability* 

16,712,290 16,712,290 Nil 

Mayoral 
planning 
obligation 
administration 
and monitoring 
charge 

3,500 Nil 3,500 

Total liability in 
accordance 
with the Mayor 
of London’s 
policies 

26,485,490 29,091,202 394,288 

Page 117



 

*Net liability is on the basis of the CIL charge remaining as reported 
and could be subject to variation. 

City CIL  
356. The City introduced its CIL on 1st July 2014 chargeable in addition to the 

Mayoral CIL and Mayoral planning obligations. CIL is charged at a rate 
of £75 per sqm for Offices and £75 for all other uses. At the time of 
preparing this report the City CIL has been calculated to be £14,654,550. 
It should be noted that these figures may be subject to change should 
there be a variation in the CIL liability at the point of payment and should 
therefore only be taken as indicative figures at this point. 

357. Under the CIL regulations the City Corporation is able to retain 5% of the 
CIL income as an administration fee. The contributions collected will be 
used to fund the infrastructure required to meet the requirements of the 
City’s Development Plan.  

City S106 Planning Obligations 
358. On 1 July 2014 the City’s Supplementary Planning Document on 

Planning Obligations was adopted. City Planning Obligations would be 
payable by developers in accordance with the Planning Obligations SPD 
on new commercial developments where there is a net increase of 
500sq.m or more of Gross Internal Area. The policy seeks contributions 
towards Affordable Housing (£20 per sq.m), Local Training, Skills and 
Job Brokerage (£3 per sq.m) and Carbon Offsetting (£60 per tonne of 
carbon offset).  

359. The section 106 agreement would normally follow the agreement 
template available on the City of London website. 

360. In this case the proposed net increase in floorspace would be 
195,394sq.m. On the basis of the figure indicated in the Supplementary 
Planning Document, the planning obligation figure would be £4,494,062. 
It is the City’s practice that all financial contributions be index-linked with 
reference to the appropriate index from the date of adoption of the City’s 
SPD to the date planning permission was granted.  

361. The applicant has agreed a breakdown which accords with the 
Supplementary Planning Document as follows: 

Liability in accordance 
with the City of 

London’s policies 

Contribution  
£ 

Available for 
Allocation 

£ 

Retained for 
Administration 
and Monitoring 

£ 
City Community 
Infrastructure Levy  

14,654,550 13,921,823 732,727.50 

City Planning Obligation 
Affordable Housing 

3,907,880 3,868,801 39,078.80 

City Planning Obligation 
Local, Training, Skills 
and Job Brokerage 

586,182 580,320 5,861.82 

Page 118



 

City Planning Obligation 
Non-Financial Monitoring 
Charge 

3,250 Nil 3,250 

Total liability in 
accordance with the 
City of London’s 
policies 

19,152,862 18,370,944 781,918 

 
362. I have set out below the details that I am recommending concerning the 

planning obligations. All of the proposals are considered to be necessary 
to make the application acceptable in planning terms, directly related to 
the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development and meet the above tests contained in the CIL 
Regulations and in government policy. I would also request that I be 
given delegated authority to continue to negotiate and agree the terms of 
the proposed obligations as necessary. 

363. The City Corporation will credit the affordable housing contribution and 
local training skills and job brokerage contribution made under the 
permitted scheme towards the same contributions due under the 
proposed scheme. The proposed scheme is broadly similar in land use 
to that of the permitted scheme and the contributions due under the 
proposed scheme are to account for the uplift in floorspace over the 
permitted scheme. 

Affordable Housing Contribution 
364. The Affordable Housing contribution will be used for the purpose of off-

site provision of affordable housing in suitable locations in or near to the 
City of London in accordance with the London Plan. An affordable 
housing contribution of £2,356,706 was paid prior to implementation of 
the permitted scheme (06/01123/FULEIA). The affordable housing 
contribution due under the proposed scheme will be deducted by the 
amount of £2,356,706. The applicant will be required to pay this 
contribution on or before the implementation of the planning permission. 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Contribution 
365. The Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage contribution will be applied 

to the provision of training and skills initiatives, including job brokerage, 
in the City or City fringes. A Local Training Skills and Job Brokerage 
Contribution £392,784 was paid prior to implementation of the permitted 
scheme (06/01123/FULEIA). The Local Training Skills and Job 
Brokerage Contribution due under the new proposed scheme will be 
deducted by the amount of £392,784.  

Highways Reparation and other Highways Obligations  
366. The cost of any reparation works required as a result of the development 

will be the responsibility of the Developer. 
367. It will be necessary for the Developer to enter into a Section 278 

agreement prior to implementation of the development, with the City of 
London, Transport for London and any other relevant parties to carry 

Page 119



 

works to the public highway and the Transport for London Road 
Network. All works will be at the cost of the Developer and will be 
required to mitigate the impact of the development. 

 
368. The proposed works which will need to be undertaken as part of the 

Section 278 agreement will include (but not limited to) Crosby Square 
Works, new pedestrian crossings, institution of a loading and unloading 
prohibition on Undershaft, the capital costs of closed circuit television 
(CCTV) camera to allow this prohibition to be efficiently enforces and 
other works necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms.  

Crosby Square Works 
369. The Developer will be required to submit detailed drawings and 

specifications to the City Corporation for approval which are to be 
subject of a Section 278 agreement which shall include details of 
maintenance of Crosby Square.  

Counter-Terrorism 
370. In line with policy CS3 of the Local Plan, there would be an obligation for 

the Developer to pay the costs towards implementing any necessary 
security measures to enhance the security of the development and the 
wider area (particularly Undershaft). The City Corporation has requested 
a security assessment to be carried out by the City of London Police 
Counter Terrorism Security Advisor (CTSA) to assess the security 
impacts of the Development and its impacts on the wider area (in 
particular Undershaft). Should the outcome of the security assessment 
recommend or require alterations to, and additional infrastructure on the 
highway for the purposes of counter terrorism and security, the 
developer will need to enter into a separate section 278 agreement prior 
to implementation of the development (unless the City confirms that no 
Security S278 agreement is required). The S278 agreement would need 
to secure details of any highway adjustments and new security 
infrastructure, any traffic orders required to authorise its installation, its 
maintenance and management by the City and the City of London 
Police. 

Cycle Hire Contribution 
371. Transport for London has sought a contribution of £213,408 to mitigate 

the impact on existing local docking stations as a result of the number of 
new people coming to and from the proposed development. The 
contribution shall be used towards the additional demand for 
maintenance and redistribution of bicycles to and from docking stations 
in the immediate vicinity of the development. The developer will be 
required to pay this contribution prior to implementation of the planning 
permission. 

Delivery and Servicing Management Plan  
372. The developer would be required to submit for approval a Delivery and 

Servicing Management Plan prior to occupation, and to adhere to the 

Page 120



 

plan as approved. The plan will be required to include details of the 
freight consolidation operation and centre and the delivery booking and 
management system that are needed to achieve compliance with the 
maximum delivery numbers required by the planning obligation. In the 
event of any breach of the Management Plan, the developer will be 
required to resubmit a revised document, and should the developer 
default on this requirement, the City will be given the ability to provide a 
replacement plan. The operation of the Delivery and Servicing 
Management Plan will be subject to an annual review.  

373. To ensure that the adverse impacts of servicing vehicles are reduced to 
an acceptable level, and in particular to a level that the five proposed 
servicing bays and two vehicle lifts will cope with, the development will 
require the following to be secured in the S106 agreement.  

374. The total number of consolidated and unconsolidated deliveries shall not 
exceed 202 deliveries per day, of which a maximum of 20 deliveries per 
day may be unconsolidated, but no more than 70 unconsolidated 
deliveries in total a week.  

375. The development shall only receive deliveries from vehicles, other than 
the 70 unconsolidated deliveries per week, which have travelled from a 
consolidation centre. 

376. The deliveries will need to be managed to ensure all deliveries including 
the 70 unconsolidated deliveries have pre-booked slots and only 
vehicles delivering the 70 unconsolidated deliveries shall arrive at the 
building without being pre-screened. 

377. All occupiers are required not to accept any deliveries to the site except 
from vehicles parked in the servicing area constructed for this purpose in 
basement level 3 or from solo motor cycles in the solo motor cycle 
servicing area provided for this purpose within the curtilage of the site or 
from pedal cycles or from pedestrians. 

378. The developer or any occupiers shall not be permitted to bring into the 
building or the curtilage of the building, nor permit or allow to be brought 
into the building or the curtilage of the building on any day, other than a 
Saturday or a Sunday or a public holiday or a bank holiday, more than 
24 motor vehicles in total, other than solo motor cycles between 1000 
hours and 1200 hours, nor more than 24 motor vehicles in total other 
than solo motor cycles between 1400 hours and 1700 hours;  nor more 
than 154 motor vehicles other than solo motor cycles between 1900 
hours and 0600 hours.  

379. Between 1000 hours and 1900 hours no more than 10 deliveries per 
hour during the permitted times between 1000 hours and 1200 hours, 
1400 hours and 1700 hours shall be permitted. Between 1900 hours and 
0600 hours no more than 14 deliveries per hour shall be permitted 

380. The developer shall not be permitted to bring into the building or the 
curtilage of the building, nor permit or allow to be brought into the 
building or the curtilage of the building, on any day other than a Saturday 
or a Sunday or a public holiday or a bank holiday, any motor vehicle 
other than solo motor cycles between 0600 hours and 1000 hours and 

Page 121



 

between 1200 hours and 1400 hours and between 1700 hours and 1900 
hours. 

381. TfL would encourage the applicant to commit to all vehicles travelling 
between the consolidation centre and the site to be FORS Silver 
accredited. 

Pedestrian route from Bishopsgate to Crosby Square 
382. The pedestrian route from Bishopsgate to Crosby Square will provide 

access for the general public 24 hours a day, seven days a week, prior 
to occupation of the development. The Developers may temporarily 
restrict or limit access only for reasons of maintenance, repair or 
renewal, security, closure of the route for one day each year (Christmas 
Day) in order to prevent public rights of way coming into being.  

Travel Plan 
383. The developer would be required to submit both interim and full Travel 

Plans prior to occupation and six months after occupation respectively. 
The obligations in relation to this shall apply for the life of the building 

Local Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy  
384. The applicant will be required to submit for approval details of the Local 

Training, Skills and Job Brokerage Strategy in line with the aims of the 
City Corporation’s Employment Charter for Construction. This Charter 
aims to maximise job opportunities in the City for residents of the City 
fringes and offer employment and training opportunities to local people 
wishing to begin a career in construction. The Strategy will need to be 
submitted prior to Implementation of the development.  

Local Procurement 
385. The applicant will be required to submit for approval a Local 

Procurement Strategy prior to implementation. The Local Procurement 
Strategy shall include details of: initiatives to identify local procurement 
opportunities relating to the construction of the development; initiatives 
to reach a 10% target for local procurement, from small to medium sized 
enterprises in the City and City fringes; the timings and arrangements for 
the implementation of such initiatives; and suitable mechanisms for the 
monitoring of the effectiveness of such initiatives e.g. a local 
procurement tracker can be used to capture this information. 

386. The developer will be required at the 6 month stage, or half way through 
the project (whichever is earliest), to report to the City of London 
Corporation’s Economic Development Office on their performance 
against the 10% local procurement target. 

387. The Economic Development Officer is able to provide information and 
guidance to the Developer its Contractor and Sub-Contractors. The 
Developer is encouraged to liaise with the Economic Development 
Officer at the earliest stage in the development process in order that the 
strategy can be submitted prior to implementation 

Page 122



 

Viewing Gallery 
388. A public viewing gallery will be located on level 58 with a mezzanine 

floor (58M). The Viewing Gallery will be accessible by the public free of 
charge, during opening hours and will accommodate no less than 294 
people (including staff) at any one time during public opening hours. The 
Viewing Gallery will be served by its own entrance and lobby at ground 
floor level, off the new pedestrian route from Bishopsgate to Crosby 
Square. The reception will comprise necessary security and an escalator 
which will take visitors to level 1, where they will enter a queuing area to 
access the main double decker lifts which will take visitors to level 58M. 
There will be 2 dedicated double decker shuttle lifts taking visitors from 
Level 1 to the Viewing Gallery at Level 58M.  

389. No part of the development shall be occupied until the viewing gallery 
has been completed to shell and core and including fully operational lifts; 
(ii) the restaurant shall not be occupied until the viewing gallery is made 
available for public access; (iii) no more than 35% of the office space 
shall be occupied until the viewing gallery has been made available for 
public access. These provisions are still being discussed with the 
applicants and will be secured in the S106 agreement. 

390. Access to the Viewing Gallery will be via a booking system on a 
dedicated website and visitors will be able to book to access the Viewing 
Gallery prior to arrival. Office tenants will need to book via the dedicated 
website and access the Viewing Gallery from the ground floor entrance 
lobby in the same ways as all visitors.  

391. The Viewing Gallery will be open to the public between the hours of 
1000-1800 on weekdays, 1000-1700 on Saturdays and 1000-1600 on 
Sundays, Public Holidays and Bank Holidays [including Christmas Day, 
Boxing Day, New Year’s Day, Good Friday and Easter Sunday] except in 
the circumstances of Force Majeure and to accommodate maintenance 
(which shall not be for more than 48 hours in any 8 week period). 

392. The Viewing Gallery can be closed for private events or functions during 
the opening hours, provided there are no more than 7 instances, with 
each instance to be no longer than 12 hours per calendar year. Private 
closures days will not be permitted during times of public access without 
prior written approval from the City of London. The Developer will need 
to notify the City Corporation of any closure for maintenance prior to the 
closure, or if that is not practicable, as soon as reasonably practicable 
immediately after closure for maintenance.  

393. Outside the hours when the Viewing Gallery is open to the public, the 
accommodation would be used for Class A3/A4 purposes with 
occasional hiring for private events.  

Viewing Gallery Management Plan 
394. A viewing gallery management plan will be secured as part of the S106 

agreement with the City Corporation. The plan will make provision for, 
but is not limited to, such matters as booking procedure, safety and 
security, management, staffing and access. 

Page 123



 

St Helen’s Bishopsgate Churchyard Improvements 
395. The Church of St Helen’s Bishopsgate has raised concerns about 

increased overshadowing in St Helen’s Churchyard, and the impact this 
will have on the quality of the open space. The City seeks a financial 
contribution from the developer towards site specific mitigation, in order 
to mitigate the impact of the development for enhancement works to the 
St Helen’s Bishopsgate Churchyard  to include (but not limited to) new 
hard and soft landscaping, improved disabled access and additional 
seating and any necessary maintenance costs associated with the 
works. 
Solar Glare 

396. In order to verify the assessment of the potential impact at street level 
and to inform the type and extent of measures necessary to mitigate this 
impact, an independent solar glare assessment is required to be carried 
out prior to any works above ground being carried out. The developer 
will be required to pay any costs incurred for an independent audit of the 
solar glare assessment. In the event that the solar glare assessment 
reveals that the development has material adverse impacts, the 
developer shall undertake to implement any mitigation measures. The 
developer shall secure any necessary consents and permission prior to 
carrying out the mitigation measures.  

Carbon Offsetting 
397. The London Plan sets a target for major developments to achieve an 

overall carbon dioxide emission reduction of 40% (over the 2010 
Building Regulations) or 35% reduction (over the 2013 Building 
Regulations) from 2013-2016. The submitted energy statement 
demonstrates that the development is designed to achieve a 35% 
reduction in carbon emissions.  

398. A detailed post construction assessment will be required. If the 
assessment demonstrates that the target is not met on site the applicant 
will be required to meet the shortfall through cash in lieu contribution. 
The contribution will be secured through the section 106 agreement at 
an initial cost of £60 per tonne of carbon to be offset, calculated over a 
30 year period. The financial contribution for carbon off-setting will be 
required on Completion prior to occupation of the development.  

Utility Connections 
399. The development will require connection to a range of utility 

infrastructure. Early engagement by the applicant about utilities 
infrastructure provision will allow for proper co-ordination and planning of 
all works required to install the utility infrastructure, particularly under 
public highway, so as to minimise disruption to highway users. A s106 
covenant will therefore require the submission of draft and final 
programmes for ordering and completing service connections from utility 
providers in order that the City's comments can be taken into account, 
and will require that all connections are carried out in accordance with 
the programme. Details of the utility connection requirements of the 
Development including all proposed service connections, communal 

Page 124



 

entry chambers, the proposed service provider and the anticipated 
volume of units required for the Development will also be required. 

TV Reception Survey 
400. The Developer has provided the First Interference Survey for the City 

Corporation. As soon as reasonably practicable following completion the 
developer will be required to undertake the Second Interference Survey 
and shall submit the results to the City for information. If there is a 
significant deterioration in TV and radio reception, then the Developers 
will undertake appropriate mitigation measures. 

Wind Mitigation  
401. If requested by the City within 5 years of completion of the development, 

the Developer shall carry out a Wind Audit and submit the results to the 
City. If required by the City, the developer will pay the City Corporations 
costs for the Audit to be externally verified. In the event that the Wind 
Audit reveals that the Development has material adverse wind effects 
and the City considers that such adverse wind effects are attributable to 
the Development, the Developers shall undertake wind mitigation 
measures. Any measures deemed necessary will be accommodated 
within the site boundary where possible. 

Works to Adjoining Flank Walls 
402. The developer has agreed to carry out and complete works to adapt, re-

face and treat the flank walls to the south-facing elevation of 42-44 
Bishopsgate, the west facing elevation of Great St Helen’s and the north 
facing flank wall of 6-8 Bishopsgate (if the proposed redevelopment 
scheme on this site does not proceed) prior to first occupation of the 
offices, in consultation with all relevant owners of the adjoining 
properties. The cost of any works to the flank walls, securing any 
consents, permissions and approvals shall be the responsibility of the 
developer.  

Monitoring and Administrative Costs 
403. A 10 year repayment period would be required where by any unallocated 

sums would be returned to the developer 10 years after practical 
completion of the development. Some funds may be set aside for future 
maintenance purposes.  

404. The applicant will pay the City of London’s legal costs incurred in the 
negotiation and execution of the legal agreement and the City Planning 
Officer’s administration costs in respect of the same. 1% of the total 
financial contribution (secured under the City’s SPG) will be allocated to 
the monitoring of the agreement and £250 per non-financial head of 
term. 

405. Separate additional administration and monitoring fees will be applied in 
relation to the Crossrail Contribution. 

 

 

Page 125



 

Conclusions 
406. The proposal accords with the strategic objective to ensure that the City 

maintains its position as the world’s leading international financial and 
business centre and with the strategic objective to focus and promote a 
significant increase in office floorspace in the Eastern Cluster. The 
building would be the largest so far proposed in the City and would 
deliver approximately 16% of the additional office floorspace sought in 
Policy CS1 to meet the needs of projected long term economic and 
employment growth. 

407. The development has been designed to accommodate future workstyles 
and workplaces, providing high quality and flexible spaces which 
encourage flexible and collaborative working and the offer of a range of 
complementary facilities for tenants. The building would be designed to 
high sustainability standards. 

408. The design approach is calm and restrained which is appropriate to a 
building of this scale. The proposal’s design would complement other tall 
buildings in the cluster. The scale and height of the proposal is 
appropriate as it would introduce a vertical emphasis to the centre of the 
cluster of towers in key views and would assist in consolidating the 
cluster enhancing its profile on the skyline.  

409. With the development of a cluster of high buildings it is inevitable that 
some distant and local views will change and that the setting of heritage 
assets will be altered. The proposal, due to its scale and height, would 
be visible in a large number of views but, as outlined in the report, would 
not cause harm to these views. 

410. The proposal would not cause harm to views, the setting or the 
significance of the Tower of London World Heritage Site or of St Paul’s 
Cathedral  

411. The development would impact on the setting of a number of designated 
and non- designated heritage assets but would not cause harm to their 
significance or settings and as a result their settings would be preserved. 
The site lies, in part, within the St Helen’s Place Conservation Area. The 
character and appearance of that conservation area would be preserved. 
The existing towers in the cluster provide a striking contrast in scale 
when seen in relation to the historic buildings and areas around them 
and are a defining characteristic of this part of the City.  

412. The scheme would deliver a significant public viewing gallery which 
would be free of charge and would be an important contribution to the 
public benefit of the scheme. 

413. The scheme would make optimal use of the capacity of a site with high 
levels of public transport accessibility and would be car free. 2320 
bicycle spaces with associated facilities would be provided in 
accordance with latest Development Plan standards. The servicing 
logistics strategy which would be incorporated in the Delivery and 
Servicing Management Plan would half the number of service deliveries 
normally expected for a development of this size and would establish a 
welcome approach to servicing for other developments in the City.  

Page 126



 

414. The scheme would result in extra pressure on surrounding footways and 
highways and as part of the City’s work on Future Cities further ways of 
enhancing the pedestrian environment and public realm in the Eastern 
Cluster would be investigated. 

415. The scheme would result in some adverse environmental impacts for 
example on daylight and sunlight and on overshadowing to surrounding 
areas which is a consequence of large scale development. It is not 
considered that the impacts would cause unacceptable harm such as to 
warrant a refusal of planning permission. 

416. The scheme would provide significant benefits through CIL for 
improvements to the public realm and funding for public transport, 
housing and other local facilities and measures. That payment of CIL is a 
local finance consideration which weighs in favour of the scheme. In 
addition to the general there would be site specific measures sought in 
the S106 Agreement. Together these would go some way to mitigate the 
impact of the proposal. 

417. Virtually no major development proposal is in complete compliance with 
all policies and in arriving at a decision it is necessary to assess all the 
policies and proposals in the plan and to come to a view as to whether in 
the light of the whole plan the proposal does or does not accord with it. 

418. In this case I am of the view that the proposal accords with the 
Development Plan as a whole and that having taken other material 
considerations and local finance considerations into account planning 
permission should be granted as set out in the recommendation and the 
schedules attached. 

 
  

Page 127



 

Background Papers 
Internal 
Memo 15.10.2015  Department of Markets and Consumer Protection 
Letters 10.08.2015 and 05.10.2015 - Access Adviser 
External 
Email 29.07.2015 W Chaffin 
E mail 29.07.2015  L Mayne 
E mail 29.07.2015  P Witz 
E mail 02.08.2015  D Lewis 
E mail 02.08.2015  P Walton 
E mail 04.08.2015  Natural England 
E mail 04.08.2015  P Rose 
E mail 06.08.2015  K Wardle 
Letter 12.08.2015  Transport for London 
Letter 14.08.2015  London Borough of Islington 
E mail 18.08.2015  Network Rail 
Letter 20.08.2015  Environment Agency 
E mail 20.08.2015  O Harman 
E mail 21.08.2015  NATS Safeguarding 
Letter rec’d 26.08.2015  City Heritage Society 
E mails 27.08.2015 and 27.10.2015  London City Airport 
Letter 27.08.2015 London Borough of Camden 
Letter 02.09.2015  London Borough of Hackney 
E mail 03.09.2015  DCLG 
E mail and note 04.09.2015  C Treanor 
Letter 04.09.2015  Leathersellers’ Company 
Letter 09.09.2015 and attached report GLA 
Letters 13.08.2015 and 12.10.2015  Historic England 
Letter 14.09.2015  London Borough of Tower Hamlets 
Letters 18.09.2015, 24.09.2015  DP9 
Letter to applicant 23.09.2015 CABE 
E mail 24.09.2015  J Glenday 
E mail 25.09.2015  Thames Water 
E mail 28.09.2015  D Warren 
Letters 28.09.2015 and 04.10.2015  Gordon Ingram Associates 

Page 128



 

E mail 29.09.2015  DP9 
Letter 30.09.2015  Caroe Architecture 
Letter 01.10.2015  Historic Royal Palaces 
Letter 04.10.2015  GIA 
E mail 07.10.2015 WSP 
Letter 12.10.2015  Historic England 
E mail 12.10.2015  DP9 
E mail 13.10.2015 Heathrow 
Letter 15.10.2015  City of Westminster 
Letter 15.10.2015 London Borough of Camden 
E mail 15.10.2015  D O’Reilly 
Letter 20.10.2015  The Royal Parks 
Letter 20.10.2015  Transport for London 
Letter 20.10.2015  Treanor Consulting 
Letter 21.10.2015  Eversheds 
E mail 27.10.2015  S Riches 
E mail 27.10.2015  A Miles 
E mail 26.10.2015  S Taylor 
E mail 27.10.2015  S Dean 
NATS Technical and Operational Assessment 
Letter 28.10.2015  NATS 
E mail and attachments 29.10.2015  WSP 
Letter 03.11.2015  London City Airport 
E mail 04.11.2015  M Rolfe 
Letter TfL  04.11.2015 Transport for London 
 
 

1348-22 Bishopsgate – Cycle Provision Breakdown 
 
Design and Access Statement – PLP Architecture - July 2015 
Design and Access Statement Addendum – PLP Architecture - September 
2015 
Pedestrian and cycle movement assessment – Space Syntax - July 2015 
Pedestrian and cycle movement assessment - Space Syntax – September 
2015 
Construction Management Plan Rev 2– Brookfield Multiplex – October 2015 

Page 129



 

Construction Logistics Plan - Brookfield Multiplex – September 2015 
Revised Servicing Strategy – Wilson James – September 2015 
Environmental Statement Volume 1: main text – AECOM – July 2015 
Transport Assessment – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff – July 2015 
Revised Transport Assessment – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff – September 
2015 
Statement of Community Involvement – Lipton Rogers – July 2015 
Planning Statement –DP9 – July 2015 
Environmental statement: non-technical summary – AECOM – July 2015 
Flood risk, surface and foul water drainage assessment – WSP Parsons 
Brinckerhoff – July 2015 
Energy Statement – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff – July 2015 
Sustainability Statement – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff – July 2015 
BREEAM Pre-assessment Report – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff – July 2015 
Security Strategy outline – 1348-SK-0121 
Stopping-up of Highways Plan SK51 rev B 
Transient Overshadowing Assessment – Gordon Ingram Associates - 05 
October 2015 
Waste management Strategy – WSP Parsons Brinckerhoff - September 2015 
22 Bishopsgate Proposed Servicing Plan – Wilson James – 7 October 2015 

Crosby Square Document Pages 1-13 PLP Architecture – October 2015 

Description of Wind Mitigation Measures – PLP Architecture - 7 October 2015 

Letter 12.10.15 and figs 1 and 2 - RDWI  

Stopping Up Public Highways Plan SK-51 rev C 

Document WRC1-A0064  Wirth Research  22.10.2015 

London Views Management Framework 

  

Page 130



 

Appendix A 
London Plan Policies 
The London Plan policies which are most relevant to this application are set 
our below:  
Policy 2.10  Enhance and promote the unique international, national and 
London wide roles of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) and as a strategically 
important, globally-oriented financial and business services centre. 
Policy 2.11  Ensure that developments proposals to increase office 
floorspace within CAZ include a mix of uses including housing, unless such a 
mix would demonstrably conflict with other policies in the plan. 
Policy 2.18  Protect, promote, expand and manage the extent and quality of 
and access to London’s network of green infrastructure. 
Policy 3.1  Protect and enhance facilities and services that meet the needs 
of particular groups and communities. 
Policy 3.2  New developments should be designed, constructed and 
managed in ways that improve health and promote healthy lifestyles to help to 
reduce health inequalities. 
Policy 3.3  Ensure the housing need identified in the London Plan is met, 
particularly through provision consistent with at least an annual average of 
32,210 net additional homes across London which would enhance the 
environment, improve housing choice and affordability and provide better 
quality accommodation for Londoners.  
Policy 3.11  Maximise affordable housing provision and seek an average of 
at least 13,200 more affordable homes per year in London over the term of 
the London Plan. 
Policy 3.16  Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure - additional 
and enhanced social infrastructure provision to meet the needs of a growing 
and diverse population. 
Policy 4.1  Promote and enable the continued development of a strong, 
sustainable and increasingly diverse economy; 
Support the distinctive and crucial contribution to London’s economic success 
made by central London and its specialist clusters of economic activity; 
Promote London as a suitable location for European and other international 
agencies and businesses. 
Policy 4.2  Support the management and mixed use development and 
redevelopment of office provision to improve London’s competitiveness and to 
address the wider objectives of this Plan, including enhancing its varied 
attractions for businesses of different types and sizes. 
Policy 4.3  Within the Central Activities Zone increases in office floorspace 
should provide for a mix of uses including housing, unless such a mix would 
demonstrably conflict with other policies in this plan. 

Page 131



 

Policy 4.5  Support London’s visitor economy and stimulate its growth, 
taking into account the needs of business as well as leisure visitors and 
seeking to improve the range and quality of provision. 
Policy 4.6  Support the continued success of London’s diverse range of 
arts, cultural, professional sporting and entertainment enterprises and the 
cultural, social and economic benefits that they offer to its residents, workers 
and visitors. 
Policy 4.8  Support a successful, competitive and diverse retail sector which 
promotes sustainable access to the goods and services that Londoners need 
and the broader objectives of the spatial structure of this Plan, especially town 
centres. 
Policy 5.2  Development proposals should make the fullest contribution to 
minimising carbon dioxide emissions. 
Policy 5.3  Development proposals should demonstrate that sustainable 
design standards are integral to the proposal, including its construction and 
operation. Major development proposals should meet the minimum standards 
outlined in supplementary planning guidance. 
Policy 5.6  Development proposals should evaluate the feasibility of 
Combined Heat and Power (CHP) systems, and where a new CHP system is 
appropriate also examine opportunities to extend the system beyond the site 
boundary to adjacent sites. 
Policy 5.7  Major development proposals should provide a reduction in 
carbon dioxide emissions through the use of on-site renewable energy 
generation, where feasible. 
Policy 5.9  Reduce the impact of the urban heat island effect in London and 
encourage the design of places and spaces to avoid overheating and 
excessive heat generation, and to reduce overheating due to the impacts of 
climate change and the urban heat island effect on an area wide basis. 
Policy 5.10  Promote and support urban greening, such as new planting in 
the public realm (including streets, squares and plazas) and multifunctional 
green infrastructure, to contribute to the adaptation to, and reduction of, the 
effects of climate change. 
Policy 5.11 Major development proposals should be designed to include 
roof, wall and site planting, especially green roofs and walls where feasible. 
Policy 5.12  Development proposals must comply with the flood risk 
assessment and management requirements set out in PPS25 and address 
flood resilient design and emergency planning; development adjacent to flood 
defences would be required to protect the integrity of existing flood defences 
and wherever possible be set back from those defences to allow their 
management, maintenance and upgrading to be undertaken in a sustainable 
and cost effective way. 
Policy 5.13 Development should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems 
(SUDS) unless there are practical reasons for not doing so. 
Policy 5.18 Encourage development waste management facilities and 
removal by water or rail transport. 

Page 132



 

Policy 6.1  The Mayor would work with all relevant partners to encourage 
the closer integration of transport and development. 
Policy 6.3  Development proposals should ensure that impacts on transport 
capaCity and the transport network are fully assessed. 
Policy 6.5  Contributions would be sought from developments likely to add 
to, or create, congestion on London’s rail network that Crossrail is intended to 
mitigate. 
Policy 6.9  Developments should provide secure, integrated and accessible 
cycle parking facilities and provide on-site changing facilities and showers for 
cyclists, facilitate the Cycle Super Highways and facilitate the central London 
cycle hire scheme. 
Policy 6.13  The maximum standards set out in Table 6.2 should be applied 
to planning applications. Developments must:  
ensure that 1 in 5 spaces (both active and passive) provide an electrical 
charging point to encourage the uptake of electric vehicles  
provide parking for disabled people in line with Table 6.2  
meet the minimum cycle parking standards set out in Table 6.3  
provide for the needs of businesses for delivery and servicing. 
Policy 7.2  All new development in London to achieve the highest standards 
of accessible and inclusive design. 
Policy 7.3  Creation of safe, secure and appropriately accessible 
environments. 
Policy 7.4  Development should have regard to the form, function, and 
structure of an area, place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of 
surrounding buildings. It should improve an area’s visual or physical 
connection with natural features. In areas of poor or ill-defined character, 
development should build on the positive elements that can contribute to 
establishing an enhanced character for the future function of the area. 
Policy 7.5  London’s public spaces should be secure, accessible, inclusive, 
connected, easy to understand and maintain, relate to local context, and 
incorporate the highest quality design, landscaping, planting, street furniture 
and surfaces. 
Policy 7.6  Buildings and structures should:  
a  be of the highest architectural quality 
b  be of a proportion, composition, scale and orientation that enhances, 
activates and appropriately defines the public realm  
c  comprise details and materials that complement, not necessarily 
replicate, the local architectural character  
d  not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of surrounding land and 
buildings, particularly residential buildings, in relation to privacy, 
overshadowing, wind and microclimate. This is particularly important for tall 
buildings  

Page 133



 

e  incorporate best practice in resource management and climate change 
mitigation and adaptation  
f  provide high quality indoor and outdoor spaces and integrate well with 
the surrounding streets and open spaces  
g  be adaptable to different activities and land uses, particularly at ground 
level  
h  meet the principles of inclusive design 
i optimise the potential of sites. 
Policy 7.7  Tall and large buildings should be part of a plan-led approach to 
changing or developing an area by the identification of appropriate, sensitive 
and inappropriate locations. Tall and large buildings should not have an 
unacceptably harmful impact on their surroundings. Applications for tall or 
large buildings should include an urban design analysis that demonstrates the 
proposal is part of a strategy that would meet the criteria set out in this policy. 
Policy 7.8  Development should identify, value, conserve, restore, re-use 
and incorporate heritage assets, conserve the significance of heritage assets 
and their settings and make provision for the protection of archaeological 
resources, landscapes and significant memorials. 
Policy 7.10  Development in World Heritage Sites and their settings, 
including any buffer zones, should conserve, promote, make sustainable use 
of and enhance their authentiCity, integrity and significance and Outstanding 
Universal Value. 
Policy 7.12  New development should not harm and where possible should 
make a positive contribution to the characteristics and composition of the 
strategic views and their landmark elements identified in the London View 
Management Framework. It should also, where possible, preserve viewers’ 
ability to recognise and to appreciate Strategically Important Landmarks in 
these views and, where appropriate, protect the silhouette of landmark 
elements of World Heritage Sites as seen from designated Viewing Places. 
Policy 7.13  Development proposals should contribute to the minimisation of 
potential physical risks, including those arising as a result of fire, flood and 
related hazards. 
Policy 7.14  Implement Air Quality and Transport strategies to achieve 
reductions in pollutant emissions and minimise public exposure to pollution. 
Policy 7.15  Minimise existing and potential adverse impacts of noise on, 
from, within, or in the vicinity of, development proposals and separate new 
noise sensitive development from major noise sources. 
Policy 7.18  Resist the loss of local protected open spaces unless equivalent 
or better quality provision is made within the local catchment area. 
Policy 7.19  Development proposals should, wherever possible, make a 
positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and 
management of biodiversity. 

Page 134



 

Policy 7.21  Trees should be protected, maintained, and enhanced. Existing 
trees of value should be retained and any loss as the result of development 
should be replaced. 

 
Relevant Local Plan Policies 
 
CS4 Seek planning contributions 

 
To manage the impact of development, seeking appropriate developer 
contributions. 

 
DM1.1 Protection of office accommodation 

 
To refuse the loss of existing (B1) office accommodation to other uses 
where the building or its site is considered to be suitable for long-term 
viable office use and there are strong economic reasons why the loss 
would be inappropriate. Losses would be inappropriate for any of the 
following reasons:  
 
a) prejudicing the primary business function of the City;   
b) jeopardising the future assembly and delivery of large office 
development sites;   
c) removing existing stock for which there is demand in the office 
market or long term viable need;    
d) introducing uses that adversely affect the existing beneficial mix 
of commercial uses. 

 
DM1.3 Small and medium business units 

 
To promote small and medium sized businesses in the City by 
encouraging:  
 
a) new accommodation suitable for small and medium sized 
businesses or occupiers;   
b) office designs which are flexible and adaptable to allow for sub-
division to create small and medium sized business units;  
c) continued use of existing small and medium sized units which 
meet occupier needs. 

 
DM1.5 Mixed uses in commercial areas 

 
To encourage a mix of commercial uses within office developments 
which contribute to the City's economy and character and provide 
support services for its businesses, workers and residents. 

 
DM2.1  Infrastructure provision 

 
1) Developers will be required to demonstrate, in conjunction with 
utility providers, that there will be adequate utility infrastructure capacity, 
both on and off the site, to serve the development during construction 

Page 135



 

and operation. Development should not lead to capacity or reliability 
problems in the surrounding area. Capacity projections must take 
account of climate change impacts which may influence future 
infrastructure demand. 
 
2) Utility infrastructure and connections must be designed into and 
integrated with the development wherever possible. As a minimum, 
developers should identify and plan for: 
 
a) electricity supply to serve the construction phase and the 
intended use for the site, and identify, in conjunction with electricity 
providers, Temporary Building Supply(TBS) for the construction phase 
and the estimated load capacity of the building and the substations and 
routes for supply; 
b) reasonable gas and water supply considering the need to 
conserve natural resources; 
c) heating and cooling demand and the viability of its provision via 
decentralised energy (DE) networks.  Designs must incorporate access 
to existing DE networks where feasible and viable; 
d) telecommunications network demand, including wired and 
wireless infrastructure, planning for dual entry provision, where possible, 
through communal entry chambers and flexibility to address future 
technological improvements; 
e) separate surface water and foul drainage requirements within 
the proposed building or site, including provision of Sustainable 
Drainage Systems (SuDS), rainwater harvesting and grey-water 
recycling, minimising discharge to the combined sewer network. 
 
3) In planning for utility infrastructure developers and utility 
providers must provide entry and connection points within the 
development which relate to the City's established utility infrastructure 
networks, utilising pipe subway routes wherever feasible. Sharing of 
routes with other nearby developments and the provision of new pipe 
subway facilities adjacent to buildings will be encouraged. 
 
4) Infrastructure provision must be completed prior to occupation of 
the development. Where potential capacity problems are identified and 
no improvements are programmed by the utility company, the City 
Corporation will require the developer to facilitate appropriate 
improvements, which may require the provision of space within new 
developments for on-site infrastructure or off-site infrastructure 
upgrades. 

 
DM3.1 Self-containment in mixed uses 

 
Where feasible, proposals for mixed use developments must provide 
independent primary and secondary access points, ensuring that the 
proposed uses are separate and self-contained. 

 
DM3.2 Security measures 

Page 136



 

 
To ensure that security measures are included in new developments, 
applied to existing buildings and their curtilage, by requiring: 
 
a) building-related security measures, including those related to the 
servicing of the building, to be located within the development's 
boundaries; 
b) measures to be integrated with those of adjacent buildings and 
the public realm; 
c) that security is considered at the concept design or early 
developed design phases of all development proposals to avoid the 
need to retro-fit measures that impact on the public realm;  
d) developers to seek recommendations from the City of London 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer at the design stage. New 
development should meet Secured by Design principles;  
e) the provision of service management plans for all large 
development, demonstrating that vehicles seeking access to the building 
can do so without waiting on the public highway; 
f) an assessment of the environmental impact of security measures, 
particularly addressing visual impact and impact on pedestrian flows. 

 
DM3.3 Crowded places 

 
On all major developments, applicants will be required to satisfy 
principles and standards that address the issues of crowded places and 
counter-terrorism, by: 
 
a) conducting a full risk assessment; 
b) keeping access points to the development to a minimum; 
c) ensuring that public realm and pedestrian permeability 
associated with a building or site is not adversely impacted, and that 
design considers the application of Hostile Vehicle Mitigation measures 
at an early stage; 
d) ensuring early consultation with the City of London Police on risk 
mitigation measures; 
e) providing necessary measures that relate to the appropriate 
level of crowding in a site, place or wider area. 

 
DM3.4 Traffic management 

 
To require developers to reach agreement with the City Corporation and 
TfL on the design and implementation of traffic management and 
highways security measures, including addressing the management of 
service vehicles, by: 
 
a) consulting the City Corporation on all matters relating to 
servicing; 
b) restricting motor vehicle access, where required;  
c) implementing public realm enhancement and pedestrianisation 
schemes, where appropriate; 

Page 137



 

d) using traffic calming, where feasible, to limit the opportunity for 
hostile vehicle approach. 

 
DM10.1 New development 

 
To require all developments, including alterations and extensions to 
existing buildings, to be of a high standard of design and to avoid harm 
to the townscape and public realm, by ensuring that: 
 
a) the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in relation to 
their surroundings and have due regard to the general scale, height, 
building lines, character, historic interest and significance, urban grain 
and materials of the locality and relate well to the character of streets, 
squares, lanes, alleys and passageways;  
b) all development is of a high standard of design and architectural 
detail with elevations that have an appropriate depth and quality of 
modelling; 
c) appropriate, high quality and durable materials are used; 
d) the design and materials avoid unacceptable wind impacts at 
street level or intrusive solar glare impacts on the surrounding 
townscape and public realm; 
e) development has attractive and visually interesting street level 
elevations, providing active frontages wherever possible to maintain or 
enhance the vitality of the City's streets; 
f) the design of the roof is visually integrated into the overall design of the 
building when seen from both street level views and higher level 
viewpoints; 
g) plant and building services equipment are fully screened from 
view and integrated in to the design of the building.  Installations that 
would adversely affect the character, appearance or amenities of the 
buildings or area will be resisted; 
h) servicing entrances are designed to minimise their effects on the 
appearance of the building and street scene and are fully integrated into 
the building's design; 
i)  there is provision of appropriate hard and soft landscaping, 
including appropriate boundary treatments; 
j)  the external illumination of buildings in carefully designed to 
ensure visual sensitivity, minimal energy use and light pollution, and the 
discreet integration of light fittings into the building design; 
k) there is provision of amenity space, where appropriate; 
l) there is the highest standard of accessible and inclusive design. 

 
DM10.2 Design of green roofs and walls 

 
1) To encourage the installation of green roofs on all appropriate 
developments. On each building the maximum practicable coverage of 
green roof should be achieved. Extensive green roofs are preferred and 
their design should aim to maximise the roof's environmental benefits, 
including biodiversity, run-off attenuation and building insulation. 
 

Page 138



 

2) To encourage the installation of green walls in appropriate 
locations, and to ensure that they are satisfactorily maintained. 

 
DM10.3 Roof gardens and terraces 

 
1) To encourage high quality roof gardens and terraces where they 
do not: 
 
a) immediately overlook residential premises; 
b) adversely affect rooflines or roof profiles; 
c) result in the loss of historic or locally distinctive roof forms, 
features or coverings; 
d) impact on identified views. 
 
2) Public access will be sought where feasible in new development. 

 
DM10.4 Environmental enhancement 

 
The City Corporation will work in partnership with developers, Transport 
for London and other organisations to design and implement schemes 
for the enhancement of highways, the public realm and other spaces. 
Enhancement schemes should be of a high standard of design, 
sustainability, surface treatment and landscaping, having regard to:  
 
a) the predominant use of the space, surrounding buildings and 
adjacent spaces; 
b) connections between spaces and the provision of pleasant 
walking routes;  
c) the use of natural materials, avoiding an excessive range and 
harmonising with the surroundings of the scheme and materials used 
throughout the City; 
d) the inclusion of trees and soft landscaping and the promotion of 
biodiversity, where feasible linking up existing green spaces and routes 
to provide green corridors; 
e) the City's heritage, retaining and identifying features that 
contribute positively to the character and appearance of the City; 
f) sustainable drainage, where feasible, co-ordinating the design with 
adjacent buildings in order to implement rainwater recycling; 
g) the need to provide accessible and inclusive design, ensuring 
that streets and walkways remain uncluttered; 
h) the need for pedestrian priority and enhanced permeability, 
minimising the conflict between pedestrians and cyclists; 
i)  the need to resist the loss of routes and spaces that enhance 
the City's function, character and historic interest; 
j)  the use of high quality street furniture to enhance and delineate 
the public realm; 
k) lighting which should be sensitively co-ordinated with the design 
of the scheme. 

 
 

Page 139



 

DM10.7 Daylight and sunlight 
 
1) To resist development which would reduce noticeably the 
daylight and sunlight available to nearby dwellings and open spaces to 
unacceptable levels, taking account of the Building Research 
Establishment's guidelines. 
 
2) The design of new developments should allow for the lighting 
needs of intended occupiers and provide acceptable levels of daylight 
and sunlight. 

 
DM10.8 Access and inclusive design 

 
To achieve an environment that meets the highest standards of 
accessibility and inclusive design in all developments (both new and 
refurbished), open spaces and streets, ensuring that the City of London 
is: 
 
a) inclusive and safe for of all who wish to use it, regardless of 
disability, age, gender, ethnicity, faith or economic circumstance;  
b) convenient and welcoming with no disabling barriers, ensuring 
that everyone can experience independence without undue effort, 
separation or special treatment; 
c) responsive to the needs of all users who visit, work or live in the 
City, whilst recognising that one solution might not work for all. 

 
DM11.2 Public Art 

 
To enhance the City's public realm and distinctive identity by: 
 
a) protecting existing works of art and other objects of cultural 
significance and encouraging the provision of additional works in 
appropriate locations;  
b) ensuring that financial provision is made for the future 
maintenance of new public art;  
c) requiring the appropriate reinstatement or re-siting of art works 
and other objects of cultural significance when buildings are 
redeveloped. 

 
DM12.1 Change affecting heritage assets 

 
1. To sustain and enhance heritage assets, their settings and 
significance. 
 
2. Development proposals, including proposals for 
telecommunications infrastructure, that have an effect upon heritage 
assets, including their settings, should be accompanied by supporting 
information to assess and evaluate the significance of heritage assets 
and the degree of impact caused by the development.  
 

Page 140



 

3. The loss of routes and spaces that contribute to the character 
and historic interest of the City will be resisted. 
 
4. Development will be required to respect the significance, 
character, scale and amenities of surrounding heritage assets and 
spaces and their settings. 
 
5. Proposals for sustainable development, including the 
incorporation of climate change adaptation measures, must be sensitive 
to heritage assets. 

 
DM12.4 Archaeology 

 
1. To require planning applications which involve excavation or 
ground works on sites of archaeological potential to be accompanied by 
an archaeological assessment and evaluation of the site, including the 
impact of the proposed development. 
 
2. To preserve, protect, safeguard and enhance archaeological 
monuments, remains and their settings in development, and to seek a 
public display and interpretation, where appropriate.  
 
3. To require proper investigation and recording of archaeological 
remains as an integral part of a development programme, and 
publication and archiving of results to advance understanding. 

 
DM15.1 Sustainability requirements 

 
1. Sustainability Statements must be submitted with all planning 
applications in order to ensure that sustainability is integrated into 
designs for all development. 
 
2. For major development (including new development and 
refurbishment) the Sustainability Statement should include as a 
minimum: 
 
a) BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes pre-assessment; 
b) an energy statement in line with London Plan requirements; 
c) demonstration of climate change resilience measures. 
 
3. BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes assessments should 
demonstrate sustainability in aspects which are of particular significance 
in the City's high density urban environment. Developers should aim to 
achieve the maximum possible credits to address the City's priorities. 
 
4. Innovative sustainability solutions will be encouraged to ensure 
that the City's buildings remain at the forefront of sustainable building 
design. Details should be included in the Sustainability Statement. 
 

Page 141



 

5. Planning conditions will be used to ensure that Local Plan 
assessment targets are met. 

 
DM15.2 Energy and CO2 emissions 

 
1. Development design must take account of location, building 
orientation, internal layouts and landscaping to reduce likely energy 
consumption. 
 
2. For all major development energy assessments must be 
submitted with the application demonstrating: 
 
a) energy efficiency - showing the maximum improvement over 
current Building Regulations to achieve the required Fabric Energy 
Efficiency Standards; 
b) carbon compliance levels required to meet national targets for 
zero carbon development using low and zero carbon technologies, 
where feasible;  
c) where on-site carbon emission reduction is unviable, offsetting 
of residual CO2 emissions through "allowable solutions" for the lifetime 
of the building to achieve national targets for zero-carbon homes and 
non-domestic buildings. Achievement of zero carbon buildings in 
advance of national target dates will be encouraged;  
d) anticipated residual power loads and routes for supply. 

 
DM15.3 Low and zero carbon technologies 

 
1. For development with a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or 
more developers should investigate the feasibility and viability of 
connecting to existing decentralised energy networks. This should 
include investigation of the potential for extensions of existing heating 
and cooling networks to serve the development and development of new 
networks where existing networks are not available. Connection routes 
should be designed into the development where feasible and connection 
infrastructure should be incorporated wherever it is viable. 
 
2. Where connection to offsite decentralised energy networks is not 
feasible, installation of on-site CCHP and the potential to create new 
localised decentralised energy infrastructure through the export of 
excess heat must be considered 
 
3. Where connection is not feasible or viable, all development with 
a peak heat demand of 100 kilowatts or more should be designed to 
enable connection to potential future decentralised energy networks. 
 
4. Other low and zero carbon technologies must be evaluated. Non 
combustion based technologies should be prioritised in order to avoid 
adverse impacts on air quality. 

 
 

Page 142



 

DM15.4 Offsetting carbon emissions 
 
1. All feasible and viable on-site or near-site options for carbon 
emission reduction must be applied before consideration of offsetting. 
Any remaining carbon emissions calculated for the lifetime of the 
building that cannot be mitigated on-site will need to be offset using 
"allowable solutions". 
 
2. Where carbon targets cannot be met on-site the City 
Corporation will require carbon abatement elsewhere or a financial 
contribution, negotiated through a S106 planning obligation to be made 
to an approved carbon offsetting scheme.  
 
3. Offsetting may also be applied to other resources including 
water resources and rainwater run-off to meet sustainability targets off-
site where on-site compliance is not feasible. 

 
DM15.5 Climate change resilience 

 
1. Developers will be required to demonstrate through 
Sustainability Statements that all major developments are resilient to the 
predicted climate conditions during the building's lifetime.  
 
2. Building designs should minimise any contribution to the urban 
heat island effect caused by heat retention and waste heat expulsion in 
the built environment. 

 
DM15.6 Air quality 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
proposals on air quality and, where appropriate, provide an Air Quality 
Impact Assessment. 
  
2. Development that would result in deterioration of the City's 
nitrogen dioxide or PM10 pollution levels will be resisted.    
 
3. Major developments will be required to maximise credits for the 
pollution section of the BREEAM or Code for Sustainable Homes 
assessment relating to on-site emissions of oxides of nitrogen (NOx). 
 
4. Developers will be encouraged to install non-combustion low 
and zero carbon energy technology. A detailed air quality impact 
assessment will be required for combustion based low and zero carbon 
technologies, such as CHP plant and biomass or biofuel boilers, and 
necessary mitigation must be approved by the City Corporation. 
 
5. Construction and deconstruction and the transport of 
construction materials and waste must be carried out in such a way as to 
minimise air quality impacts. 
 

Page 143



 

6. Air intake points should be located away from existing and 
potential pollution sources (e.g. busy roads and combustion flues). All 
combustion flues should terminate above the roof height of the tallest 
building in the development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of 
pollutants. 

 
DM15.7 Noise and light pollution 

 
1. Developers will be required to consider the impact of their 
developments on the noise environment and where appropriate provide 
a noise assessment. The layout, orientation, design and use of buildings 
should ensure that operational noise does not adversely affect 
neighbours, particularly noise-sensitive land uses such as housing, 
hospitals, schools and quiet open spaces.  
 
2. Any potential noise conflict between existing activities and new 
development should be minimised. Where the avoidance of noise 
conflicts is impractical, mitigation measures such as noise attenuation 
and restrictions on operating hours will be implemented through 
appropriate planning conditions. 
 
3. Noise and vibration from deconstruction and construction 
activities must be minimised and mitigation measures put in place to limit 
noise disturbance in the vicinity of the development. 
 
4. Developers will be required to demonstrate that there will be no 
increase in background noise levels associated with new plant and 
equipment.  
 
5. Internal and external lighting should be designed to reduce 
energy consumption, avoid spillage of light beyond where it is needed 
and protect the amenity of light-sensitive uses such as housing, 
hospitals and areas of importance for nature conservation. 

 
DM16.1 Transport impacts of development 

 
1. Development proposals that are likely to have effects on 
transport must be accompanied by an assessment of the transport 
implications during both construction and operation, in particular 
addressing impacts on: 
 
a) road dangers; 
b) pedestrian environment and movement; 
c) cycling infrastructure provision; 
d) public transport; 
e) the street network.  
 
2. Transport Assessments and Travel Plans should be used to 
demonstrate adherence to the City Corporation's transportation 
standards. 

Page 144



 

 
DM16.2 Pedestrian movement 

 
1. Pedestrian movement must be facilitated by provision of suitable 
pedestrian routes through and around new developments, by 
maintaining pedestrian routes at ground level, and the upper level 
walkway network around the Barbican and London Wall. 
 
2. The loss of a pedestrian route will normally only be permitted 
where an alternative public pedestrian route of at least an equivalent 
standard is provided having regard to: 
 
a) the extent to which the route provides for current and all 
reasonably foreseeable future demands placed upon it, including at peak 
periods;  
b) the shortest practicable routes between relevant points. 
 
3. Routes of historic importance should be safeguarded as part of 
the City's characteristic pattern of lanes, alleys and courts, including the 
route's historic alignment and width. 
 
4. The replacement of a route over which pedestrians have rights, 
with one to which the public have access only with permission will not 
normally be acceptable. 
 
5. Public access across private land will be encouraged where it 
enhances the connectivity, legibility and capacity of the City's street 
network. Spaces should be designed so that signage is not necessary 
and it is clear to the public that access is allowed. 
 
6. The creation of new pedestrian rights of way will be encouraged 
where this would improve movement and contribute to the character of 
an area, taking into consideration pedestrian routes and movement in 
neighbouring areas and boroughs, where relevant. 

 
DM16.3 Cycle parking 

 
1. On-site cycle parking must be provided in accordance with the 
local standards set out in Table 16.2 or, for other land uses, with the 
standards of the London Plan. Applicants will be encouraged to exceed 
the standards set out in Table 16.2. 
 
2. On-street cycle parking in suitable locations will be encouraged 
to meet the needs of cyclists. 

 
DM16.4 Encouraging active travel 

 
1. Ancillary facilities must be provided within new and refurbished 
buildings to support active transport modes such as walking, cycling and 
running. All commercial development should make sufficient provision 

Page 145



 

for showers, changing areas and lockers/storage to cater for employees 
wishing to engage in active travel. 
 
2. Where facilities are to be shared with a number of activities they 
should be conveniently located to serve all proposed activities. 

 
DM16.5 Parking and servicing standards 

 
1. Developments in the City should be car-free except for 
designated Blue Badge spaces. Where other car parking is exceptionally 
provided it must not exceed London Plan's standards. 
 
2. Designated parking must be provided for Blue Badge holders 
within developments in conformity with London Plan requirements and 
must be marked out and reserved at all times for their use. Disabled 
parking spaces must be at least 2.4m wide and at least 4.8m long and 
with reserved areas at least 1.2m wide, marked out between the parking 
spaces and at the rear of the parking spaces. 
 
3. Except for dwelling houses (use class C3), whenever any car 
parking spaces (other than designated Blue Badge parking) are 
provided, motor cycle parking must be provided at a ratio of 10 motor 
cycle parking spaces per 1 car parking space. At least 50% of motor 
cycle parking spaces must be at least 2.3m long and at least 0.9m wide 
and all motor cycle parking spaces must be at least 2.0m long and at 
least 0.8m wide. 
 
4. On site servicing areas should be provided to allow all goods 
and refuse collection vehicles likely to service the development at the 
same time to be conveniently loaded and unloaded. Such servicing 
areas should provide sufficient space or facilities for all vehicles to enter 
and exit the site in a forward gear. Headroom of at least 5m where skips 
are to be lifted and 4.75m for all other vehicle circulation areas should be 
provided. 
 
5. Coach parking facilities for hotels (use class C1) will not be 
permitted. 
 
6. All off-street car parking spaces and servicing areas must be 
equipped with the facility to conveniently recharge electric vehicles. 
 
7. Taxi ranks are encouraged at key locations, such as stations, 
hotels and shopping centres. The provision of taxi ranks should be 
designed to occupy the minimum practicable space, using a combined 
entry and exit point to avoid obstruction to other transport modes. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 

DM17.1 Provision for waste 
 
1. Waste facilities must be integrated into the design of buildings, 
wherever feasible, and allow for the separate storage and collection of 
recyclable materials, including compostable material.    
 
2. On-site waste management, through techniques such as 
recyclate sorting or energy recovery, which minimises the need for waste 
transfer, should be incorporated wherever possible. 

 
DM17.2 Designing out construction waste 

 
New development should be designed to minimise the impact of 
deconstruction and construction waste on the environment through:  
 
a) reuse of existing structures; 
b) building design which minimises wastage and makes use of 
recycled materials; 
c) recycling of deconstruction waste for reuse on site where 
feasible; 
d) transport of waste and construction materials by rail or river 
wherever practicable; 
e) application of current best practice with regard to air quality, 
dust, hazardous waste, waste handling and waste management 

 
DM18.2 Sustainable drainage systems 

 
1. The design of the surface water drainage system should be 
integrated into the design of proposed buildings or landscaping, where 
feasible and practical, and should follow the SuDS management train 
(Fig T) and London Plan drainage hierarchy. 
 
2. SuDS designs must take account of the City's archaeological 
heritage, complex underground utilities, transport infrastructure and 
other underground structures, incorporating suitable SuDS elements for 
the City's high density urban situation. 
 
3. SuDS should be designed, where possible, to maximise 
contributions to water resource efficiency, biodiversity enhancement and 
the provision of multifunctional open spaces. 

 
DM19.1 Additional open space 

 
1. Major commercial and residential developments should provide 
new and enhanced open space where possible. Where on-site provision 
is not feasible, new or enhanced open space should be provided near 
the site, or elsewhere in the City. 
 
2. New open space should: 
 

Page 147



 

a) be publicly accessible where feasible; this may be achieved 
through a legal agreement; 
b) provide a high quality environment;  
c) incorporate soft landscaping and Sustainable Drainage 
Systems, where practicable; 
d) have regard to biodiversity and the creation of green corridors; 
e) have regard to acoustic design to minimise noise and create 
tranquil spaces.     
 
3. The use of vacant development sites to provide open space for 
a temporary period will be encouraged where feasible and appropriate. 

 
DM19.2 Biodiversity and urban greening 

 
Developments should promote biodiversity and contribute to urban 
greening by incorporating:  
 
a) green roofs and walls, soft landscaping and trees; 
b) features for wildlife, such as nesting boxes and beehives; 
c) a planting mix which encourages biodiversity; 
d) planting which will be resilient to a range of climate conditions; 
e) maintenance of habitats within Sites of Importance for Nature 
Conservation. 

 
DM20.4 Retail unit sizes 

 
1. Proposals for new retail uses should provide a variety of unit 
sizes compatible with the character of the area in which they are 
situated. 
 
2. Major retail units (over 1,000sq.m) will be encouraged in PSCs 
and, where appropriate, in the Retail Links in accordance with the 
sequential test. 

 
DM21.3 Residential environment 

 
1. The amenity of existing residents within identified residential 
areas will be protected by: 
 
a) resisting other uses which would cause undue noise 
disturbance, fumes and smells and vehicle or pedestrian movements 
likely to cause disturbance;  
b) requiring new development near existing dwellings to 
demonstrate adequate mitigation measures to address detrimental 
impact. 
 
2. Noise-generating uses should be sited away from residential 
uses, where possible. Where residential and other uses are located 
within the same development or area, adequate noise mitigation 

Page 148



 

measures must be provided and, where required, planning conditions 
will be imposed to protect residential amenity.  
 
3. All development proposals should be designed to avoid 
overlooking and seek to protect the privacy, day lighting and sun lighting 
levels to adjacent residential accommodation.  
 
4. All new residential development proposals must demonstrate 
how potential adverse noise impacts on and between dwellings will be 
mitigated by housing layout, design and materials. 
 
5. The cumulative impact of individual developments on the 
amenity of existing residents will be considered. 

 
CS1 Provide additional  offices 

 
To ensure the City of London provides additional office development of 
the highest quality to meet demand from long term employment growth 
and strengthen the beneficial cluster of activities found in and near the 
City that contribute to London's role as the world's leading international 
financial and business centre. 

 
CS2 Facilitate utilities infrastructure 

 
To co-ordinate and facilitate infrastructure planning and delivery to 
ensure that the functioning and growth of the City's business, resident, 
student and visitor communities is not limited by provision of utilities and 
telecommunications infrastructure. 

 
CS3 Ensure security from crime/terrorism 

 
To ensure that the City is secure from crime, disorder and terrorism, has 
safety systems of transport and is designed and managed to 
satisfactorily accommodate large numbers of people, thereby increasing 
public and corporate confidence in the City's role as the world's leading 
international financial and business centre. 

 
CS7 Meet challenges of Eastern Cluster 

 
To ensure that the Eastern Cluster can accommodate a significant 
growth in office floorspace and employment, while balancing the 
accommodation of tall buildings, transport, public realm and security and 
spread the benefits to the surrounding areas of the City. 

 
CS10 Promote high quality environment 

 
To promote a high standard and sustainable design of buildings, streets 
and spaces, having regard to their surroundings and the character of the 
City and creating an inclusive and attractive environment. 

 

Page 149



 

CS11 Encourage art, heritage and culture 
 
To maintain and enhance the City's contribution to London's world-class 
cultural status and to enable the City's communities to access a range of 
arts, heritage and cultural experiences, in accordance with the City 
Corporation's Destination Strategy. 

 
CS12 Conserve or enhance heritage assets 

 
To conserve or enhance the significance of the City's heritage assets 
and their settings, and provide an attractive environment for the City's 
communities and visitors. 

 
CS13 Protect/enhance significant views 

 
To protect and enhance significant City and London views of important 
buildings, townscape and skylines, making a substantial contribution to 
protecting the overall heritage of the City's landmarks. 

 
CS14 Tall buildings in suitable places 

 
To allow tall buildings of world class architecture and sustainable design 
in suitable locations and to ensure that they take full account of the 
character of their surroundings, enhance the skyline and provide a high 
quality public realm at ground level. 

 
CS15 Creation of sustainable development 

 
To enable City businesses and residents to make sustainable choices in 
their daily activities creating a more sustainable City, adapted to the 
changing climate. 

 
CS16 Improving transport and travel 

 
To build on the City's strategic central London position and good 
transport infrastructure to further improve the sustainability and efficiency 
of travel in, to, from and through the City. 

 
CS17 Minimising and managing waste 

 
To support City businesses, residents and visitors in making sustainable 
choices regarding the minimisation, transport and management of their 
waste, capitalising on the City's riverside location for sustainable waste 
transfer and eliminating reliance on landfill for municipal solid waste 
(MSW). 

 
CS18 Minimise flood risk 

 
To ensure that the City remains at low risk from all types of flooding. 

 

Page 150



 

CS19 Improve open space and biodiversity 
 
To encourage healthy lifestyles for all the City's communities through 
improved access to open space and facilities, increasing the amount and 
quality of open spaces and green infrastructure, while enhancing 
biodiversity. 

 
CS20 Improve retail facilities 

 
To improve the quantity and quality of retailing and the retail 
environment, promoting the development of the five Principal Shopping 
Centres and the linkages between them. 

 

Page 151



 

SCHEDULE 
 
APPLICATION: 15/00764/FULEIA 
 
22 Bishopsgate London EC2N 
 
Construction of a building arranged on three basement floors, ground 
and 61 upper floors plus mezzanines and plant comprising floorspace 
for use within Classes A and B1 of the Use Classes Order and a publicly 
accessible viewing gallery and facilities (Sui Generis); hard and soft 
landscaping works; the provision of ancillary servicing and other works 
incidental to the development. (200,527sq.m GEA). 
 
 

CONDITIONS 
 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission.  
 REASON: To ensure compliance with the terms of Section 91 of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2 Construction works shall not begin until a Construction Logistics Plan to 

manage all freight vehicle movements to and from the site identifying 
efficiency and sustainability measures to be undertaken during site 
construction of the development has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport 
for London). The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in 
accordance with the approved Construction Logistics Plan or any 
approved amendments thereto as may be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority (in consultation with Transport for London). 

 REASON: To ensure that construction works do not have an adverse 
impact on the transport network in accordance with London Plan Policy 
6.14 and the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM16.1. 
These details are required prior to construction work commencing in 
order that the impact on the transport network is minimised from the 
time that construction starts. 

 
 3 Works shall not begin until a Construction Management Plan including 

a scheme for protecting nearby residents and commercial occupiers 
from noise, dust and other environmental effects has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall be based on the Department of Markets and Consumer 
Protection's Code of Practice for Deconstruction and Construction Sites 
and arrangements for liaison set out therein. A staged scheme of 
protective works may be submitted in respect of individual stages of the 
development process but no works in any individual stage shall be 
commenced until the related scheme of protective works has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The Construction Management Plan shall include a scheme to show 

Page 152



 

that construction works do not endanger the safe movement of aircraft 
or the operation of Heathrow Airport The development shall not be 
carried out other than in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of nearby residents and commercial 
occupiers in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3. and to ensure that the development does 
not endanger the safe movement of aircraft or the operation of 
Heathrow Airport through penetration of regulated airspace. These 
details are required prior to any work commencing in order that the 
impact on amenities and safe air operations is minimised from the time 
that development starts. 

 
 4 Before any works are begun a survey of the highways and other land at 

the perimeter of the site shall be carried out and submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority showing the existing Ordnance Datum levels of the 
adjoining streets and open spaces.  

 REASON: To ensure continuity between the level of existing streets 
and the finished floor levels in the proposed building and to ensure a 
satisfactory treatment at ground level in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. These details are required 
prior to commencement in order to create a record of the conditions 
prior to changes caused by the development. 

 
 5 Before any works thereby affected are begun details must be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the local planning authority indicating the 
proposed finished floor levels at basement and ground floor levels in 
relation to the existing Ordnance Datum levels of the adjoining streets 
and open spaces (as approved in accordance with details submitted 
pursuant to Condition 4) and all development pursuant to this 
permission shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.    

 REASON: To ensure continuity between the level of existing streets 
and the finished floor levels in the proposed building and to ensure a 
satisfactory treatment at ground level in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2.  

 
 6 Before any works are commenced a scheme for the provision of sewer 

vents within the building shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority the agreed scheme for the provision of 
sewer vents shall be implemented and brought into operation before 
the development is occupied and shall be so maintained for the life of 
the building.  

 REASON: To vent sewerage odour from (or substantially from) the 
development hereby permitted and mitigate any adverse air pollution or 
environmental conditions in order to protect the amenity of the area in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.1. These 
details are required prior to piling or construction work commencing in 
order that any changes to satisfy this condition are incorporated into 
the development before the design is too advanced to make changes. 

Page 153



 

 
 7 Before any construction works hereby permitted are begun the 

following details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in conjunction with the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and all development pursuant to this permission shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) Fully detailed design and layout drawings for the proposed SuDS 
components e.g. green roof, rainwater harvesting system, rainwater 
attenuation system including the hydraulic brake as described in the 
Flood Risk Assessment document dated July 2015;  

 (b) A Surface Water Drainage Pro-forma for new developments;   
 (c) Full details of measures to be taken to prevent flooding (of or by 

what) during the course of the construction works;  
 (d)  A Lifetime Maintenance Plan for the SuDS system to include:  
 - A full description of how the system would work, it's aims and 

objectives and the flow control arrangements;  
 - A Maintenance Inspection Checklist/Log;  
 - A Maintenance Schedule of Work itemising the tasks to be 

undertaken, such as the frequency required and the costs incurred to 
maintain the system.  

 REASON: To improve sustainability, reduce flood risk and reduce 
water run off rates in accordance with the following policies of the Local 
Plan: DM15.5 and DM18.1  

  
 
 8 No piling or construction of basements using penetrative methods shall 

take place until it has been demonstrated that there would be no 
unacceptable risk to below ground utilities infrastructure, details of 
which shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
liaison with Thames Water before such works commence and the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.  

 REASON: To ensure that below ground utilities infrastructure is 
protected in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM2.1. 

 
 9 No construction work shall commence on site until a Radar Mitigation 

Scheme (RMS), including a timetable for its implementation during 
construction, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Operator (National Air 
Traffic Services. The Radar Mitigation Scheme (RMS) shall thereafter 
be implemented and operated in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: In the interests of the safe operation of Heathrow Airport and 
of NATS En-route PLC.  

 
10 No construction work shall commence on site until the Developer has 

agreed a "Crane Operation Plan" which has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
the "Radar Operator" (National Air Traffic Services).  Construction at 

Page 154



 

the site shall thereafter be operated strictly in accordance with the 
approved "Crane Operation Plan".  

 REASON: In the interests of the safe operation of Heathrow Airport and 
of NATS En-route PLC. 

 
11 No construction work shall commence until a technical assessment of 

the impact of the Development on air traffic services for the airspace 
around London City Airport shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority in consultation with London City 
Airport and the licensed provider of air traffic services in the area which 
includes the Development and the Airport. If the technical assessment  
demonstrates that the Development would have an adverse impact on 
air traffic services the assessment shall identify the appropriate 
mitigation measures that need to be undertaken to prevent or remove 
any adverse impacts which the construction and operation of the 
Development will have on safe and efficient air traffic services during 
the lifetime of the Development, in respect of which all necessary 
stakeholder consultation has been completed and all necessary 
approvals and regulatory consents have been obtained.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Development does not adversely affect 
the ability of the licensed provider of air traffic services in the area of 
the Development and London City Airport to provide safe and efficient 
air traffic services by means of air traffic control radar. 

 
12 No construction work shall commence on site  before the arrangements 

for securing any appropriate mitigation measures identified in the 
approved technical assessment under condition 11 of this permission 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority in consultation with London City Airport and the licensed 
provider of air traffic services in the area which includes the 
Development and the Airport. Such arrangements must ensure that the 
appropriate mitigation measures are implemented before the 
Development gives rise to any adverse impact on air traffic services 
and are maintained for the lifetime of the Development.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Development does not adversely affect 
the ability of the licensed provider of air traffic services in the area of 
the Development and London City Airport to provide safe and efficient 
air traffic services by means of air traffic control radar. 

 
13 Unless otherwise approved in writing and in accordance with details 

approved under Condition 17, no part of the building shall be occupied 
until the approved wind mitigation measures have been implemented.   
The said wind mitigation measures shall be retained in place for the life 
of the building unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 REASON: In order to ensure that the proposed development does not 
have a detrimental impact on the amenities of the area in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM16.1, DM16.2. 

 

Page 155



 

14 The development shall incorporate such measures as are necessary 
within the site to resist structural damage arising from an attack with a 
road vehicle or road vehicle borne explosive device, details of which 
must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority before any construction works thereby affected are begun.  
The said measures shall be retained in place for the life of the building 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that the premises are protected from road vehicle 
borne damage within the site in accordance with the following policy of 
the Local Plan: DM3.2. 

 
15 Before any construction works thereby affected are begun a scheme 

indicating the provision of a lift to be made available for disabled 
members of the public to gain access to Crosby Square from 
Undershaft shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented before the development 
hereby permitted is brought into use and shall be so maintained for the 
life of the building.  

 REASON: To ensure that the development will be accessible for people 
with disabilities in accordance with the following policy of the Local 
Plan: DM10.8. 

 
16 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

before any works thereby affected are begun, details of the provision to 
be made in the building's design to enable the discreet installation of 
street lighting on the development, including details of the location of 
light fittings, cable runs and other necessary apparatus, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
and the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  

 REASON: To ensure provision for street lighting is discreetly integrated 
into the design of the building in accordance with the following policy of 
the City of London Local Plan: DM10.1. 

 
17 Before any works thereby affected are begun the following details shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and all development pursuant to this permission shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details:  

 (a) particulars and samples of the materials to be used on all external 
faces of the building;  

 (b) details of all elevations to show typical details of all external 
components;  

 (c) details of the wind canopies and other wind mitigation measures 
including details of drainage;  

 (d) details of ground floor elevations including entrances;  
 (e)details of escape doors, gates, doors to the vehicular lifts and 

bicycle entrance  
 (f) details of soffits, hand rails and balustrades;  
 (g) details of junctions with adjoining premises;  
 (h)details of ground level surfaces including materials to be used  

Page 156



 

 (i)details of external lighting attached to the building including anti-
collision lights, lighting to the soffits and lighting to the new pedestrian 
route;  

 (j) details of the integration of window cleaning equipment and the 
garaging thereof, plant, flues, fire escapes and other excrescences at 
roof level  

 (k) details of plant and ductwork to serve the Class A1, A3 and A4 
uses;  

 (l) details of ventilation and air-conditioning for the Class A1, A3 and A4 
uses;  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM3.2, DM10.1, DM10.5, DM12.2. 

 
18 All unbuilt surfaces shall be treated in accordance with a landscaping 

scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any landscaping works are commenced.  
Trees and shrubs which die or are removed, uprooted or destroyed or 
become in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously 
damaged or defective within 5 years of completion of the development 
shall be replaced with trees and shrubs of similar size and species to 
those originally approved, or such alternatives as may be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with the 
following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1, DM19.2. 

 
19 Before any works thereby affected are begun details of the artwork 

strategy and details of the size and location of artwork installations, 
structures and street furniture in the open space, 'art corridor' and office 
reception shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme must be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the building unless otherwise approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM10.1; DM10.5; DM10.8; DM11.2. 

 
20 Before any works thereby affected are begun details of the entrance, 

street frontage and ground floor lobby of the public viewing gallery shall 
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Such 
details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the building 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the proposed development and to ensure a 
satisfactory external appearance in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan:  DM10.1. 

 

Page 157



 

21 The green roof(s) indicated on the drawings hereby approved shall be 
designed to achieve at least the number of BREEAM credits indicated 
in the pre-assessment in relation to flood risk/water run-off and 
enhancing ecological value of the site. Details of the position and size 
of the green roof(s), the type of planting and the contribution of the 
green roof(s) to biodiversity and rainwater attenuation shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 
before any works thereby affected are begun. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with those approved details and 
maintained as approved for the life of the development unless 
otherwise approved by the local planning authority.  

 REASON: To assist the environmental sustainability of the 
development and provide a habitat that will encourage biodiversity in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.1, 
DM18.2, DM19.2. 

 
22 (a) The level of noise emitted from any new plant shall be lower than 

the existing background level by at least 10 dBA. Noise levels shall be 
determined at one metre from the window of the nearest noise 
sensitive premises. The background noise level shall be expressed as 
the lowest LA90 (10 minutes) during which plant is or may be in 
operation.   

 (b) Following installation but before the new plant comes into operation 
measurements of noise from the new plant must be taken and a report 
demonstrating that the plant as installed meets the design 
requirements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 (c) All constituent parts of the new plant shall be maintained and 
replaced in whole or in part as often is required to ensure compliance 
with the noise levels approved by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of neighbouring 
residential/commercial occupiers in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
23 Before any mechanical plant is used on the premises it shall be 

mounted in a way which will minimise transmission of structure borne 
sound or vibration to any other part of the building in accordance with a 
scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 REASON: In order to protect the amenities of commercial occupiers in 
the building in accordance following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.7. 

 
24 The proposed office development sharing a party element with non-

office   premises shall be designed and constructed to provide 
resistance to the transmission of sound. The sound insulation shall be 
sufficient to ensure that NR40 is not exceeded in the proposed office 
premises due to noise from the neighbouring non-office premises and 
shall be permanently maintained thereafter.  

Page 158



 

 A test shall be carried out after completion but prior to occupation to 
show the criterion above have been met and the results shall submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To protect the amenities of occupiers of the building in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM15.7. 

 
25 Before any works thereby affected are begun, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
which specifies the fume extract arrangements, materials and 
construction methods to be used to avoid noise and/or odour 
penetration to any other premises in the building from the Class A 
uses. Flues must terminate at roof level or an agreed high level location 
which will not give rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or 
adjacent buildings. The details approved must be implemented before 
the Class A uses take place.  

 REASON: In order to protect commercial amenities in the building in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, 
DM15.7, DM21.3. 

 
26 No cooking shall take place within any Class A unit hereby approved or 

within any part of the Class B1 premises until fume extract 
arrangements and ventilation have been installed to serve that unit in 
accordance with a scheme approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
Flues must terminate at roof level or an agreed high level location 
which will not give rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or 
adjacent buildings. Any works that would materially affect the external 
appearance of the building will require a separate planning permission. 

 REASON: In order to protect the amenity of the area in accordance 
with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM21.3. 

 
27 A post construction BREEAM assessment demonstrating that a target 

rating of 'Excellent' has been achieved (or such other target rating as 
the local planning authority may agree provided that it is satisfied all 
reasonable endeavours have been used to achieve an 'Excellent' 
rating) shall be submitted as soon as practicable after practical 
completion.  

 REASON: To demonstrate that carbon emissions have been minimised 
and that the development is sustainable in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: CS15, DM15.1, DM15.2. 

 
28 A detailed facade maintenance plan shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
Transport for London prior to the occupation of the building hereby 
permitted.  

 REASON: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied 
with the detail of the development to ensure that there is no obstruction 
on the streets and in the interests of public safety in accordance with 
the following policy of the Local Plan: CS16 

 

Page 159



 

29 The commemorative RNLI plaque on the former building on the site 
and proposed Crosby Hall plaque shall be installed and retained for the 
life of the building on the new building in accordance with detailed 
specifications including location, position and fixing details which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to commencement of the works affected thereby.  

 REASON: In the interest of visual amenity and to maintain the historic 
and cultural interest of the site in accordance with the following policy 
of the Local Plan: DM12.1. 

 
30 The development shall be designed to allow for the retro-fit of heat 

exchanger rooms to connect into a district heating network if this 
becomes available during the lifetime of the development.  

 REASON: To minimise carbon emissions by enabling the building to be 
connected to a district heating and cooling network if one becomes 
available during the life of the building in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.1, DM15.2, DM15.3, DM15.3, DM15.4. 

 
31 The threshold of all vehicular access points shall be at the same level 

as the rear of the adjoining footway.  
 REASON: To maintain a level passage for pedestrians in accordance 

with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM10.8, DM16.2. 
 
32 The refuse collection and storage facilities shown on the drawings 

hereby approved shall be provided and maintained throughout the life 
of the building for the use of all the occupiers.  

 REASON: To ensure the satisfactory servicing of the building in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM17.1. 

 
33 No doors or gates shall open over the public highway.  
 REASON: In the interests of public safety 
 
34 At all times when not being used for cleaning or maintenance the 

window cleaning gantries, cradles and other similar equipment shall be 
garaged within the enclosure(s) shown on the approved drawings.  

 REASON: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance 
with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.1. 

 
35 No public address system (PA), amplified live or amplified recorded 

music shall be played within any part of the building or site so loud that 
it can be heard outside the site or within any other premises in the 
building on the site.  

 REASON: To safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of nearby 
premises and the area in general in accordance with the following 
policies of the Local Plan: DM15.7, DM21.3.  

  
 
36 A clear unobstructed minimum headroom of 5m must be maintained for 

the life of the building in the refuse skip collection area as shown on the 
approved drawings and a clear unobstructed minimum headroom of 

Page 160



 

4.75m must be provided and maintained over the remaining areas and 
access ways.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing facilities are provided 
and maintained in accordance with the following policy of the Local 
Plan: DM16.5. 

 
37 Except as may be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

the loading and unloading areas must remain ancillary to the use of the 
building and shall be available at all times for that purpose for the 
occupiers thereof and visitors thereto.  

 REASON: To ensure that satisfactory servicing is maintained in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.5. 

 
38 Goods, including fuel, delivered or collected by vehicles arriving at or 

departing from the building shall not be accepted or dispatched unless 
the vehicles are unloaded or loaded within the curtilage of the building.
  

 REASON: To avoid obstruction of the surrounding streets and to 
safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of adjacent premises, in 
accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: DM16.1, 
DM16.5, DM21.3. 

 
39 A level clear standing area shall be provided and maintained entirely 

within the curtilage of the site at street level in front of any vehicle lift 
sufficient to accommodate the largest size of vehicle able to use the lift 
cage.  

 REASON: To prevent waiting vehicles obstructing the public highway in 
accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.5. 

 
40 4 car parking spaces suitable for use by people with disabilities shall be 

provided on the premises in accordance with the drawings hereby 
approved and shall be maintained throughout the life of the building 
and be readily available for use by disabled occupiers and visitors 
without charge to the individual end users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision of suitable parking for people with 
disabilities in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM16.5. 

 
41 Provision shall be made for disabled people to obtain access to the 

offices and to each retail unit via their respective principal entrances 
without the need to negotiate steps and shall be maintained for the life 
of the building.  

 REASON: To ensure that disabled people are able to use the building 
in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: DM10.8. 

 
42 The pass door shown adjacent to or near to the entrances on the 

drawings hereby approved shall remain unlocked and available for use 
at all times when the adjacent revolving doors are unlocked.  

Page 161



 

 REASON: In order to ensure that people with mobility disabilities are 
not discriminated against and to comply with the following policy of the 
Local Plan: DM10.8. 

 
44 Permanently installed pedal cycle racks shall be provided and 

maintained on the site throughout the life of the building sufficient to 
accommodate a minimum of 2320 pedal cycles, details  of which 
(including of location and types of cycles) to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority before any works 
thereby affected are begun. The cycle parking provided on the site 
must remain ancillary to the use of the building and must be available 
at all times throughout the life of the building for the sole use of the 
occupiers thereof and their visitors without charge to the individual end 
users of the parking.  

 REASON: To ensure provision is made for cycle parking and that the 
cycle parking remains ancillary to the use of the building and to assist 
in reducing demand for public cycle parking in accordance with the 
following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.3. 

 
45 Unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority, 

changing facilities and showers shall be provided in accordance with 
the drawings hereby approved and maintained throughout the life of the 
building for the use of occupiers of the building.  

 REASON: To make travel by bicycle more convenient in order to 
encourage greater use of bicycles by commuters in accordance with 
the following policy of the Local Plan: DM16.4. 

 
46 No structures or plant which exceeds 309m AOD shall be erected on 

the site either permanently or during the period of construction without 
the prior written authority of the Local Planning Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that the appearance of the building is satisfactory 
and to ensure that the proposal is acceptable in relation to aircraft 
safety in accordance with the following policies of the Local Plan: CS14 

 
47 The generator(s) shall be used solely on brief intermittent and 

exceptional occasions when required in response to a life threatening 
emergency or an event requiring business continuity and for the testing 
necessary to meet those purposes and shall not be used at any other 
time. At all times the generator(s) shall be operated to minimise its 
noise impacts and emissions of air pollutants and a log of its use shall 
be maintained and be available for inspection by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 REASON: To ensure that the generator(s), which does not meet City of 
London noise standards, and would have a negative impact on local air 
quality, is used only in response to a life threatening emergency or 
exceptional business continuity situation in accordance with the 
following policies of the Local Plan: DM15.6, DM15.7, DM21.3.  

   
  
 

Page 162



 

48 Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority all 
combustion flues must terminate at least 1m above the highest roof in 
the development in order to ensure maximum dispersion of pollutants. 

 REASON: In order to ensure that the proposed development does not 
have a detrimental impact on occupiers of residential premises in the 
area and in accordance with the following policy of the Local Plan: 
DM15.6 and to maintain local air quality and ensure that exhaust does 
not contribute to local air pollution, particularly nitrogen dioxide and 
particulates PM10, in accordance with the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2015 and the Local Plan DM15.6. 

 
49 The development shall not be carried out other than in accordance with 

the following approved drawings and particulars or as approved under 
conditions of this planning permission: 1348-PL-A-001 Rev P07; 020; 
021; 022; 023; 025 Rev P02; 026 Rev P05; 027-01 Rev P05; 027-02 
Rev P03; 030 Rev P02; 096 Rev P03; 098 Rev P02; 100 Rev P05; 101 
Rev P05; 101M P04; 102 Rev P03; 103 Rev P03; 107 Rev P01; 108; 
125 Rev P01; 126; 141 Rev P01; 142; 144; 148; 150; 152; 158; 159; 
161; 162 Rev P03; 200-01 Rev P03; 201-01 Rev P03; 202-01 Rev P03; 
203-01 Rev P03; 204-01 Rev P03; 205-01 Rev P02; 206 Rev P03; 207 
Rev P02; 208 Rev P04; 209 Rev P03; 250 Rev P01; 251 Rev P01; 252 
Rev P01; 254; 255; 257 Rev P02; 258 Rev P01; 259 Rev P02; 260 Rev 
P02; 300; 301; 302; 303; 304; 305; 306 Responses to City of London 
Access Team's Comments 15/00764/FULEIA.  

 REASON: To ensure that the development of this site is in compliance 
with details and particulars which have been approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
 

INFORMATIVES 
 
 
 1 In dealing with this application the City has implemented the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework to work with 
the applicant in a positive and proactive manner based on seeking 
solutions to problems arising in dealing with planning applications in the 
following ways:  

   
 detailed advice in the form of statutory policies in the Core Strategy/ 

Unitary Development Plan, Supplementary Planning documents, and 
other written guidance has been made available;  

   
 a full pre application advice service has been offered;  
   
 where appropriate the City has been available to provide guidance on 

how outstanding planning concerns may be addressed. 
 
 2 The Mayoral Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of £50 per 

sq.m on "chargeable development" and applies to all development over 
100sq.m (GIA) or which creates a new dwelling.  

Page 163



 

   
 The City of London Community Infrastructure Levy is set at a rate of 

£75 per sq.m for offices, £150 per sq.m for Riverside Residential, £95 
per sq.m for Rest of City Residential and £75 on all other uses on 
"chargeable development".   

   
 The Mayoral and City CIL charges will be recorded in the Register of 

Local Land Charges as a legal charge upon "chargeable development" 
when development commences. The Mayoral CIL payment will be 
passed to Transport for London to support Crossrail. The City CIL will 
be used to meet the infrastructure needs of the City.   

   
 Relevant persons, persons liable to pay and owners of the land will be 

sent a "Liability Notice" that will provide full details of the charges and 
to whom they have been charged or apportioned. Please submit to the 
City's Planning Obligations Officer an "Assumption of Liability" Notice 
(available from the Planning Portal website: 
www.planningportal.gov.uk/cil).   

   
 Prior to commencement of a "chargeable development" the developer 

is required to submit a "Notice of Commencement" to the City's 
Section106 Planning Obligations Officer. This Notice is available on the 
Planning Portal website. Failure to provide such information on the due 
date may incur both surcharges and penalty interest. 

 
 3 This permission must in no way be deemed to prejudice any rights of 

light which may be enjoyed by the adjoining owners or occupiers under 
Common Law. 

 
 4 This permission is granted having regard to planning considerations 

only and is without prejudice to the position of the City of London 
Corporation as freeholder of part of the site; works must not be 
commenced on that part until the consent of the City of London 
Corporation as freeholder has been obtained as ground landlords; and 
the work must not be instituted until the consent of the City of London 
Corporation as freeholders has been obtained. 

 
 5 This permission is granted having regard to planning considerations 

only and is without prejudice to the position of the City of London 
Corporation or Transport for London as Highway Authority; and any 
temporary or permanent works affecting the public highway must not 
be commenced until the consent of the Highway Authority has been 
obtained. 

 
 6 Improvement or other works to the public highway shown on the 

submitted drawings require separate approval from the local highway 
authority and the planning permission hereby granted does not 
authorise these works.  

   
   

Page 164



 

 
 7 The correct street number or number and name must be displayed 

prominently on the premises in accordance with regulations made 
under Section 12 of the London Building Acts (Amendment) Act 1939.  
Names and numbers must be agreed with the Department of the Built 
Environment prior to their use including use for marketing. 

 
 8 The Department of the Built Environment (Transportation & Public 

Realm Division) must be consulted on the following matters which 
require specific approval:  

   
 (a) Hoardings, scaffolding and their respective licences, temporary road 

closures and any other activity on the public highway in connection with 
the proposed building works.  In this regard the City of London 
Corporation operates the Considerate Contractors Scheme.  

   
 (b) The incorporation of street lighting and/or walkway lighting into the 

new development.  Section 53 of the City of London (Various Powers) 
Act 1900 allows the City to affix to the exterior of any building fronting 
any street within the City brackets, wires, pipes and apparatus as may 
be necessary or convenient for the public lighting of streets within the 
City. Early discussion with the Department of the Built Environment 
Transportation and Public Realm Division is recommended to ensure 
the design of the building provides for the inclusion of street lighting. 

   
 (c) The need for a projection licence for works involving the 

construction of any retaining wall, foundation, footing, balcony, cornice, 
canopy, string course, plinth, window sill, rainwater pipe, oil fuel inlet 
pipe or box, carriageway entrance, or any other projection beneath, 
over or into any public way (including any cleaning equipment 
overhanging any public footway or carriageway).   

 You are advised that highway projection licences do not authorise the 
licensee to trespass on someone else's land. In the case of projections 
extending above, into or below land not owned by the developer 
permission will also be required from the land owner. The City Surveyor 
must be consulted if the City of London Corporation is the land owner. 
Please contact the Corporate Property Officer, City Surveyor's 
Department.  

   
 (d) Permanent Highway Stopping-Up Orders and dedication of land for 

highway purposes.  
   
 (e) Connections to the local sewerage and surface water system.  
   
 (f) Carriageway crossovers. 
 
 9 The Markets and Consumer Protection Department (Environmental 

Health Team) must be consulted on the following matters:  
    

Page 165



 

 (a) Approval for the installation of furnaces to buildings and the height 
of any chimneys.  If the requirements under the legislation require any 
structures in excess of those shown on drawings for which planning 
permission has already been granted, further planning approval will 
also be required.   

    
 (b) Installation of engine generators using fuel oil.  
    
 (c) The control of noise and other potential nuisances arising from the 

demolition and construction works on this site and compliance with the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2007; the 
Environmental Health Team should be informed of the name and 
address of the project manager and/or main contractor as soon as they 
are appointed.    

    
 (d) Alterations to the drainage and sanitary arrangements.    
    
 (e) The requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 

and the other relevant statutory enactments (including the Offices, 
Shops and Railway Premises Act 1963); in particular:  

   
 - provision for window cleaning (internal and external) to be carried out 

safely.  
    
 (f) The use of premises for the storage, handling, preparation or sale of 

food.    
    
 (g) Use of the premises for public entertainment.    
    
 (h) Approvals relating to the storage and collection of wastes.    
    
 (i) Limitations which may be imposed on hours of work, noise and other 

environmental disturbance.  
    
 (j) The control of noise from plant and equipment;  
    
 (k) Methods of odour control. 
 
10 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection (Environmental 

Health Team) advises that:  
   
 Air Quality  
   
 (e)  
 Compliance with the Clean Air Act 1993  
   
 Any furnace burning liquid or gaseous matter at a rate of 366.4 

kilowatts or more, and any furnace burning pulverised fuel or any solid 
matter at a rate of more than 45.4 kilograms or more an hour, requires 
chimney height approval.  Use of such a furnace without chimney 

Page 166



 

height approval is an offence. The calculated chimney height can 
conflict with requirements of planning control and further mitigation 
measures may need to be taken to allow installation of the plant.  

   
 Boilers and CHP plant  
   
 (f)  
 The City is an Air Quality Management Area with high levels of nitrogen 

dioxide. All gas boilers should therefore meet a dry NOx emission rate 
of <40mg/kWh in accordance with the City of London Air Quality 
Strategy 2011.  

   
 (g)  
 All gas Combined Heat and Power plant should be low NOX 

technology as detailed in the City of London Guidance for controlling 
emissions from CHP plant and in accordance with the City of London 
Air Quality Strategy 2011.  

   
 (h)  
 When considering how to achieve, or work towards the achievement of, 

the renewable energy targets, the Markets and Consumer Protection 
Department would prefer developers not to consider installing a 
biomass burner as the City is an Air Quality Management Area for fine 
particles and nitrogen dioxide. Research indicates that the widespread 
use of these appliances has the potential to increase particulate levels 
in London to an unacceptable level. Until the Markets and Consumer 
Protection Department is satisfied that these appliances can be 
installed without causing a detriment to the local air quality they are 
discouraging their use. Biomass CHP may be acceptable providing 
sufficient abatement is fitted to the plant to reduce emissions to air.  

   
 (i)  
 Developers are encouraged to install non-combustion renewable 

technology to work towards energy security and carbon reduction 
targets in preference to combustion based technology.  

   
 Standby Generators  
   
 (j)  
 Advice on a range of measures to achieve the best environmental 

option on the control of pollution from standby generators can be 
obtained from the Department of Markets and Consumer Protection.
  

   
 (k)  
 There is a potential for standby generators to give out dark smoke on 

start up and to cause noise nuisance. Guidance is available from the 
Department of Markets and Consumer Protection on measures to avoid 
this.  

   

Page 167



 

 Cooling Towers  
   
 (l)  
 Wet cooling towers are recommended rather than dry systems due to 

the energy efficiency of wet systems.  
   
   
 (m)  
 The sewers in the City historically vent at low level in the road.  The 

area containing the site of the development has suffered smell 
problems from sewer smells entering buildings. A number of these 
ventilation grills have been blocked up by Thames Water Utilities. 
These have now reached a point where no further blocking up can be 
carried out.  It is therefore paramount that no low level ventilation 
intakes or entrances are adjacent to these vents.  The Director of 
Markets and Consumer Protection strongly recommends that a sewer 
vent pipe be installed in the building terminating at a safe outlet at roof 
level atmosphere. This would benefit the development and the 
surrounding areas by providing any venting of the sewers at high level 
away from air intakes and building entrances, thus allowing possible 
closing off of low level ventilation grills in any problem areas.  

   
 Food Hygiene and Safety  
   
 (n)  
 Further information should be provided regarding the internal layout of 

the proposed food/catering units showing proposals for staff/customer 
toilet facilities, ventilation arrangements and layout of kitchen areas.  

   
 (o)  
 If cooking is to be proposed within the food/catering units a satisfactory 

system of ventilation will be required. This must satisfy the following 
conditions:  

   
 Adequate access to ventilation fans, equipment and ductwork should 

be provided to permit routine cleaning and maintenance;  
   
 The flue should terminate at roof level in a location which will not give 

rise to nuisance to other occupiers of the building or adjacent buildings. 
It cannot be assumed that ductwork will be permitted on the exterior of 
the building;  

   
 Additional methods of odour control may also be required. These must 

be submitted to the Markets and Consumer Protection Department for 
comment prior to installation;  

   
 Ventilation systems for extracting and dispersing any emissions and 

cooking smells to the external air must be discharged at roof level and 
designed, installed, operated and maintained in accordance with 

Page 168



 

manufacturer's specification in order to prevent such smells and 
emissions adversely affecting neighbours. 

 
11 Thames Water advises as follows:  
   
 Waste Comments  
 Thames Water requests that the Applicant should incorporate within 

their proposal, protection to the property by installing for example, a 
non-return valve or other suitable device to avoid the risk of backflow at 
a later date, on the assumption that the sewerage network may 
surcharge to ground level during storm conditions.   

   
 There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. In 

order to protect public sewers and to ensure that Thames Water can 
gain access to those sewers for future repair and maintenance, 
approval should be sought from Thames Water where the erection of a 
building or an extension to a building or underpinning work would be 
over the line of, or would come within 3 metres of, a public sewer.  
Thames Water will usually refuse such approval in respect of the 
construction of new buildings, but approval may be granted in some 
cases for extensions to existing buildings. The applicant is advised to 
contact Thames Water Developer Services on 0800 009 3921 to 
discuss the options available at this site.  

   
 A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames Water will be 

required for discharging groundwater into a public sewer. Any 
discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and may result in 
prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. We 
would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures he will 
undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into the public sewer.  
Permit enquiries should be directed to Thames Water's Risk 
Management Team by telephoning 02035779483 or by emailing 
wwqriskmanagement@thameswater.co.uk. Application forms should 
be completed on line via www.thameswater.co.uk/wastewaterquality."
  

   
 Thames Water recommends the installation of a properly maintained 

fat trap on all catering establishments. We further recommend, in line 
with best practice for the disposal of Fats, Oils and Grease, the 
collection of waste oil by a contractor, particularly to recycle for the 
production of bio diesel. Failure to implement these recommendations 
may result in this and other properties suffering blocked drains, sewage 
flooding and pollution to local watercourses.  

   
   
 Water Comments  
 Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure 

of 10m head (approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the 
point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes.  The developer should 

Page 169



 

take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed 
development. 

 
12 The Director of Markets and Consumer Protection states that any 

building proposal that will include catering facilities will be required to 
be constructed with adequate grease traps to the satisfaction of the 
Sewerage Undertaker, Thames Water Utilities Ltd, or their contractors. 

 
13 Where tree pits are to be dug for the new tree(s), there should be an 

archaeological 'watching brief' to monitor groundworks and record any 
archaeological evidence revealed before replanting and the tree pit(s) 
should be lined to indicate the excavated area. 

 
14 The grant of approval under the Town and Country Planning Acts does 

not overcome the need to also obtain any licences and consents which 
may be required by other legislation.  The following list is not 
exhaustive:  

   
 Fire precautions and certification:  
 London Fire Brigade, Fire Prevention Branch  
 5-6 City Forum  
 City Road  
 London EC1N 2NY  
   
 Public houses, wine bars, etc.  
   
 City of London Corporation  
 Trading Standards and Veterinary Service  
 PO Box 270  
 Guildhall  
 London EC2P 2EJ  
   
   
 (f) Inflammable materials (e.g., petroleum)  
   
 London Fire Brigade, Petroleum Department  
 5-6 City Forum  
 City Road  
 London EC1N 2NY  
   
 (h) Works affecting a GLA road:  
   
 Borough Integration and Partnerships  
 Transport for London  
 Windsor House  
 42-50 Victoria Street  
 London, SW1H 0TL  
   
 Works ks affecting water supplies, land drainage and flood defences:

  

Page 170



 

   
 Environment Agency,   
 North London Planning Liaison Team  
 9th floor, Eastbury House  
 30-34 Albert Embankment  
 London, SE1 7TL 
 
15 Many species are protected under legislation such as the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2010. A contravention of those statutory 
provisions may constitute a criminal offence. The grant of this 
consent/planning permission does not override any statutory 
requirement to notify Natural England and/or obtain a licence prior to 
carrying out activities which may harm or disturb protected species 
such as bats. 

 
16 The Directorate of the Built Environment (District Surveyor) should be 

consulted on means of escape and constructional details under the 
Building Regulations and London Building Acts. 

 
17 You are advised that unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority, the archaeological post excavation work, 
publication and archiving must be carried out in accordance with the 
proposals and programme e-mail dated 17/09/2015 DP9. 

 
18 Where groundworks not shown on the approved drawings are to take 

place below the level of the existing structure (including works for 
underpinning, new lift pits, foundations, lowering of floor levels, new or 
replacement drainage, provision of services or similar) prior notification 
should be given in writing to the Department of the Built Environment in 
order to determine whether further consents are required and if the 
proposed works have archaeological implications. 

 

Page 171



 
 
  
 
 
Our ref: 15/2403 
Your ref: 15/00764/FULEIA 
 
Sonia Williams 
 
Via email only 
sonia.williams@cityoflondon.gov.uk  
 

4th November 2015 
 
Dear Sonia, 
 

Land at 22-24 Bishopsgate, 28 Bishopsgate (Crosby Court) and 4 Crosby Square 
 
This letter follows receipt of updated cycle parking proposals and supporting information during October, and in 
response to a request on 3rd November from the applicant in regard to outstanding matters.  They are addressed 
in the order set out by the applicant, for ease of reference. 
 
Public Realm & Pedestrian Comfort Level 
 
Revised Pedestrian Comfort Level data analysis 
 
Reference was made in TfL’s letter of 20th October to the significant disparity in baseline pedestrian movement 
levels on Bishopsgate, with the data provided within the neighbouring site (6-8 Bishopsgate) application 
submission being some 85% higher than those set out within the Space Syntax Pedestrian Study (PS) 
accompanying this application.  The revised PS has responded by substituting the higher figure and accordingly 
adjusting the PCL analysis at that point.  It should be noted that this approach does not address the underlying 
concerns as to the accuracy or robustness of the exercise as a whole, as though the pedestrian movement levels 
on the eastern side of Bishopsgate south of the site have been increased by 85%, the levels on the site’s 
Bishopsgate frontage remain unaltered, and thus are less reliable to represent the actual baseline movement 
level, and by extension the resultant PCL following the completion of the development. 
 
The additional 1200 pedestrian movements now incorporated onto the 6-8 BG frontage section (D-East) on the 
weekday AM peak diagram on page 28 of the original and revised PS (rising from 2,400 to 3700 pedestrians per 
hour), are not reflected in the 22 Bishopsgate frontage section (B-East) a short distance northwards, where the 
number is forecast to rise only from 3,000 to 3,100.   
 
Movement levels from Undershaft and Great St Helens have also been modified, though the explanation for these 
changes is lacking, those these concerns are very much secondary to a potential significant underrepresentation 
of movement and comfort levels along the site’s Bishopsgate frontage. 
 
In conclusion, the validity of pedestrian comfort level exercise remains in some doubt.  If applying the growth in 
baseline levels from the 6-8 TA to the B-East section, a Pedestrian Comfort Level of C would arise, falling short of 
the minimum recommended TfL level.  However, despite this, and although the failure to undertake a comparative 
analysis of the implemented scheme and it’s impact on pedestrian movement with the current scheme is not 
understood, and the current proposals are considered to be likely to at best, represent only a minor relatively 
more harmful impact.   
 
Given the only limited potential worsening of impact, and the more generous public realm provided by the scheme 
as a whole (compared to the pre-existing situation, and the surrounding townscape), on balance, no objection is 
raised in regard to the impact of the development in this area.  It should however be noted that this conclusion 
has only been able to be arrived at through a removal of the significant tree planting that characterised the 
implemented permission. 
 
  

Transport for London  

Group Planning 

 

Windsor House 

42 – 50 Victoria Street 

London SW1H OTL 

 

Phone 020 7222 5600 

www.TfL.gov.uk 

 

Page 172

mailto:sonia.williams@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 
 
  
 
 
Proposed pedestrian crossing alterations / relocation on Bishopsgate & Threadneedle Street 
 
In this regard, further comments have now been provided by Road Space Management Colleagues, which will all 
require addressing prior to the final agreement of any detailed highways works: 
 

Stopping up 

I am pleased to see that the proposed façade design has been amended with the result that there is only a minor 
requirement for stopping up to take place. This is welcomed by TfL. The most recent stopping up plan (SK 51-F), 
suggests that there is a strip of land adjacent to the building (coloured green on the plans) that will be returned to 
become public highway (a reversal of the previous Pinnacle consent). Given its width, this will make maintenance of 
the footway easier to undertake and it is welcomed that this can be returned to TfL. 
 
Street lighting 

In the TfL pre-application response letter to the applicant’s consultants on 3rd July, reference was made to street 
lighting and it was noted at the time that the applicant was in discussions with TfL’s street lighting colleagues on this 
point. Given the building’s location adjacent to the junction of Threadneedle Street with Bishopsgate, street lighting 
arrangements will have a bearing on the light levels at the junction and this stretch of Bishopsgate more generally. 
Therefore, we would seek clarification on how you propose to provide street lighting in the vicinity of the building. 
 
Oversailing 

Although we have had discussions with Jonathan Smith of DP9 that there will be sufficient headroom between the 
finished footway level and the resultant oversail, it would be useful for a drawing to confirm that the headroom is 
indeed maintained along the whole façade of the building, taking into account the varying footway heights. Also, 
there should be consideration given to lighting levels under the oversail in order that the full width of the footway is 
used during hours of darkness and pedestrians do not consciously avoid the semi-enclosed area it creates. 
 
As the building oversails the public highway, and following our extensive discussions with the applicant regarding 
the need to maintain as much useable footway width as possible, I suggest it should be a requirement of the applicant 
to ensure that adequate drainage is provided to avoid run off from the façade onto the footway in certain locations 
which would reduce the useable width. This has been an issue elsewhere in London where overhanging parts of the 
building cause rainwater to fall over the public footway. 
 
Crossing works on Bishopsgate and Threadneedle Street 

As previously discussed, the amended crossing locations at both Threadneedle Street and immediately north of Great 
St. Helens are broadly welcomed by TfL. In the pre-application letter of 3rd July 2015 to the 22 Bishopsgate team, it 
was clear that “Subject to a safety audit of these proposals being carried out and acceptable traffic modelling being 
provided, these improvements are supported.”  We have reviewed appendix G of the original transport assessment 
where you report the results of the modelling, but cannot see any evidence that modelling has been undertaken on the 
proposals being put forward to move the crossing north of Great St. Helen’s further south (the second option under 
consideration). Our comments of July still stand and are not superseded by those within August’s letter. As such, 
please could you provide modelling for the option being put forward. Furthermore, with the central island on 
Threadneedle Street moving closer to the junction, it would be useful to ensure that movements into and out of 
Threadneedle Street can be tracked with larger vehicles (although I am sure this is possible). Additionally, with 
regards to paragraph 7.2.5 of your revised transport assessment, agreement to move the crossing is required from 
TfL, rather than the City of London, as this affects our highway. 
 
Section 278 

There has been reference in the past to s278 works and the specifications related to such, for example the materials 
chosen for the footway. As I have not seen further details in this regard, it should be stated that further discussion 
will be required on these aspects of the works at a later date. 

 
In regard to the modelling of impact of the now proposed pedestrian crossings, the application materials refer to 
this modelling having already been undertaken, so it is assumed that the applicant can now provide this to TfL 
and address that part of the above comments.  The annotation of drawn heights to clarify canopy clearance is a 
further matter that should be able to be easily addresses.  

Page 173



 
 
  
 
 
Cycle Parking / Facilities 
 
Cycle Parking numbers 
 
2132 long stay and 168 visitor cycle spaces (for owner use, not hire facilities/provision) are now proposed, 
comprising:  
 

- 1744 no. Double stacker spaces; 
- 10 no. Sheffield Stands; 
- 187 no. Standard cycle parking spaces; 
- 345 no. Brompton Cycle parking lockers 
- 9 no. Electric Bike parking spaces; 
- 3 no. Mobility parking spaces; and 
- 2 no. wheelchair spaces 

 
*It should be noted that TfL has previously provided an explanation of the correct interpretation of London Plan 
cycle standards, and that the above levels are assumed to represent an accurate reflection of the necessary 
minimum levels based upon the current GEAs proposed within the development.  The final floor areas, as well as 
the resultant Crossrail s106 sum will be reviewed at the point at which the committee report is published. 
 
Given the constraints of the site and basement re-use necessity, this range of space types is considered to be 
acceptable.  Elements such as the high level of Brompton / folding bike storage (being above the proportion of 
such types of cycle amongst total cycling levels in and around the City of London) , and use of lower levels of 
Josta type storage towards the ‘larger cycles’ demand are acceptable in this instance, given the aforementioned 
site & scheme characteristics. 
 
Details of this provision should be reserved by condition, and should include the detailed layout and design of 
storage areas, as well as confirmation of necessary complementary facilities, such as access arrangements to 
mobility spaces and electric bike charging points.  Details of the management and advertisement of visitor spaces 
should also be secured by condition / s106. 
 
Shower / Locker provision 
 
217 showers are proposed (1:10 ratio), and 1:1 locker levels will also be provided.  This is acceptable to TfL and 
should be conditioned, alongside cycle parking provision, to be provided prior to occupation of the relevant part / 
parts of the building. 
 
Trip Generation & Mode / split 
 
This matter has previously been agreed, through the provision of additional information within the September 
TAA. 
 
S106 Mitigation 
 
A contribution of £213,408 towards mitigating the impact of the proposed development upon the operation of the 
Mayor’s Cycle Hire Scheme was sought by TfL, agreed by the applicant, and has now been agreed by City of 
London officers to be incorporated within the committee report.  Prior advice from the City regarding the necessity 
of agreeing a Unilateral Undertaking is thus no longer applicable. 
 
A contribution towards Bus services impact has previously been confirmed to no longer be sought by TfL, and 
borough CIL receipts would be expected to be sought by TfL in order to accommodate increased demand for 
London Underground services / facilities.  
 
  

Page 174



 
 
  
 
 
Servicing 
 
In WSP’s letter of 29th October, they refer (in relation to delivery and servicing activity) to “a cap of the deliveries 
from the off-site logistics centre (that) will be no greater than 199 vehicle arrivals and 199 vehicle departures per 
day”.  TfL support the use of consolidation, and the incorporation of both the cap and the time profile set out 
within Appendix 2 of the revised Servicing Strategy. 
 
In regard to Construction Logistics, the same letter notes only that “The proposed construction and Logistics 
operation have been discussed and agreed with CoL”.  The revised Construction Management Plan has been 
forwarded to colleagues for comments, though it is noted that it is anticipated that off-site consolidation will exert 
a similarly laudable reduction in vehicle numbers to that if the servicing consolidation, with the typical 40 vehicle 
movements per day to be reduced by 50%.  The applicant confirms in the 29th October letter “that all vehicles 
travelling between the off-site logistics centre and the site will be at least FORS Silver accredited”.  This 
commitment is welcomed by TfL and should subsequently be incorporated into the final proposed Construction 
Management Plan, to be secured by s106. 
 
I trust that the above provides you with a better understanding of TfL’s updated position on the application. 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions or need clarification on any of the points raised. 
 
I should also note that I would welcome an al parties meeting to address the above points and any outstanding 
matters that you have raised with the applicant. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Richard McEllistrum 
Principal Borough Planner 
020 3054 8966 
richardmcellistrum@tfl.gov.uk 
 
cc:  
 
Phil de Jongh – WSP 
Jonathan Smith – DP9 
Anne Crane, James Marshall, Oliver Benford – TfL 
Graham Clements – GLA 
Lucy Cannell, Craig Stansfield – City of London 
 
 

Page 175

mailto:richardmcellistrum@tfl.gov.uk


Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



   

 

      Page 1 of 2 

Director of Culture & Environment  
Ed Watson 

 

Regeneration and Planning 
Development Management 
London Borough of Camden 
Town Hall  
Judd Street 
London  
WC1H 8ND 
 
Tel 020 7974 4444 
Textlink 020 7974 6866 
 
planning@camden.gov.uk 
www.camden.gov.uk/planning 

 
 

   

Sonia Williams 
City of London 
PO Box 270 
Guildhall 
London 
EC2P 2EJ 

Our Ref:   2015/5677/P 
 Your Ref:  

Please ask for: Raymond Yeung 
Telephone: 020 7974 4546 
 
15 October 2015 

 
Dear  Sir/Madam  
 

DECISION 
 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
 
Request for Observations to Adjoining Borough - No objection 
 
Address:  
22 Bishopsgate 
London 
EC2N   
 
Proposal: 
Request for observations from the City of London for revisions to scheme & environmental 
statement regarding the Construction of a building arranged on three basement floors, 
ground and 61 upper floors plus mezzanines and plant comprising floorspace for use within 
Classes A and B1 of the Use Classes Order and a publicly accessible viewing gallery and 
facilities (Sui Generis); hard and soft landscaping works; the provision of ancillary servicing 
and other works incidental to the development. (200,527sq.m GEA).    
 
Drawing Nos: Letter from Ted Rayment dated 7th October 2015. 
 
The Council, as a neighbouring planning authority, has considered your request for 
observations on the application referred to above and hereby raises no objection. 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 199



   

 Page 2 of 2 2015/5677/P 

Informative(s): 
 
1  The current iteration is a minor amendment to the fourth application of a scheme 

for the site, in which these observation forms a response to address the submitted 
revisions to the current application originally submitted in July 2015 .  
 
London Borough of Camden were consulted on the original proposal for the 
Bishopsgate Tower in August 2005; the second scheme in January 2006; and third 
scheme in January 2007 and most recently for a new building on this site in August 
2015 (ref: 2015/4530/P). On all occasions, no objections were raised by Camden. 
 
Following the latest revisions, the essential design of the new building in its height, 
bulk and massing is considered to remain materially unaltered. It is considered that 
the proposal would not cause any direct impact on views of St Paul's Cathedral 
from the three relevant London Borough of Camden viewpoints, namely Parliament 
Hill, Primrose Hill and Kenwood. Although the proposal will be highly prominent 
upon the London skyline from these views, it is in the context of an already 
established cluster of high buildings, and as such it is not considered to be 
inappropriate nor affect the borough in terms of further impact on these views. It is 
considered that there is sufficient distance between the site and Camden borough 
for there not to be any impacts in terms of transport, cultural heritage and flood risk. 
Thus no objection is raised. 
 
As such the proposal is in accordance with policies CS5, CS14 and CS15 of the 
London Borough of Camden Local Development Framework Core Strategy, and 
policies DP16, DP24, DP25 and DP26 of the London Borough of Camden Local 
Development Framework Development Policies. The proposed development also 
accords with policies 6.12, 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan March 2015 
consolidated with alterations since 2011; and paragraphs 14, 17 and 56-66 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Ed Watson 
Director of Culture & Environment 
 

 
 
 

Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226



Page 227



Page 228



Page 229



Page 230



Page 231



Page 232



Page 233



Page 234



Page 235



Page 236



Page 237



Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



Page 242



Page 243



Page 244



Page 245



Page 246



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



FF Lo bbySEdri

The GibsonHall

VENT
SHAFT
FROM

LEVEL B3

V
en

t 
to

 B
1-B

3
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
lo

bb
ie

s

6-8 Bishopsgate

BI
SH

O
PS

GA
TE

THREADNEEDLE STREET

GREAT ST HELEN'S

1 Great
St. Helen's

Post Room
Reception

Public Viewing Gallery &

Restaurant /Bar

Egress

Retail

The GibsonHall

VENT
SHAFT
FROM

LEVEL B3

V
en

t 
to

 B
1-B

3
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
lo

bb
ie

s

6-8 Bishopsgate

BI
SH

O
PS

GA
TE

THREADNEEDLE STREET

GREAT ST HELEN'S

1 Great
St. Helen's

Post Room
Reception

Public Viewing Gallery &

Restaurant /Bar

Egress

Retail

The GibsonHall

VENT
SHAFT
FROM

LEVEL B3

V
en

t 
to

 B
1-B

3
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
lo

bb
ie

s

6-8 Bishopsgate

BI
SH

O
PS

GA
TE

THREADNEEDLE STREET

GREAT ST HELEN'S

1 Great
St. Helen's

Post Room
Reception

Public Viewing Gallery &

Restaurant /Bar

Egress

Retail

The GibsonHall

VENT
SHAFT
FROM

LEVEL B3

V
en

t 
to

 B
1-B

3
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
lo

bb
ie

s

6-8 Bishopsgate

BI
SH

O
PS

GA
TE

THREADNEEDLE STREET

GREAT ST HELEN'S

1 Great
St. Helen's

A

B

The GibsonHall

VENT
SHAFT
FROM

LEVEL B3

V
en

t 
to

 B
1-B

3
fir

e 
fig

ht
in

g 
lo

bb
ie

s

6-8 Bishopsgate

BI
SH

O
PS

GA
TE

THREADNEEDLE STREET

GREAT ST HELEN'S

1 Great
St. Helen's

WSP Group LtdcPage 263



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 264



 

 

committee: 

Planning and Transportation 

date: 

17 November 2015 

subject: 

Paternoster Square:  declaration of city walkway 

public 

report of: 

Director of the Built Environment 

for decision 

Summary 

The replacement city walkway through Paternoster Square is now ready to be 
declared to be city walkway and it is proposed that this declaration be made without 
limitations, as your Committee originally resolved on 22 July 2008. 

Recommendation 

Your Committee is asked:— 

1. To resolve to declare to be a city walkway all that way or place including 
Paternoster Square, Paternoster Lane, Paternoster Row, Canon Alley, 
Queen’s Head Passage, Rose Street and White Hart Street shown hatched 
black on city walkway declaration plan CWDP - 01 - 08 dated 11 June 2008 
and annexed as Appendix 2 to this report. 

2. To authorise the Town Clerk to insert an appropriate date for the coming into 
force of this resolution. 

Main Report 

Background 

1. A network of public highways existed to the north of Saint Paul’s Cathedral from 
the Saxon resettlement of the City until the early 1960s, when the area was 
comprehensively redeveloped.  In replacement for these ancient streets and 
footpaths, which were built upon, the Paternoster Row development that was 
completed in 1967 had a network of ground-level and high-level city walkways 
declared through it. 

2. The Paternoster Row development was demolished in the early 2000s and a 
replacement development incorporating a pedestrian square and ground-level 
pedestrian passages was completed in 2003.  This estate is known as 
Paternoster Square.  It consists of Paternoster Square, Paternoster Lane, 
Paternoster Row, Canon Alley, Queen’s Head Passage, Rose Street and White 
Hart Street and the adjoining buildings. 

3. Conditions 9 and 10 of the planning permission for the Paternoster Square 
development require that replacement city walkways be constructed within the 
redevelopment. 

Page 265

Agenda Item 8



 

 

4. On 22 July 2008 your Committee resolved that the square and lanes and alleys 
through the area, as shown on the plan appended to this report, be declared to 
be a city walkway. 

5. On 17 July 2014 your Committee further resolved that the city walkway be 
declared subject to limitations enabling the public right of way and of access to 
be temporarily suspended to the extent and for the minimum period that is 
required for any or all of the following purposes:— 

(a) In the interests of public safety or security, where the need is first 
confirmed by a chief officer of the City of London Corporation or by an 
officer of the City of London Police holding at least the rank of 
superintendent;  other than in cases of imminent threat, where such 
confirmation must be obtained within six hours of the suspension coming 
into force (or the suspension must cease). 

(b) To permit works of maintenance, repair or renewal of the city walkway 
subject to prior approval from the City of London Corporation, which must 
be requested not less than 28 days prior to the proposed date of 
suspension;  save in the case of emergency or de minimis works requiring 
less than 4 hours’ suspension of access, which works must be notified to 
the City within 48 hours of such suspension coming into force. 

(c) Force majeure. 

Current Position 

6. In discussing implementation with the City of London Police both the police and 
officers have now concluded that the limitations on the declaration of the city 
walkway that your Committee were asked to agree are in fact unnecessary as 
the police already have sufficient powers to maintain public safety or security, 
and that the most appropriate city walkway declaration is a standard (non-
limited) declaration—as your Committee originally resolved.  Clearly these 
detailed discussions should have taken place much earlier and I therefore 
apologise for having to bring this matter before your Committee again.  
However, the City of London Police and officers consider the change to a 
standard (non-limited) declaration to be important. 

Proposal 

7. It is therefore proposed that a replacement city walkway be declared through 
the Paternoster Square Estate without limitations. 

8. It is proposed that the Town Clerk bring the resolution into effect in December 
2015. 

Corporate and Strategic Implications 

9. Declaration of Paternoster Square as a city walkway would secure the public 
rights of way and of access through the Paternoster Square Estate, which 

Page 266



 

 

would in turn serve to assist in delivering the Department of the Built 
Environment’s Transportation and Public Realm objectives to:— 

2. Enhance the City streets and spaces to meet the needs of the business 
City and reinforce a sense of place and local distinctiveness 

3. Adapt the City streets in anticipation of the increase in cycling and walking 
projected for an ever densely developed City. 

Implications 

10. Declaration as a city walkway would have a small financial cost as notice of the 
passing of a resolution declaring a city walkway describing the extent of the city 
walkway must be published in a newspaper circulating within the City.  The City 
Corporation uses the London EveningStandard for this purpose.  This cost can 
be met from the Director of the Built Environment’s local risk. 

11. Once the city walkway has been declared the City Corporation is responsible 
for paving, repairing, draining, cleansing and lighting it and is liable for non-
repair of its surface.  However, on 30 June 2008 the Paternoster Square estate 
management company, Paternoster Square Management Limited, entered into 
an agreement with the City Corporation to carry out maintenance, repairs, re-
paving, re-grouting, cleansing, lighting, drainage, provision of street furniture 
and the monitoring of compliance with any relevant byelaws and conditions of 
tables and chairs licences, and to carry these services out as a minimum to the 
City’s specification for the maintenance of city walkways as shall prevail from 
time to time.  Either party may terminate the agreement by service of three 
months’ written notice on the other party. 

Conclusion 

12. The replacement city walkway through Paternoster Square is now ready to be 
declared to be a city walkway and it is proposed that this declaration be made 
without limitations, as your Committee originally resolved on 22 July 2008. 

Appendices 

Appendix 1:  full text of proposed resolution to declare to be a city walkway 

Appendix 2:  city walkway declaration plan CWDP - 01 – 08 dated 11 June 2008 

Background Papers: 

1. Report to the Planning and Transportation Committee dated 3 June 2008 
entitled ―Discontinuation of city walkways at Paternoster Square‖ 

2. Report to the Planning and Transportation Committee dated 22 July 2008 
entitled ―Declaration of City Walkway—Paternoster Square‖ 

Page 267



 

 

3. Report to the Planning and Transportation Committee dated 17 July 2014 
entitled ―Paternoster Square city walkway/public access‖ 

Page 268



 

RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING AND TRANSPORTATION COMMITTEE 

(under powers delegated to them by the Court of Common Council on 19 July 2001) 

DATED the [to be inserted] day of [to be inserted] 

WHEREAS the Mayor and Commonalty and Citizens of the City of London acting by 
the Planning and Transportation Committee pursuant to the delegation to that 
Committee specified above (hereinafter called “the City”) are authorised by Section 6 
of the City of London (Various Powers) Act 1967 (hereinafter called “the Act”) BY 
RESOLUTION TO DECLARE any way or place in the City of London appearing to 
the City: 

(i) to be laid out or otherwise suitable for a city walkway within the meaning of 
Section 5 of the Act, 

(ii) to which access is available directly from a street or another way or place which 
is a city walkway, and 

(iii) which is laid out or rendered suitable for a city walkway in accordance with one 
of the provisions specified in subsection (1) of the said Section 6 

TO BE A CITY WALKWAY as from such date as may be specified in such 
resolution 

AND WHEREAS it appears to the City that: 

(i) the way or place specified in the Schedule hereto is laid out or otherwise 
suitable for a city walkway within the meaning of the said Section 5; and 

(ii) access to such way or place is available directly from a street or another way or 
place which is city walkway; and 

(iii) the way or place is laid out or rendered suitable for a city walkway in 
accordance with subsection (1)(c) of the said Section 6 

NOW THEREFORE the City in pursuance of Section 6(1) of the Act by resolution 
HEREBY DECLARE the way or place described in the Schedule hereto on and after 
the [to be inserted] day of [to be inserted] to be a city walkway. 

THE SCHEDULE 

ALL THAT way or place including Paternoster Square, Paternoster Lane, 
Paternoster Row, Canon Alley, Queen’s Head Passage, Rose Street and White Hart 
Street in the City of London, all of which are shown hatched black on the city 
walkway declaration plan numbered CWDP - 01 - 08 attached hereto. 

dated the [to be inserted] day of [to be inserted] 

THE COMMON SEAL OF THE MAYOR 
AND COMMONALTY AND CITIZENS 
OF THE CITY OF LONDON 

Page 269



 

was hereunto affixed in the presence of: 

Authorised Officer 
Guildhall, London, EC2P 2EJ 

Page 270



 

P
age 271



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 272



 

 Committees: Dates: 

Finance Committee  
Planning & Transportation Committee 
Streets and Walkways Sub-Committee 
Court of Common Council 
 

17 November 2015 
17 November 2015 
30 November 2015 
14 January 2016 

Subject:  
Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2014/15 and Utilisation of 
Accrued Surplus on Highway Improvements and Schemes 
 

For Information 

Report of : 
The Chamberlain 
 

Public  

 
Summary 

The City of London in common with other London authorities is required to report 
to the Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in its 
On-Street Parking Account for a particular financial year. 
 
The purpose of this report is to inform Members that: 

 the surplus arising from on-street parking activities in 2014/15 was 
£5.786m; 
 

 a total of £6.452m, was applied in 2014/15 to fund approved projects; and 
 

 the surplus remaining on the On-Street Parking Reserve at 31st March 
2015 was £14.987m, which will be wholly allocated towards the funding of 
various highway improvements and other projects over the medium term. 

 
Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that Members note the contents of this report for their 
information before submission to the Mayor for London. 
 

Main Report 

Background 

1. Section 55(3A) of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (as amended), 
requires the City of London in common with other London authorities (i.e. 
other London Borough Councils and Transport for London), to report to the 
Mayor for London on action taken in respect of any deficit or surplus in their 
On-Street Parking Account for a particular financial year. 

2. Legislation provides that any surplus not applied in the financial year may 
be carried forward. If it is not to be carried forward, it may be applied by the 
City for one or more of the following purposes:  

a) making good to the City Fund any deficit charged to that Fund in the 4 
years immediately preceding the financial year in question; 

b) meeting all or any part of the cost of the provision and maintenance by 
the City of off-street parking accommodation whether in the open or 
under cover; 

Page 273

Agenda Item 9



 

c) the making to other local authorities, or to other persons, of 
contributions towards the cost of the provision and maintenance by 
them, in the area of the local authority or elsewhere, of off-street parking 
accommodation whether in the open or under cover; 

d) if it appears to the City that the provision in the City of further off-street 
parking accommodation is for the time being unnecessary or 
undesirable, for the following purposes, namely:  

 meeting costs incurred, whether by the City or by some other 
person, in the provision or operation of, or of facilities for, public 
passenger transport services; 

 the purposes of a highway or road improvement project in the City; 

 meeting the costs incurred by the City in respect of the maintenance 
of roads at the public expense; and 

 for an “environmental improvement” in the City. 

e) meeting all or any part of the cost of the doing by the City in its area of 
anything which facilitates the implementation of the Mayor‟s Transport 
Strategy, being specified in that strategy as a purpose for which a 
surplus can be applied; and 

f) making contributions to other authorities, i.e. the other London Borough 
Councils and Transport for London, towards the cost of their doing 
things upon which the City in its area could incur expenditure upon 
under (a)-(e) above. 

2014/15 Outturn 

3. The overall financial position for the On-Street Parking Reserve in 2014/15 
is summarised below: 

 £m 

Surplus Balance brought forward at 1st April 2014 (15.653) 

Surplus arising during 2014/15 (5.786) 

Expenditure financed during the year 6.452 

Funds remaining at 31st March 2015, wholly allocated towards the funding  
of future projects 

(14.987) 

      
4. Total expenditure of £6.452m in 2014/15 was financed from the On-Street 

Parking Reserve, covering the following approved projects: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 274



 

Revenue/SRP Expenditure : £000 

Highway Resurfacing and Maintenance 1,992 

 

 

Concessionary Fares and Taxi Card Scheme 503 
Barbican Area Strategy 58 
Crossrail Moorgate Urban Integration 53 
Special Needs Transport 24 
Parking Enforcement Plan 19 
Planting Maintenance 9 
New Roads and Highway Improvement  9 
Milton Court Highway Works 7 
Off Street Parking Contribution 4 
Cheapside Area Strategy and Stage 4A 1 
Shoe Lane Phase 3 Wine Office Court 1 

Total Revenue Expenditure 2,680 

Capital Expenditure : 

 

 
  
Beech Gardens/Barbican Podium Waterproofing 2,904 
Barbican Area Strategy - Silk Street 528 
Farringdon Street Bridge 266 
Milton Court Highway Works 110 
St Giles Terrace & Ben Jonson Highwalk 40 
Queen Street Pilot Project 24 
Shoe Lane Phase 3 Wine Office Court 1 
Holborn Circus Area Enhancement (101) 

Total Capital Expenditure 3,772 

  

Total Expenditure Funded in 2013/14 6,452 

 

5. The surplus on the On-Street Parking Reserve brought forward from 
2013/14 was £15.653m. After expenditure of £6.452m funded in 2014/15, a 
deficit balance of £666k was carried forward to future years to give a 
closing balance at 31st March 2015 of £14.987m.  

6. Currently total expenditure of some £33.591m is planned over the medium 
term up to 31st March 2019, by which time it is anticipated that the existing 
surplus plus those estimated for future years will be fully utilised. This total 
includes expenditures of £10.704m, £10.965m, £7.042m and £4.880m 
planned from 2015/16 until 2018/19 respectively, which are anticipated to 
reduce significantly the surpluses arising in those years.  

7. The total programme covers a number of major capital schemes including 
funding towards the Barbican Podium Waterproofing, Street Lighting 
Strategy, repairs to Snow Hill Bridge and Holborn Viaduct, Barbican Area 
Strategy, Minories car park structural monitoring/work, „Ring of Steel‟ traffic 
monitoring infrastructure, and various street scene projects as well as 
ongoing funding of revenue projects including highway resurfacing and road 
maintenance projects, concessionary fares and taxicards and contributions 
to the costs of Off-Street car parks. The progression of each individual 
scheme is, of course, subject to the City‟s normal evaluation criteria and 
Standing Orders. 

Page 275



 

8. A forecast summary of income and expenditure arising on the On-Street 
Parking Account and the corresponding contribution from or to the On 
Street Parking Surplus, over the medium term financial planning period, is 
shown below: 

On-Street Parking Account 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 Total 

Reserve Projections 2014/15 to 2018/19 Actual Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast  
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Income (8.5) (7.4) (7.6) (7.7) (7.9) (39.1) 
Expenditure (Note 1) 2.7 2.9 3.0 3.0 3.1 14.7 

Net Surplus arising in year (5.8) (4.5) (4.6) (4.7) (4.8) (24.4) 
       
Capital, SRP and Revenue Commitments 6.5 10.7 11.0 7.0 4.9 40.1 

Net in year contribution from/(to) the surplus 0.7 6.2 6.4 2.3 0.1 15.7 

       
Deficit/(Surplus) carried forward at 1

st
 April (15.7) (15.0) (8.8) (2.4) (0.1)  

       

Deficit/(Surplus) carried forward at 31
st
 March (15.0) (8.8) (2.4) (0.1) 0  

 
Note 1:  On-Street operating expenditure relates to direct staffing costs, repair & maintenance of 

meters, VINCI contractor costs, fees & services (covering cash collection, pay by phone, 
postage & legal), IT software costs for enforcement systems, provision for bad debts for on-
street income and central support recharges. 

 

9. There is now a combined service for „Civil Parking & Traffic Enforcement, 
including the Cash Collection Contract‟ which has resulted in on-going 
savings to the operating costs of the On-Street Parking Account.  

Conclusion 

10. So that we can meet our requirements under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984 (as amended), we ask that the Court of Common Council notes 
the contents of this report, which would then be submitted to the Mayor of 
London. 

Consultees 

11. The Comptroller & City Solicitor has been consulted in the preparation of 
this report and his comments have been included. 

Background Papers 

- Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984; Road Traffic Act 1991; GLA Act 1999 
sect 282. 

- Final Accounts 2014/15 

Simon Owen 
Group Accountant 
Financial Services – Environment & Markets 
Tel: 0207 332 1358 
Email: simon.owen@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
           
        

Page 276



Document is Restricted

Page 277

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Town Planning and Development Applications
	5 Valid applications list for committee
	6 Sugar Quay, Lower Thames Street London EC3R 6EA
	Appendix 1  Appeal Decision

	7a BT Payphones, Outside 4 St Paul's Churchyard London<br/>EC4M 8AY
	15-00190-FULL
	00206B812824151104120930

	7b Pay Phone Boxes 4 St Paul's Churchyard London EC4M 8AY
	7c 22 Bishopsgate London EC2N
	15-00764-FULEIA report final
	background papers_Redacted
	SK-51-F

	8 Paternoster Square:  declaration of city walkway
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	9 Annual On-Street Parking Accounts 2014/15 and Utilisation of Accrued Surplus on Highway Improvements and Schemes
	13 Non-public minutes



